

The Role of Tumour Necrosis Factor-α in Coronary Artery Disease

Alicia Staley

School of Science, Environment, and Engineering

Supervisors: Dr David Greensmith & Dr Sarah Withers

Master's by Research Thesis

2024

Contents

Table of Figures	iv
Table of Tables	vi
Acknowledgements	vii
List of Abbreviations	viii
Abstract	xii
1. Introduction	1
1.1 CAD	1
1.1.1 Incidence and epidemiology	1
1.1.2 Aetiology and risk factors	4
1.1.3 Pathology	9
1.1.4 Clinical presentation and diagnosis of CAD	20
1.1.5 Echocardiological diagnosis and treatment of CAD	21
1.1.6 Pathological mediators of CAD	24
1.2 TNFα	27
1.2.1 What is TNFα?	27
1.2.2 Role of TNFα in CAD	30
1.3 ROS	33
1.3.1 Cellular sources of Reactive Oxygen Species	34
1.3.2 Oxidative Stress	36
1.3.3 The role of ROS in CAD	37
1.4 Aims and Objectives	41
2. Methods	42
2.1 Study Design	42
2.1.1 Ethical considerations	42
2.1.2 Patient recruitment	42
2.2 Sample preparation	43
2.3 Quantification of TNF α levels using ELISA	43

2.3.1 Standard curve generation	43
2.3.2 Experimental protocol	44
2.3.3 Quantification of TNFα levels	45
2.4 Cell culture (H9C2 rat cardiac myoblast cell line)	46
2.4.1 Dissociation of H9C2 cell line	46
2.4.2 Cell counting	46
2.5 Measurement of cellular ROS	47
2.6 Statistical analysis	48
3. Results	49
3.1 Quantification of plasma levels of TNF α	49
3.2 Patient clinical parameters	49
3.3 Correlation of plasma TNF α levels with indicators of systolic	c function51
3.4 Correlation of plasma TNF α levels with indicators of diastol	ic function 53
3.5 The effects of TNF α on cellular oxidative stress	55
3.5.1 Validation of fluorometric oxidative stress experiment .	55
3.5.2 The effects of TNF α on oxidative stress	56
3.5.3 The effects of TNF α on oxidative stress in cells with elevels of OS	vated baseline 58
4. Discussion	61
4.1 What are the cytokine concentrations in CAD?	61
4.2 Does plasma TNF α concentration correlate with cardiac fur	nction?63
4.2.1 Historical context	63
4.2.2 Does TNFα correlate with diastolic dysfunction?	65
4.2.3 Does TNFα correlate with Systolic function?	69
4.3 Validation of methodology for the measurement of intrace stress	llular oxidative 71
4.4 Does TNFα induce oxidative stress?	71
4.5 Does time alone induce oxidative stress in vitro?	76
4.6 The effect of therapeutics on CAD pathophysiology	77
4.7 Clinical Implications	80

4.8 Limitations	.81
4.9 Future work	.82
4.10 Summary	.83
Appendix	.85
Appendix A. Patient information and consent form	.85
Appendix B. TNFα ELISA reagent preparation	.89
Appendix C. Mean TNFα plasma concentrations (pg/ml)	.92
Appendix D. Patient Echocardiogram data (Systolic)	.94
Appendix E. Patient Echocardiogram data (Diastolic)	.96
Appendix F. Normal reference values for ECHO parameters	.98
Bibliography	.99

List of Figures

- Figure 1-1. Cross-sectional view of the arterial wall
- Figure 1-2. Endothelial pathology of atherosclerosis
- Figure 1-3. Acute myocardial infarction
- Figure 1-4. Ventricular remodelling

Figure 1-5. Cardiomyocyte ECC and Ca²⁺ handling

Figure 1-6. Inflammatory mediators involved during the early development of atherosclerosis

Figure 1-7. TNF α signalling pathways

Figure 1-8. Key enzymes involved in the production of cellular ROS

- Figure 1-9. SOD-facilitated removal of superoxide
- Figure 1-10. Catalase and peroxidase facilitated removal of H₂O₂.
- Figure 1-11. Oxidative stress
- Figure 2-1. TNFα ELISA standard curve
- Figure 2-2. DCFDA assay plate layout
- Figure 3-1. Mean patient plasma TNF α concentrations
- Figure 3-2. Indices of systolic function correlated against plasma TNF α levels
- Figure 3-3. Indices of diastolic function correlated against plasma TNF α levels

Figure 3-4. The effects of hydrogen peroxide on cellular oxidative stress in H9C2 rat myoblast cell line

Figure 3-5. The effects of $2pg/ml TNF\alpha$ on cellular oxidative stress in H9C2 rat myoblast cell line

Figure 3-6. The effects of 50ng/ml TNF α on cellular oxidative stress in H9C2 rat myoblast cell line

Figure 3-7. The effects of TNF α and hydrogen peroxide on cellular oxidative stress in H9C2 rat myoblast cell line

List of Tables

Table 1-1. Grading of diastolic dysfunction

Table 2-1. TNF α ELISA standard concentrations

Table 3-1. Echocardiogram parameters used to measure cardiac function within CAD patient cohort

Acknowledgements

I would first like to thank my principal supervisor Dr David Greensmith for the invaluable knowledge, support, and advice given throughout this project. The encouragement and opportunity to pursue a career in research and develop as a scientist has been greatly appreciated.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to members of Dr Greensmith's research team; the continuous training and attentive support provided an environment that has greatly benefited both my personal and professional development.

Next, I would like to thank the team at Blackpool Victoria hospital - and Prof Bittar in particular - for their efforts to recruit patients, provide clinical data, and collect samples for this ongoing study.

Finally, I would like to dedicate my thesis to my parents, Kim and Brian, for their unwavering love and encouragement throughout my academic endeavours. It continues to provide me with inspiration.

List of Abbreviations

- ACD Atherosclerotic coronary disease
- ACE Angiotensin-converting enzyme
- ACS Acute coronary syndrome
- AGEs Advanced glycation end products
- AMI Acute myocardial infarction
- ASS Arginosuccinate synthase
- **ATP** Adenosine triphosphate
- **BMI** Body mass index
- **BNP** Brain natriuretic peptide
- **BVH** Blackpool Victoria hospital
- CABG Coronary artery bypass graft surgery
- **CAD** Coronary artery disease
- **CICR** Calcium induced calcium release
- CM-H₂DCFDA chloromethyl derivative of H₂DCFDA
- **CN** Calcified nodule
- **CT** Computed tomography
- CVD Cardiovascular disease
- DALYs Disability adjusted life years
- DAMPs Damage associate molecular patterns
- DCF 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein
- DCFDA 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate
- DMEM Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
- EC Endothelial cell
- ECC Excitation contraction coupling
- echo Echocardiogram

- ECM Extra cellular matrix
- EDV End diastolic volume
- **EF** Ejection fraction
- ELISA Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
- FBS Foetal bovine serum
- ERK Extracellular signal-regulated kinases
- ETC Electron transport chain
- FADH Reduced from of flavin adenine dinucleotide
- **GWAS** Genome-wide association studies
- H₂O₂ Hydrogen peroxide
- HDL High density lipoproteins
- HIC High income countries
- IHD Ischemic heart disease
- IL Interleukin
- **JNK –** C -jun N terminal kinases
- **RAGE** Receptor for advanced glycation end products
- LDL Low density lipoproteins
- LMIC Low to middle income countries
- LV Left ventricular
- **LVEF** Left ventricular ejection fraction
- LVOT Left ventricular outflow tract
- MAPK Mitogen activated protein kinase
- MCP 1 Monocyte chemoattractant protein
- MHCα Alpha myosin heavy chain
- MHCβ Beta myosin heavy chain
- mtDNA Mitochondrial DNA

- **MI** Myocardial infarction
- **MMP** Matrix metalloproteinase
- MRI Magnetic resonance imaging
- NADP Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
- NCD Non communicable disease
- NCX Sodium-calcium exchanger
- **NET –** Neutrophil extracellular traps
- NFKB Nuclear factor kB
- **NO-** Nitric oxide
- **NOS-** Nitric-oxide synthase
- **NOX –** NADPH oxidase
- **OS** Oxidative stress
- **Ox LDL** Oxidised low-density lipoprotein
- PASP Pulmonary arteriole systolic pressure
- PCSK9 Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9
- **PET** Position emission tomography
- PPAR Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
- **ROS** Reactive oxygen species
- **RYR** Ryanodine receptor
- sdLDL Small dense LDL
- **SERCA** Sarcoendoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase
- **SMC** Smooth muscle cell
- **SNP** Single nucleotide polymorphism
- SR Sarcoplasmic reticulum
- SV Stroke volume
- **TASPE** Tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion

- $TGF\beta$ Transforming growth factor beta
- TLR Toll-like receptor
- TMB Tetramethyl-benzidine
- TNF-a Tumour necrosis factor alpha
- VCAM Vascular cell adhesion molecule
- VSMC Vascular smooth muscle cell
- WT Wildtype
- **XO-** Xanthine oxidase
- **XOR -** Xanthine oxidoreductase

Abstract

Coronary artery disease (CAD) is a chronic inflammatory condition associated with high rates of mortality worldwide. Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as tumour necrosis factor (TNF α) play a key role in CAD pathogenesis, though the degree to which TNF α is elevated, or alters cardiac function in CAD remains unclear. CAD is also associated with elevated levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the heart, though the extent to which this is dependent on cytokines isn't known. This preliminary study sought to (1) quantify plasma TNF α levels in a CAD patient cohort then correlate those levels to measurements of systolic and diastolic cardiac function, and (2) establish whether clinically relevant concentrations of (TNF α) elevate intracellular oxidative stress.

The study was conducted in accordance with local and IRAS ethical approval (IRAS ID: 247341). Blood samples were taken from consenting patients scheduled for revascularisation surgery. TNF α levels were measured using a high-sensitivity ELISA kit. Measurements of cardiac function were extracted from patient clinical records. Fluorescent imaging was used to quantify levels of oxidative stress and cytokine signalling in H9C2 rat myoblasts treated with supraphysiological and clinically relevant concentrations of TNF α .

Average plasma TNF α levels were 2.27 ± 0.35 pg/ml (n = 66). Preliminary data indicates that E/A ratio negatively correlates with TNF α concentration (p = 0.0489; r2 = n = 45). TNF α levels may correlate with LVIDD, though this did not reach significance (p = 0.06; r2 = 0.09; n = 38). We observed no significant correlations with other indices of systolic and diastolic function including EF (p = 0.6993; r2 = 0.0031; n = 51) and E/e ratio (p = 0.3297; n = 30). We observed no significant increase in oxidative stress following treatment with an acute or clinically relevant concentration of TNF α , which were 50ng/ml and 2pg/ml, respectively.

These preliminary data suggest that plasma TNF α levels may be of limited use as a diagnostic biomarker in CAD. Furthermore, clinically relevant concentrations of TNF α do not appear to elevate levels of oxidative stress in our H9C2 rat myoblast model. However, further work should aim to increase study power, stratify patients according to potential confounding variables upon complete acquisition of clinical data, and investigate cellular mechanisms that link TNF α levels with whole heart dysfunction

1. Introduction

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) refer to a group of disorders involving the blood vessels and the heart. These include diseases of the vessels supplying the brain, heart, or peripheral areas of the body (arms and legs), or conditions that cause abnormal heart function/damage. CVDs are the leading cause of death globally; approximately 32% of global deaths were attributed to these diseases in 2019 (WHO, 2024).

1.1 CAD

Coronary artery disease (CAD) is the most prevalent CVD; it is a leading cause of mortality in developed countries and accounts for approximately 17 million deaths globally each year (Nichols et al, 2014). It is also referred to as ischemic heart disease (IHD) or atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ACD) (Khan et al., 2020). Endothelial dysfunction and the accumulation of atherosclerotic plaques within the coronary vessels supplying the heart underpins the pathological basis of CAD. Myocardial and cardiovascular complications can arise when vessels supplying blood to the heart become narrow/blocked, or when plaque rupture results in thrombus formation (Papageorgiou, 2016). These processes can manifest clinically as shortness of breath, angina, ischemic cardiomyopathy, myocardial infarction (MI), and stroke as a result of CAD (Papageorgiou, 2016).

1.1.1 Incidence and epidemiology

Growing incidence and mortality rates of cardiovascular diseases like CAD are expected to continue – a trend that can be attributed to multiple factors including the sustained prevalence of obesity and diabetes, as well as an aging global population (Khan, 2020). Global burden of cardiovascular disease is currently estimated to be around 620 million: approximately 290 million and 260 million of which are women and men, respectively (British Heart Foundation, 2023).

Epidemiological patterns vary considerably throughout the global populace. In low to middleincome countries (LMIC's), CVD's are responsible for a significant portion of disease related deaths which would have previously been associated with infectious disease. This epidemiological transition to non-communicable disease (NCD) burden in such regions has been analogous with developments in trade, infrastructure, and commercialization over the past several decades (Khan, 2020). Even as the effects of NCD's like CVD (and associated comorbidities) are mitigated, current trends in population aging, obesity and sedentary lifestyles are expected to further drive rates of incidence and mortality (Vedanthan et al., 2014; Gaziano, 2010).

In developed or high-income countries (HIC's), a progressive age-adjusted decline in mortality rate has been observed despite an overall increase in total burden (Vedanthan et al., 2014). This suggests that population ageing and growth are preeminent drivers of CVD burden in HIC's, in particular (Roth et al., 2020). Approximately 80% of CVD-related mortality occurs over the age of 60 in such regions – a stark contrast to that seen in LMIC's, where only 42% of CVD-related deaths occur within the same demographic (Gaziano et al., 2010). The perceived decline in mortality rates in HIC's is associated with numerous aspects aimed to prevent CVD development and improve patient outcomes following diagnosis. Firstly, prompt surgical and pharmacological intervention has significantly reduced the case-fatality rate of acute myocardial infarction (AMI). Procedures including coronary artery bypass surgery (CABG), revascularisation, and catheterisation are examples of methods that have been utilised to treat AMI and chronic disease (Ford & Capewell, 2011). Likewise, a more comprehensive and easily accessible range of medical treatments are available to patients in HIC's; treatment options previously limited to a small number of antiarrhythmic agents, beta blockers, and nitrates expanded to include thrombolytic agents, angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, statins, and numerous others (Ford & Capewell, 2011; Malach & Imperato, 2006). The introduction of guidelines to limit the development of risk factors amongst the population also provided a pragmatic approach to preventing the development of CAD and other CVD's (Ford & Capewell, 2011).

Around 200 million people are affected by CAD globally - approximately 110 and 80 million are men and women, respectively (British Heart Foundation, 2023). Although CAD is the single leading cause of mortality among higher income regions (Gaziano et al, 2010), LMIC's contribute more than half of the global mortality burden and over two thirds of Disability Adjusted Life Years (DALY's) (Ralapanawa & Sivakanesan 2021; Vedanthan et al., 2014). Latin America and the Middle East have recently seen the highest increase in rates of incidence. For these reasons, CAD prevalence in LMIC's somewhat reflect incidence patterns previously seen in developed countries (Vedanthan et al., 2014). The median age of mortality from CAD among men in LMIC's was ten years lower in 2010 than that observed in HIC's; early onset acute coronary syndrome (ACS) (thought to be provoked by early accretion of detrimental heath behaviours), along with suboptimal healthcare and treatment appear to be important contributing factors (Vedanthan et al., 2014; Karthikeyan et al., 2007). A genetic predisposition of some populations within these geographical locations can also make individuals more susceptible to CAD-associated risk factors. In South Asia for example, premature development of metabolic syndrome now appears to play a substantial role in the rising incidence of acute myocardial infarction and diabetes (Eapen et al., 2009).

The long-term decline in CAD mortality rates in some HIC's (including areas of the United States and the UK) has recently transposed; in some cases, incidence has once again started to rise. It is understood that this latest change in trend has been facilitated by enduring political, social, and economic impediments with regards to disease prevention (Gupta & Wood, 2019). For example, the advantages of improved treatment and prevention strategies are not shared equally between communities from different economic and racial groups (Havranek et al, 2015). This subsequently alters the state of social determinants – the conditions in which people spend their lives – and heavily influences an individual's risk of developing CAD or associated comorbidities. These might include factors such as: environment and infrastructure; access to well financed, quality universal healthcare; whether an individual is living in poverty; access to facilities that help to promote healthy lifestyle practices such as physical activity; education and social support etc. Furthermore, the implementation of health-conscious policies, or lack thereof, can also influence the control of such risk factors and CAD prevalence (Havranek, 2015).

CAD also poses a substantial economic burden which is projected to increase. For example, national expenditure in the US is expected to increase 2.5-fold over a period of 20 years (from 2015 – 2035) from \$126 billion (Khera et al., 2020). Such economic burden can be incurred through the cost of healthcare, social care, and productivity costs due to mortality and morbidity (Luengo-fernandez et al., 2023). In 2021, CAD cost health and social care systems throughout the European Union €30 billion, with a major portion of the costs attributed to hospital care and pharmaceutical outlay. Furthermore, it has been estimated 500,000 working

years were lost as a result of CAD mortality. After also considering the financial burden of informal care and working days lost, a total cost of round €77 billion to the EU economy was estimated in the same year – this represented over a quarter of the burden calculated for all CVDs. Given this considerable impact, the importance of combative public health policy is further highlighted; policies should be developed to help to alleviate this burden, particularly when directing research expenditure towards areas that have the potential to aid prevention, diagnosis, and treatment (Luengo-fernandez et al., 2023).

1.1.2 Aetiology and risk factors

As acknowledged, risk factors often facilitate the formation of atherosclerotic plaques and subsequent thrombotic events. The identification of risk factors associated with CAD development has been a fundamental aspect of understanding the disease and reducing the far-reaching effects. This is mainly due to the fact that management of these factors play a significant role in prevention, and that they offer insight when it comes to predicting the onset of disease (Hajar, 2017).

1.1.2.1 Non-modifiable risk factors

Non-modifiable risk factors describe those which cannot be controlled, and include age, sex, ethnicity, and genetics. Age is one of the most influential risk factors for most vascular diseases, including CAD. According to the American Heart Association's 2019 update, 25.4% of female and 31% of male patients over the age of 80 years had some degree of CAD. Associated risk and prevalence increase with age for both men and women (Fadah et al., 2022). This is typically due to the accumulation of sufficient vascular changes/damage as individuals get older; arterial stiffness, vessel inflammation, and sustained endothelial dysfunction will eventually lead to vascular remodelling and escalate the risk of occlusion/thrombosis over time (Lakatta & Levy, 2003).

The general consensus is that CAD and related events of myocardial infarction is more frequent among men than women (Soler & Ruiz, 2010). In 2021, the BHF reported that the death of 42,434 men and 23,145 women were attributable to CAD – 15,921 and 9,153 of which were a result of MI, respectively (BHF, 2023). Pathophysiological disparities between the sexes also exist. Although pathology is multifactorial, interaction with biological sex

characteristics can influence aspects of the disease. For example, the features of coronary plaques in women tend to make them more susceptible to plaque erosion, whilst those in men have a propensity to rupture. Oestrogen is thought to have a protective effect against plaque rupture as this phenomenon is particularly rare in younger women (Davies, 2000). Men and women - despite sharing most of the same risk factors for CAD and other CVD's - also appear to have different levels of sensitivity to certain determinants (Mehta et al., 2016). Presentation of hypertension or diabetes increases risk of myocardial infarction more so in women, whilst the protective effect of exercise is less potent for men (Yusuf et al., 2004). Although, other disparities appear to contribute to an enduring problem in the management and treatment of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease in women. For young women in particular, hospitalisation and mortality rates from acute myocardial infarction have not sufficiently improved. This has been attributed to poorer management of risk factors, longer delays seeking medical care and treatment, worsened state of comorbidities at time of presentation, reduced guidance-directed medical therapy/administration of therapeutics, and inadequate representation in medical trials (Holtzman et al., 2023).

Ethnicity is another non-modifiable determinant that can considerably alter the risk of developing CAD. Despite worldwide prevalence of the disease, certain ethnic groups are more inclined to develop CAD at higher rates, particularly due to the influence of westernised lifestyles and associated modifiable risk factors. Populations most at risk of subsequent metabolic and vascular dysfunction include South Asian, Mexican-American, and those of Afro-Caribbean decent. For instance, age-standardised mortality rates from CAD in the UK are around 50% higher in South Asian men and women when compared to white/Europeans (Forouhi & Sattar, 2006). Moreover, analyses of men within this demographic – all with a similar Body Mass Index (BMI) - revealed a predisposition to associated risk factors when compared to white/European men: South Asians had elevated central adiposity (Yajnik, 2001), increased systolic blood pressure, increased fasting and post glucose-loading insulin levels, and dysfunctional high-density lipoprotein (HDL) levels (Forouhi & Sattar, 2006; McKeigue et al., 1991). Hispanic and Japanese populations are disproportionately burdened with these risk factors in a similar way to South Asians, and the development of metabolic syndrome is a commonality amongst these groups (Llabre et al., 2015). For African Americans, the prevalence of hypertension is amongst the highest in the world and is perhaps the most

influential fisk factor for developing CAD in this population (Carnethon et al., 2017; Mills et al., 2016). Whilst African Americans (along with other populations of Afro-Carribean decent) are especially burdened with some of the risk factors described above, the prevalence of lipid dysfunction is lower than that observed in Caucasians (Carnethon et al., 2017). Fundamentally, genetic factors appear to have a prevailing effect on metabolic profile, insulin resistance, diabetes, and hypertension in particular. Differences in CAD susceptibility between ethnic populations encapsulate the importance of genetic elements, and how these influence the effects of common modifiable risk factors on CAD risk (Forouhi & Sattar, 2006).

Many studies and clinical observations have highlighted the heritable nature of CAD. Familial studies and genome wide association studies (GWAS) have both suggested that the heritability of the disease can be as high as 50%. Numerous genes have been implicated that are thought to be involved with causal pathways, including: metabolism of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) and triglyceride-rich lipoproteins; inflammatory mechanisms; cellular proliferation and vascular remodelling; and nitric oxide (NO) signalling. Indeed, up to 60 genetic variants have been detected, although the majority of these have been associated with only marginal increases in CAD risk. Nonetheless, some have significant associations with increased risk, and approximately 20% of these variants are located near genes involved in the pathways described above (Khera & Kathiresan, 2017).

Familial studies have revealed that having at least one parent with premature CVD independently increases risk (Lloyd-Jones et al., 2004), and even more so in individuals with sibling CVD (Murabito et al., 2005). More specifically, hereditary hypercholesterolaemia has been identified in familial studies. Mutations in genes encoding LDL receptors (resulting in impaired hepatic uptake of LDL), apolipoprotein B, and PCSK9 (where loss of function prevents LDL from binding to its receptor) lead to elevated circulating cholesterol, thus facilitating early CAD development (Khera & Kathiresan, 2017; Soria et al., 1989; Moulin et al., 2003). Alongside this, GWAS have since proven to be useful in recognising common genetic variants with higher frequency among CAD cohorts. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) within the 9p21 gene locus have been repeatedly implicated in CAD, for example. These mutations have been shown to disrupt transcription factor binding sites that are involved with inflammatory response in vascular cell types, therefore emphasizing a connection between genetic susceptibility and dysfunctional inflammatory signalling (Harismendy et al., 2011). Such studies might expose

new pathological mechanisms leading to disease development as well as novel therapeutic targets.

1.1.2.2 Modifiable risk factors

There are also numerous individual and modifiable risk factors. The INTERHEART study concluded that a number of these modifiable risk factors accounted for over 90% of attributable risk of MI within a population (Joseph et al., 2017; Yusuf et al., 2004). Those most commonly associated with CAD pathogenesis are hypertension, diabetes (or diabetes mellitus), dyslipidaemia, smoking, and obesity.

Firstly, the association between CAD and hypertension is robust. The pathological effect of hypertension is understood to help facilitate and exacerbate atherosclerosis; arterial hypertension exerts additional mechanical stress on the vascular endothelium as a result of increased transmural pressure, thus reducing endothelial integrity (Malakar et al., 2019; Stauer, 1992). Studies show that moderate increases in blood pressure – even within the normal range – accompany a marked increase in CAD risk. The extent to which hypertension might contribute to modifiable disease burden may have been overestimated, however. Only in individuals with well-established hypertension has a reduction in CAD risk been observed following blood pressure reduction (Joseph et al., 2017; Pfeffer et al., 2016). In a similar way, decreasing blood pressure though the use of beta blockers and ACE inhibitors has only reduced CAD risk in those already highly susceptible, or with confirmed vascular disease (Joseph et al., 2017).

Type two Diabetes Mellitus (or simply known type two diabetes) is often considered a modifiable risk factor, and is another significant determinant of CAD risk and associated patient outcomes. The aetiological role of diabetes overlaps with a number of other risk factors including hypertension, dyslipidaemia, and obesity. It is characterised by a reduced uptake of glucose as a result of insulin resistance or deficiency, and subsequent hyperglycaemia and dyslipidaemia (D'Souza et al., 2009). Multiple pathological process involved in CAD pathogenesis can be accelerated or worsened in the presence of diabetes, which can be attributed to this metabolic dysregulation. Hyperglycaemia is known to induce vascular damage by means of multiple pathways: excess glucose (and its metabolic products) can cause osmotic stress; increased oxidative stress due to the accumulation of oxidising

molecules such as NADP+; and hypoxia in the vascular endothelium (Beckman et al., 2002). Increased transcription of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Du et al., 2000) and supressed nitric oxide (NO) production has also been observed as a result of elevated glucose flux (Du et al., 2001). Insulin resistance and subsequent hyperglycaemia can propagate further production of insulin, giving rise to hyperinsulinemia - which can independently impact CAD severity (D'Souza et al., 2009). In a similar way to hyperglycaemia, hyperinsulinemia provokes atherogenic effects such as increased production of inflammatory mediators and vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) proliferation (D'Souza et al., 2009; Hsueh & Law, 1999). The risk of mortality from CAD and other types of heart disease is 2-4 times higher in diabetic patients; a similarly increased risk was also seen following MI (Aronson & Edelman, 2014).

One of the preeminent features of atherosclerosis is lipid accumulation within the arterial wall, and so lipid dysfunction (or dyslipidaemia) is a potent risk factor for CAD. Current estimates suggest around 50% of the adult population has some form of dyslipidaemia (Hedayatnia et al., 2020; Joshi et al., 2014). The term encompasses various aetiological elements of lipid dysregulation such as hyperlipidaemia, hypercholesterolaemia, low HDL, and hypertriglyceridemia (Abd alamir et al., 2018). Two types of cholesterol – HDL and LDL – have paradoxical roles in CVD development. HDL's have a protective role in CAD and function to transport excess cholesterol to the liver (Rahmati-Ahmadabad et al., 2019). These lipids also have antioxidative and anti-inflammatory effects. Therefore, HDL deficiency can result in elevated levels of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins and LDLs which increase the likelihood of atherogenesis (Rosenson et al., 2015). Limited clearance of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins and LDL's is detrimental, particularly with regards to small dense low-density lipoproteins (sdLDL's), as these are more susceptible to oxidation and accumulate within the vessel wall (Yokota et al., 2016). Studies have demonstrated that various forms of dyslipidaemia independently increase the prevalence of multivessel CAD (whereby at least two coronary arteries are involved), even following multivariate adjustment for other risk factors (Abd alamir et al., 2018).

Over the past several decades, mean population BMI (and obesity) has steadily increased around the world. Around 11% of men and 15% of women are classified as obese (BMI >30) and in some places such as the United Kingdom, this figure exceeds 30% of the adult population (Di Cesare et al., 2019). As well as playing an integral aetiological role in the

development of risk factors described above (Flint et al., 2010), obesity/adiposity may independently contribute to CAD. Evidence suggests that adipocyte-derived inflammatory mediators contribute to a state of systemic inflammation that may perpetuate atherosclerosis. Reduced expression of cardio-protective adipokines has also been observed in obesity, which would usually exert beneficial effects via anti-inflammatory mechanisms (Berg & Scherer, 2005). Central or visceral adiposity is an important criterion where metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease are concerned. Prominent long-term studies have demonstrated that the degree of central obesity reflects the risk of cardiovascular disease in a linear fashion (Kannel et al., 1991), and BMI-determined obesity resulted in higher incidence of CVD (Wilson et al., 2002).

Whilst smoking is one of the most potent risk factors associated with CAD, it is also one of the most preventable. Despite a continuing decline in consumption over the past several decades, around 10% of CVD related deaths are still attributable to smoking (Messner & Bernhard, 2014; Machii & Saika, 2012). A dose-dependent relationship exists between the detrimental effects of smoking and CVD prevalence; the number of cigarettes smoked daily/smoking duration has a profound impact on atherogenesis and degree of vascular occlusion (Malakar et al, 2019). The chemical constituents of tobacco smoke induce various maladaptation's within vascular endothelial cells, including increased expression of adhesion molecules which encourages adherence of activated macrophages and platelets to the vessel wall; decreased NO availability, which is involved in the regulation of vascular tone; smooth muscle cell (SMC) proliferation and vascular remodelling; and activation of inflammatory processes. Smoking cessation is vital in preventing mortality from atherosclerotic disease and reversing existing damage (Messner & Bernhard, 2014).

1.1.3 Pathology

Structurally, most blood vessels (including larger vessels, venules, and arterioles) are comprised of several layers (Figure 1-1). The endothelium is the luminally-facing monolayer of endothelial cells (EC) and acts as the initial barrier between the blood and surrounding tissues. This, together with a subendothelial layer of collagen, forms the intima. Surrounding this is the media, which is a band of tissue consisting of SMCs, collagen, and elastin fibres. Finally, a dense matrix of connective tissue forms the adventitia, which is the outermost layer of the vessel wall. The endothelium in particular plays a critical role in vascular homeostasis; it is sensitive to haemodynamic and chemical changes in the blood, and acts as a signal transducer to affect outer layers of the vessel wall. In vascular disease, excessive mechanical stress exerted on the vessel wall (usually a result of hypertension) and high concentrations of circulating metabolic factors are known to be significant effecters of atherogenesis and progression (Zhang et al., 2009; Jebari-Benslaiman et al., 2022).





Vascular lesion development is multifactorial, with a wide range of factors impacting the biochemical and pathological mechanisms involved in atherosclerosis (Jinnouchi et al., 2019). The process begins with endothelial activation/dysfunction, then continues with fatty streak formation, fibrous plaque formation, and ultimately plaque rupture (Jebari-Benslaiman et al., 2022).

1.1.3.1 Atherosclerosis

Areas of the vessel wall that are exposed to turbulent blood flow are more susceptible to endothelial dysfunction and lesion development. This is due to the fact that mechanical stress in these locations will more likely compromise endothelial integrity, and circulating LDL will remain in these areas for longer periods of time (Jebari-Benslaiman et al., 2022). Subsequent endothelial damage and LDL infiltration are known to promote EC activation, along with increased expression of adhesion molecules. LDLs then begin to accumulate within the intima. Here, LDLs are susceptible to oxidation by free radicals (such as superoxide), and the formation of oxidised LDLs (oxLDL's) promote monocyte migration into the vessel wall. The monocytes then differentiate into macrophages that engulf the oxLDLs. These lipid-filled cells are known as foam cells from which increased cytokine expression initiates further recruitment and accumulation of inflammatory cells within the intima (Fatkhullina et al., 2016). This process forms the basis for fatty streak formation, and later fibrous plague development. It is also important to note the role of the inflammatory response involved in atherogenesis; exposure to inflammatory agents such as TNF α and IL-1 (among others) contribute to sustained phenotypic modulation of the vessel wall, which further enhances conditions for plaque development. Thus, a positive feedback loop between unresolved inflammation and foam cell accumulation exists to exacerbate the state of disease (Jebari-Benslaiman et al., 2022).

Advanced stage atherosclerosis is characterised by the formation of a necrotic core within the plaque, followed by the development of a fibrous cap. The growing number of foam cells remain internalised within the vessel wall and eventually undergo necrotic cell death *in situ* (Jebari-Benslaiman et al., 2022). The resulting lipid-rich region is known as the necrotic core – this tends to destabilise the relatively secure structure of the plaque, where it becomes susceptible to rupture and thrombus formation. To reduce the potential exposure of necrotic material, a subendothelial layer of migrated VSMCs and extra cellular matrix forms a 'fibrous cap' on the luminal side of the necrotic core. These derivative cells, however, no longer express the contractile phenotype of the SMCs located in the media. Instead, they exhibit a phenotype that elicits cellular proliferation and migration in response to vascular injury and the secretion of various growth factors from adjacent foam cells retained in the intima or media. Although this may restore plaque stability – depending on fibrous cap/extra cellular

matrix (ECM) composition – this process contributes to the development and occlusive nature of the lesion (Jebari-Benslaiman et al., 2022). Along with sustained exposure to a proatherogenic environment, plaques with a large necrotic core and a thin fibrous cap are most vulnerable to rupture (Jebari-Benslaiman et al., 2022; Stefanadis et al., 2017).



Figure 1-2. Endothelial pathology of atherosclerosis. (a) Normal arterial structure with uncompromised endothelium. (b) Endothelial activation and dysfunction in response to stress and other associated risk factors allowing the infiltration of lipids and monocytes, which is facilitated by adhesion molecules, chemokines, and pro-inflammatory cytokines. Phagocytosis of oxidised lipids leads to the formation of foam cells – the basis of fatty streak formation. (c) Subsequent further release of cytokines and growth factors promote proliferation and migration of vascular SMCs, which then secrete large amounts of collagen and other ECM components. This forms the 'fibrous cap' which lies between the endothelium and necrotic core. (d) A continuation of these processes and the release of metalloproteinases (MMP's) leads to a thinning fibrous cap, and eventually plaque rupture. Exposure of pro-thrombotic material to the circulation results in thrombus formation (Nguyen et al., 2022).

1.1.3.2 Consequences of plaque formation

Plaque rupture, erosion, and calcified nodule are three typical mechanisms of coronary thrombus. Plaque rupture occurs when pro-thrombotic material within the necrotic core is exposed to blood flow through the fibrous cap, leading to luminal thrombus formation at the site of the plaque. Although the cause of rupture has not been fully elucidated, it has been shown that macrophage infiltration – and their secretion of various collagenases – may disrupt the continuity of the of the fibrous cap (Jinnouchi et al., 2019; Dollery et al., 2003). Where the necrotic core is exposed, platelets, fibrin, and red blood cells aggregate and can lead to partial or total occlusion of the vessel (Jinnouchi et al., 2019).

In contrast to the mechanisms and plaque characteristics involved in rupture, plaques that are prone to erosion have different phenotypic qualities. For instance, these tend to have a small or absent necrotic core, instead consisting mainly of proliferative VSMC's with extensive ECM beneath the endothelium. As the plaque develops, cytokines and other pro-inflammatory factors induce endothelial desquamation; the endothelium is eroded, leaving ECM components (such as proteoglycans and collagen) and VSMC's exposed to the circulation (Baaten et al., 2023). In addition, the blood is also exposed to neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). NETs are comprised of cellular material (DNA, cytokines, pro-oxidant material) left from neutrophil cell death to which platelets adhere and aggregate. This facilitates thrombus formation which may settle and develop distal to the atheroma. According to Fahed & Jang (2021), acute coronary syndrome that occurs as a result of plaque erosion is most prevalent in younger (average 53 years) female patients. These patients also tend to have low-to-moderate risk lesions and less complex disease (Fahed & Jang, 2021). These findings, however, may vary in different patient cohorts.

Least common are calcified nodules (CN). Patients that seem to be particularly susceptible to these lesions are older, diabetic, or present with chronic kidney disease. This type of thrombus also only occurs in the context of extensive calcified CAD (Jinnouchi et al., 2019). The mechanisms involved in CN development remain unclear, however CN thrombi are characterised by an erupted calcific nodule through the endothelium or a thin fibrous cap. From here, a similar pattern of platelet aggregation/accumulation of thrombotic material occurs (Torii et al., 2019).

Sufficient coronary perfusion is absolutely necessary for physiological functioning, and this should be maintained when oxygen demand is increased. A significant pathological mechanism in CAD that induces myocardial injury is ischemia, which occurs when blood flow is interrupted or stopped completely (ischemic) as a result of occlusive plaques or thrombi, leaving areas of the myocardium without oxygen (hypoxic). This causes an imbalance between myocardial oxygen supply and demand. Myocardial ischemia (and subsequent hypoxia) can occur both in the circumstance of stable CAD and ACS (Smit et al., 2020). With the former, ischemia occurs as a consequence of reduced coronary flow reserve. This refers to the capacity for coronary perfusion and is defined as the difference between basal coronary flow and maximal coronary flow. When atherosclerosis causes luminal narrowing, increased hydrodynamic resistance will abate blood flow and therefore flow reserve. Coupled with endothelial dysfunction and inadequate vasodilation, this decrease in flow reserve will increase the potential for myocardial injury (Smit et al, 2020; Crossman, 2004).

Acute coronary syndrome describes the following complications of advanced atherosclerosis: unstable angina, myocardial infarction, and sudden coronary death (Jinnouchi et al., 2019). Unstable angina is experienced as a result of highly occluded vessels; here, the oxygen demand of the myocardium is not sufficiently met by the supply of blood, even at rest. Myocardial infarction most commonly occurs as a result of superimposed luminal thrombus – a result of plaque rupture -, but can rarely arise through coronary embolism, thrombosis within non-diseased vessels, or coronary spasm (Burke & Virmani, 2007). With regards to sudden coronary death, around 40-50% of cases are a result of significant narrowing of the lumen (at least 75% reduction in cross-sectional area) with stable coronary plaques. The rest, however, are usually a consequence of luminal/coronary thrombus (Jinnouchi et al., 2019).



Figure 1-3. Acute myocardial infarction. (a) Myocardial ischemia and hypoxia will result in injury or death of the tissue supplied by the occluded vessel. The extent of infarct zone will depend on the location of the blockage: blockages that occur near the apex may result in minimal injury, whereas blockages closer to the aortic arch will result in a more extensive infarct zone, and potential fatality. (b) Mature atherosclerotic plaque and thrombus formation. Image (NHS, 2022).

1.1.3.3 Cardiac remodelling

In response to ischemic injury and other CAD-associated factors (haemodynamic and metabolic changes, inflammation) the myocardium undergoes structural and functional modification. To begin with, these regional and global alterations may serve as compensatory mechanisms. However, sustained exposure to the aforementioned factors will perpetuate these changes until they become pathogenic and induce myocardial dysfunction. This process is known as cardiac remodelling (Heusch et al., 2014). Vascular stenosis and hypertension can facilitate concentric remodelling of the myocardium; this usually presents as heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF) (Heusch et al., 2014). Despite the fact that EF is maintained, ultrastructural remodelling in this condition is characterised by an increased ventricular mass to volume ratio – the outcome being increased ventricular stiffness and

impaired diastolic relaxation (Ohtani et al., 2012). Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF), on the other hand, is often characterised by increased end diastolic volume to wall thickness ratio (chamber dilation). Ventricular dilation is indicative of impaired contractility. HFrEF can arise in response to diastolic dysfunction, recurrent infarcts, and neurohumoral activation (ie sympathetic nervous system and renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system) – all of which cause or exacerbate cardiac injury (McMurray et al., 2012). Furthermore, ventricular failure, pulmonary hypertension, and valvular malfunction can lead onto atrial remodelling and associated arrhythmias like atrial fibrillation. In each of these conditions where either myocardial stiffness or impaired contractility is the source of failure, pathological reorganisation of the vessels and individual cardiomyocytes is the underlying mechanism (Heusch et al., 2014). This is inevitably based on intrinsic changes taking place on a cellular level that undermine the global function of the heart.

Cardiomyocytes undergo various significant changes in disease that might impair the heart's capacity for relaxation and contraction. Geometric changes within the myocardium are, in part, due to a divergence from physiological morphology of cardiomyocytes. For instance, cellular hypertrophy occurs in response to haemodynamic overload via the activation of specific signalling pathways. In brief, volume overload may induce 'eccentric' hypertrophy; longitudinal addition of sarcomeres gives the cell an elongated appearance, which translates to the ventricular dilation seen in HFrEF. Pressure overload can likewise lead to systolic wall stress and produce the concentric hypertrophy typical of HFpEF. Here, lateral sarcomere extension will result in ventricular wall thickening and impaired relaxation (Figure 1-4) (Hartupee & Mann, 2016; van Berlo et al., 2013).

Altered gene expression can be observed in hypertrophy that could upset the balance of excitation and contraction within the heart. An example of this is a reversion to a foetal or neonatal phenotype: increased expression of beta-myosin heavy chain (β -MHC) along with decreased alpha-myosin (α -MHC) heavy chain; and decreased SERCA2 expression (an ATPase associated with the sarcoplasmic reticulum, which is involved in the regulation of intracellular calcium) (Bers, 2001). Changes in expression of regulatory myofilament proteins has also been highlighted. It is likely that each of these mechanisms contribute to sarcomere disarray and a subsequent reduction in contractile function (Hartupee & Mann, 2016).



Figure 1-4. Ventricular remodelling. Pressure overload – a response to stenosis or hypertension – causes an increase in systolic wall stress, leading to widening of ventricular cardiomyocytes through the parallel addition of sarcomeres. This concentric remodelling is characteristic of HFpEF. Likewise, volume overload leads to an increase in diastolic wall stress, series addition of sarcomeres and cell lengthening; this ventricular dilation is characteristic of the eccentric remodelling seen in HFrEF. (Hartupee & Mann, 2016).

Signalling pathways involved in this type of remodelling are extensive and complex, but a particular set of pathways that should be highlighted are the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways. More specifically, the ERK (extracellular regulated protein kinase) pathways, JNKs (C-Jun N-terminal kinases), and the P38 MAPK. These act to phosphorylate various substrates within the cascade, some of which are nuclear transcription factors; activation of some of these genes are early indicators of hypertrophy such as C-Jun and BNP (expressed in response to stretching caused by volume overload) (Bers, 2001). The clinical manifestations of the cardiac remodelling discussed here will be outlined in sections 1.1.4 and 1.1.5.

1.1.3.4 Changes to cardiac contractility

The collective process, from the generation of an action potential to contraction and relaxation within the cardiomyocyte, is known as excitation contraction coupling (ECC). Calcium homeostasis plays an integral role in this process, where calcium release, recapture, and storage facilitate physiological cardiac function. Disruption in calcium handling, therefor, will often result in cardiac dysfunction (Wang et al., 2020). Here, a concise overview of the events involved in this process will be provided.

ECC begins with a wave of excitation along the sarcolemmal membrane, thus depolarisation of the transverse tubules (T-tubules). This is detected by L-type calcium channels which then open. The resulting influx of calcium into the cytoplasm activates proximal calcium-gated calcium channels called ryanodine receptors (RyRs) (Bers. 2001). These are associated with the membrane of the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR), which is an intracellular calcium store. More calcium is then released from the SR into the cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ levels increase and bind troponin, activating cross-bridge cycling thence myocyte shortening (Bers, 2001). In order for relaxation to take place, the diastolic Ca²⁺ concentrations must be restored. This is facilitated via four calcium transport systems: SR Ca-ATPase (SERCA), which mediates calcium reuptake back into the SR; Na/Ca exchanger (NCX) and sarcolemmal-ATPase, both of which are responsible for calcium efflux into the extracellular space; and the mitochondrial import system (Figure 1-5) (Bers, 2001).



Figure 1-5. Cardiomyocyte ECC and Ca handling. Also illustrated is the relative timeframe of action potential generation, changes in intracellular Ca^{2+} (via Ca^{2+} transient amplitude), and myocyte contraction. Adapted from (Bers, 2002). Abbreviations: NCX – Na/Ca exchanger; ATP – ATPase; SR – sarcoplasmic reticulum; RyR – ryanodine receptor; PLB – phospholamban.

There are a number of ways that dysfunctional calcium cycling might lead to reduced ventricular function, such as that seen following ischemic injury. However, a focal point of this dysregulation seems to be the SR. Reduced SR calcium load has been considered the predominant cause of reduced Ca²⁺ transient amplitude, prolonged Ca²⁺ transient duration and transient decay. Firstly, diastolic SR Ca²⁺ leak has been recognised in HF (Marks, 2013). This leakage is mediated by ryanodine receptor 2 (RyR2) under chronic hyperadrenergic stimulation, which prompts stress induced RyR2 oxidation and depletion of a channel complex protein called calstabin2. Normally, said channel complex helps to stabilise the RyR2 channel whilst in a closed state. When the complex is deficient in calstabin2, the channels become sensitive to diastolic calcium levels; erroneous CICR from the SR during diastole depletes SR Ca²⁺ stores and activates further Ca²⁺ influx (Marks, 2013). The effects of "leaky" RyR2 may be amplified with reduced expression of the SR CaATPase (SERCA2), or persistent inhibition of SERCA2 by phospholamban, which is a protein that modulates SERCA2 Ca²⁺ sequestration. In

both cases, SR Ca²⁺ reuptake will be reduced, and SR calcium load will be diminished (Marks, 2013; Lompré et al., 2010).

Reduced ATP production that is observed in the failing myocardium can be attributed to alterations in cardiac energy metabolism. The decrease in ATP output is synonymous with a decrease in the mitochondria's capacity to oxidise carbohydrates and fatty acids. Instead, a compensative rise in glucose uptake – and glycolysis as a means of metabolising this energy substrate – often results in increased production of protons and lactate, which harm cardiac efficiency (Heusch et al, 2014; Lopaschuk et al., 2010). This dependence on glycolysis when oxidative metabolism is reduced is also accompanied by adoption of a foetal phenotype. This is characterised, for example, by reduced expression of metabolic enzymes such as peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) (α) and PPAR (Y), which participate in the regulation of mitochondrial biogenesis and expression of enzymes involved in fatty acid oxidation (Heusch et al., 2014; Finck & Kelly, 2007).

1.1.4 Clinical presentation and diagnosis of CAD

Diagnosis of CAD usually begins when a patient presents with one or more associated symptoms. The most common initial symptom – which typically presents in approximately 50% of patients (Kannel, & Feinleib 1972) – is angina. This usually manifests as sternal discomfort or pressure lasting several minutes, and may be accompanied with pain in the shoulder, jaw, or arm. For stable angina, this pain typically occurs following physical effort or psychological stress when at least one major coronary vessel is obstructed. Symptom severity will depend on the degree of occlusion within the vessel and how may major vessels are affected. Unstable angina will occur with mild exertion or at rest (Cassar et al., 2009). Other symptoms may be experienced instead or alongside angina including epigastric pain, fatigue, and dyspnoea (breathlessness), or the patient may even be asymptomatic (Cassar et al., 2009).

Initial examination by a physician will not likely lead to an immediate diagnosis, particularly in patients where symptoms are not severe such as cases with stable angina. However, patients will usually be assessed to determine the presence of risk factors like those previously discussed, comorbidities such as chronic lung disease, evidence of peripheral vascular disease, and a family history of CAD (Cassar et al., 2009). Based on this risk factor assessment, further

investigation may be prudent before a comprehensive treatment strategy is put in place. A series of non-invasive tests can be carried out to confirm angina, and therefore a clinical diagnosis of CAD (Cassar et al., 2009). Electrocardiography (ECG) performed at rest is perhaps the most common procedure to use during initial investigations, and a diagnosis is usually made if there is evidence of ST-T wave abnormality or LV dysfunction. Although findings may appear normal for many patients with stable angina, the test has significant prognostic value and predictability for patient outcomes, nonetheless (Cassar et al., 2009). Exercise testing with ECG can likewise be used for such individuals. Non-invasive imaging may otherwise be suitable for individuals that are unable to exercise, or previous testing has not provided sufficient information to make a diagnosis; adenosine perfusion imaging, positron emission tomography (PET), computed tomography (CT), and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) are used depending on the clinical circumstances and laboratory expertise. Additional - albeit more invasive - techniques can be used to give definitive answers as to whether atherosclerotic disease is present, the magnitude, and location of plaques. Coronary angiography is an example that might be applied for investigation in high-risk patients (Cassar et al., 2009).

1.1.5 Echocardiological diagnosis and treatment of CAD

1.1.5.1 Echocardiography

Of particular interest in this study is the use of echocardiography (or echo) to assess potential vascular and myocardial abnormalities. Echocardiography can provide a comprehensive, anatomical picture of the heart's structure and function. It has remained an elemental part cardiovascular evaluation since its inception in the late 1970's (Anavekar & Oh, 2009; Holen & Simonsen, 1979; Hatle et al., 1978). 2D echocardiography in conjunction with Doppler imaging can be used for the appraisal of systolic and diastolic function and can provide insight into the haemodynamic workings of the heart (Anavekar & Oh, 2009). In essence, cross-sectional images of the myocardium are virtually produced from flow data that is generated based on the backscattering and compression of soundwaves (ultrasound) (Otto, 2024). A transducer is used to emit these high-frequency sound waves that will refract from structural components of the heart or vessels (NHS, 2022).

2D imaging produces a real-time view of structural components in cross-sectional tomographic slices (Faletra et al., 2018). Parameters are typically based on measurements of

contraction, and volumes; Left ventricular wall thickness, potential wall motion abnormalities, and LV ejection fraction can be identified with 2D imaging (Klaeboe & Edvardsen, 2018).

Doppler was originally developed to identify the velocity, direction, and flow characteristics of blood within the vessels and heart. Subsequent evolution of the technique to Doppler imaging is now an effective way to determine the velocity and direction of myocardial tissue as well as blood, based on the frequency shift (Δf) of these moving targets (Anavekar & Oh, 2009).

1.1.5.2 Assessment of systolic function

Analysis of systolic function has a vital impact on diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment strategy; left ventricular systolic function is usually the primary focus here, when evaluated with echocardiography (Cameli et al., 2015). There are numerous parameters that are relied upon to provide a thorough evaluation of LV systolic function. One of the most popular is the left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF). LVEF is defined as the ratio of stroke volume (SV) – which is the difference between end-systolic and end-diastolic volumes – and the end-diastolic volume. This allows a basic assessment of the hearts 'pump function' and is expressed as a percentage. As per the American Society of Echocardiography: LVEF>55% is considered 'normal' (Appendix E); measurements ranging from 45 - 54% represent mild systolic dysfunction; 30 – 44% represent moderate systolic dysfunction; and LVEF < 30% is categorised as severe (Cameli et al., 2016; Lang et al., 2006).

Despite improvements in long term prognosis for patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction, hospitalisation for this type of heart failure remains an important predictor of mortality. In a report based on the Organized Program to Initiate Lifesaving Treatment in Hospitalized Patients with Heart Failure (OPTIMIZE-HF), the risk of death during initial hospitalisation was higher in patients with LV systolic dysfunction when compared to those with preserved LV systolic function (Flaherty et al., 2009; Fonarow et al., 2007). Also, in patients with CAD and systolic dysfunction, the extent of angiographic burden has been shown to reflect prognosis and long-term survival (Gheorghiade et al., 2006; Felker et al., 2002).

1.1.5.3 Assessment of diastolic function

Diastolic dysfunction, on the other hand, is characterised by abnormal/impaired myocardial relaxation or increased filling pressures. Normally, the elastic recoil action of the myocardium allows ventricular relaxation and creates a positive trans mitral pressure gradient; around 80% of ventricular filling occurs during this early phase of diastole. As the ventricle fills with blood, ventricular pressure momentarily exceeds atrial pressure, and blood flow through the mitral valve decreases. The positive pressure gradient is then restored following atrial contraction, and the final 15-20% of ventricular filling occurs during late phase diastole (Anavekar & Oh, 2009). In the same way that ventricular contraction can be impaired, pathological events and mechanisms can lead to diastolic abnormalities such as: ventricular fibrosis and pericardial constriction; increased filling pressures and slower rate of ventricular filling. Further complications such as valvular malfunction, pulmonary venous congestion (Tschöpe & Lam, 2012), and ultimately low cardiac output will likely occur.

Due to the complexity involved in the evaluation of diastolic function, no single parameter holds particular significance when making a diagnosis; instead, a case for grading diastolic function is built depending on multiple parameters (Morrissey, 2016). For example, Mitral valve inflow patterns can be determined based on parameters like peak E wave (early phase) and peak A wave (late phase) velocity, E/A ratio, and also mitral valve deceleration time. Likewise, filling pressures might be alluded to by measuring parameters such as TR velocity and E/e ratio (Morrissey, 2016). Grading of diastolic dysfunction is based on conclusions drawn from the observation of such parameters (as per Table 1-1) (Kossaify & Nasr, 2019; Nagueh et al., 2016). Guidelines for appropriate grading state that patients must first be evaluated to ascertain whether LVEF is preserved or affected. Different algorithms for the interpretation of parameters need to be followed in each case to establish pressure status and grade (Morrisey, 2016; Nagueh et al., 2016).
Table 1-1. Grading of diastolic dysfunction.

Grade	Echocardiographic observation
Grade I	Impaired relaxation and subsequent reduced suction of the ventricle during early phase filling
Grade II	Increased stiffness of the ventricle, and pseudonormalisation of transmitral flow patterns can be seen as a result of elevated filling pressures
Grade III	Restrictive filling and significantly reduced compliance of the ventricle, along with elevated filling pressures

1.1.6 Pathological mediators of CAD

In reality, the processes involved in both vascular and myocardial remodelling which ultimately leads to dysfunction are more extensive and complex than is described here. However, a key mediator of CAD that drives many of these pathobiological aspects is inflammation. Inflammation plays a central role in the development of CAD and other cardiovascular diseases, on both local and systemic levels. So much so that inflammatory biomarkers have been shown to be predictive of CVD's. Conditions including previously described risk factors, pathogenic infection, autoimmune disease, and phycological stress can promote endothelial damage (Henein et al., 2022; Grover-Páez & Zavalza-Gómez, 2009); A maladaptive response can often result in chronic inflammatory activation that leads to atherogenesis/plaque development.

All phases of CAD development involve an elaborate network including innate and adaptive immune response. The activity – whether that be pro- or anti-inflammatory – of protein mediators and immune cells is modulated in a way that can either propagate or mitigate disease development (Jebari-Benslaiman et al., 2022). For example, phenotypic differentiation of macrophages - which may exert opposing effects - is dependent on the presence of other immune cells or inflammatory mediators: T helper (Th) cells generally influence differentiation into the M1 phenotype, which is pro-inflammatory/pro-atherogenic;

T regulatory (Treg) cells, however, induce the M2 phenotype, which is 'resolving' or antiinflammatory (Tabas & Lichtman, 2017). In the former context, the occurrence of various other pro-atherogenic processes may also contribute to the inflammatory environment (Henein et al., 2022; Wesseling et al., 2018) to influence the progression of disease.

Cytokines are an integral part of inflammatory signalling in CAD. Epithelial cells undergo a functional reprogramming when exposed to cytokines, particularly during chronic inflammation. These proteins are generated by components of the inflammatory network such as T-lymphocytes, dendritic cells, macrophages, as well as SMCs and ECs. Proinflammatory cytokines in high concentrations can downregulate nitric oxide synthase, induce oxidative stress (OS), and provoke EC apoptosis (Kofler et al., 2005). One of the many ways that pro-inflammatory cytokines (such as TNF α and IL-1b) might promote atherogenesis is through induced expression of adhesion molecules ((VCAM)-1 – which is a cell adhesion molecule-, and intracellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1) within the activated endothelium. These cytokines can also induce hepatic production of C-reactive protein, and the activation of LOX-1 (an endothelial transmembrane receptor for oxLDL) (Zhang, 2008). Each of these contribute to further lipid accumulation, recruitment/infiltration of circulating leukocytes, and therefore foam cell formation (Henein et al., 2022; Raggi et al., 2017). Additionally, cytokines influence fibrous cap composition and stability; TNF α and IL-1b can affect the regulation of mRNA's which, in turn, induce the secretion of particular metalloproteinases (MMPs) from macrophages. These are a family of endopeptidases where, in this context, catalyse the degradation of collagen within the fibrous cap and increase the risk of thrombosis (Henein et al., 2022; Kowara et al., 2017).

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are also important mediators in physiological and pathological cell signalling, and they are heavily involved in the chronic state of inflammation seen in CAD. Their interaction with cytokines, certain signalling pathways (such as MAPKs), activation of transcription factors, and their role in mitochondrial dysfunction often has pathological consequences in the context of CAD. The interplay between ROS and these processes described above help to facilitate endothelial dysfunction, atherosclerosis, myocardial dysfunction, and myocardial remodelling (Elahi et al., 2000). Examples of such will be discussed in more detail in section 1.3.



Positive feedback

Figure 1-6. Inflammatory mediators involved during the early development of atherosclerosis. WSS: wall shear stress. VCAM-1: vascular cell adhesion molecule. ICAM-1: intercellular adhesion molecule. (Henein et al., 2022).

To summarise, the pro-atherogenic relationship between lipid acquisition/retention within the plaque and inflammation is a fundamental element of CAD. Modified lipids activate various cells of the immune system and begin an inflammatory cascade that is modulated by many different cytokines, chemokines, and other soluble factors (Henein et al., 2022). In turn, these affect almost all aspects of plaque composition, development, ECM activity, and ROS generation that continuously propagate this unresolved cycle of inflammation (Figure 1-6). The significance of this inflammatory involvement in CAD can also be corroborated by the fact that the anti-inflammatory effects of some drugs used to treat and manage the disease can provide the greatest benefit to the patient. For example, the reduction in vascular inflammation seen following treatment with statins may be more conducive than their action in lowering levels of LDLs (Henein et al., 2022; Diamantis et al., 2017). Gaining a thorough understanding of these inflammatory mechanisms may help to uncover therapeutic opportunities to lower the burden of CAD (Henein et al., 2022).

$1.2 \text{ TNF}\alpha$

1.2.1 What is TNFα?

Cytokines are pleiotropic proteins that are heavily implicated in the inflammatory response and atherosclerosis. TNF α is a proinflammatory cytokine often produced by macrophages and various cell types during acute inflammation, and is responsible for a diverse range of signalling cascades - frequently leading to necrotic injury and apoptosis (Medina-leyte et al., 2021). TNF α typically binds two receptors: TNFR-1 and TNFR-2 (Idriss & Naismith, 2000). Many of the TNF α signalling pathways are initiated through the binding of TNFR-1 and are mediated through an intracellular 'death domain'. TNFR-2 may indirectly mediate TNFR-1 signalling through the activation of endogenous TNF α , leading to subsequent autotropic or paratropic TNFR-1 activation (Idriss & Naismith, 2000; Grell et al., 1999). However, binding of each receptor can activate signalling pathways that confer contradictory roles: beneficial functions include tumour resistance, protection against infectious agents, and immune stimulation (via activation of monocytes, neutrophils, platelets, and enhanced NK cell killing ability); on the other hand, excessive TNF α circulation can amplify infection pathology, which may prove fatal (Idriss & Naismith, 2000; Fiers, 1991).

1.2.1.1 TNFα signalling

One of the major pathways activated in TNFα signalling is the NF-KB pathway (Morgan & Liu, 2010; Vallabhapurapu & Karin, 2009). It is often associated with cell survival and involves a process whereby TNFα facilitates the translocation of the NF-KB transcription factor into the nucleus (Morgan & Liu, 2010; Vallabhapurapu & Karin, 2009). This involves the recruitment of a signalling complex called IKK. This complex is subsequently activated by a number of enzymes, resulting in IKK induced phosphorylation/dissociation of a protein (IKBa) associated with the P105/NK-KB gene product. With this, the IKBa nuclear export signal is lost, and the P105/NF-KB complex is free to move into the nucleus and activate transcription (Morgan & Liu, 2010; Devin et al., 2000). Ensuing transcription of associated genes lead to physiological immune responses such as cell proliferation and survival. In circumstances where NF-KB activity is depleted or inhibited, TNFR-1 has been shown to initiate cell death via apoptosis or necrosis (Dondelinger et al., 2015).

The MAPK pathways are also significant in TNFR-1 signalling (Morgan & Liu, 2010). These include ERK, JNK, and P38 MAPKs, and their initiation is largely dependent on a key TNFR-1 signalling molecule known as TRAF-2 (Morgan & Liu, 2010; Devin et al., 2003). All three are known to act on multiple cellular targets that exert pro-death and pro-survival effects. However, ERK is most often associated with pro-survival action (Morgan & Liu, 2010).

Downstream activation of JNK is facilitated through the overexpression of various dominant negative molecules (such as ASK1) which interact with TRAF2 in a stimulation dependent manner (Morgan & Liu, 2010; Tobiume et al., 2001). JNK signalling is believed to have both pro-apoptotic and anti-apoptotic effects; these might be carried out by inducing the upregulation of pro-apoptotic genes or by influencing pro- and anti-apoptotic mitochondrial proteins (Morgan & Liu, 2010).

The P38 pathway, on the other hand, is initiated through the activity of RIP (receptorinteracting protein) – a death domain kinase associated with TNFR-1 (Devin et al., 2003). P38 plays a significant role in pro-inflammatory cytokine production, induction of enzymes involved in connective tissue remodelling, and expression regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) (Rolski & Błyszczuk, 2020). Crosstalk between the pathways mentioned can modulate their effects. An example of this is between NF-KB and JNK, where NF-KB helps to prevent sustained activation of JNK, thus mitigating its potentially pathological effects (Rolski & Błyszczuk, 2020). In a similar way, increased ROS production can also result in NF-KB-induced expression of antioxidant proteins, but in other cases can lead to further ROS production and cellular damage (Blaser et al., 2016).



Figure 1-7. TNF α **signalling pathways.** Outline of the downstream pathways involved in TNF α signalling, including those mediated by TNFR1 and TNFR2 (Rolski & Błyszczuk, 2020).

Low levels of ROS also have a regulatory function in TNFR-1 signalling. However, excessive ROS accumulation will typically lead to dysfunction, DMA damage, and cell death. TNFa can directly influence the activity of three primary sources of cellular ROS (Blaser et al., 2016). For instance, mitochondrial ROS are produced physiologically

during oxidative metabolism and ATP production. However, TNFa induced ROS can promote further mitochondrial ROS production in response, thus creating a positive feedback loop between the two (Blaser et al., 2016; Morgan & Liu, 2010). TNFa can also facilitate the cellular capacity for ROS production via certain TNFa signalling events (such as those involved in P38 MAPK activation), where NADPH oxidase constituents may be upregulated, or NADPH oxidase activity is modulated through the phosphorylation of component proteins such as P47phox (Morgan & Liu, 2010). A multitude of other enzymes involved in ROS production, albeit to a lesser extent, can also contribute to TNFa-induced ROS accumulation or oxidative stress. These include lipoxidases, xanthine oxidase, and cyclooxygenases, among others (Morgan & Liu, 2010),

1.2.2 Role of TNF α in CAD

1.2.2.1 TNFa and Endothelial dysfunction

The signalling events described above are known to support atherogenesis, lesion development, vascular inflammation and remodelling, ROS production, EC apoptosis, and thrombosis (Zhang et al., 2009). Aside from those highlighted in sections 1.1.6 and 1.2.1.1, a significant way in which TNF α can exert potentially deleterious effects on the endothelium is through its regulation of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) expression, and thus subsequent bioavailability of nitric oxide (NO). Of particular importance is TNF α -induced downregulation of the isoform eNOS (expressed by EC's) and the subsequent decrease in NO availability (Zhang et al., 2009). To reiterate, this can reduce vascular capacity for vasodilation and increase endothelial vulnerability to mechanical stress. One of the several mechanisms that have been proposed to account for this apparent downregulation is that TNF α can increase the rate of associated mRNA degradation (Yoshizumi et al., 1993). In addition, other studies have demonstrated that $TNF\alpha$'s involvement in NO regulation may be actioned via the citrulline/NO cycle; decreased mRNA and protein expression of argininosuccinate synthase (ASS) (a key protein mediator of the cycle that produces NO) directly resulted in reduced NO availability (Zhang et al., 2009; Gao et al., 2007). With this being said, it should also be mentioned that TNF α may have a paradoxical role in eNOS modulation. Some data suggests that TNF α can in fact activate eNOS to further increase NO production and protect against TNF α -induced apoptosis (Bulotta et al., 2001). De Palmer et al (2006) demonstrated a

potential mechanism where neutral-sphingomyelinase-2 (N-SMase2) was activated by TNF α , followed by sphingosine-kinase-1 (SK1) activation and production of sphingosine-1-phosphate (Sph1P). Inhibition of these pathway messengers prevented eNOS activation. This TNF α -mediated activation of eNOS increased NO production and decreased E-selectin expression (thereby reducing dendritic cell adhesion to the endothelium) in human endothelial cells. However, the evidence to suggest that TNF α reduces NO availability seems to be more robust. and enhances leukocyte extravasation through increased expression of adhesion molecules. This discrepancy in vascular NO can be exacerbated by the production of ROS (Zhang et al., 2009).

There is evidence that multiple CAD risk factors such as obesity, smoking, and physical inactivity play a part in modulating TNF α signalling, which may contribute to their effect on endothelial dysfunction and CAD development. Moreover, some risk factor management strategies (regular exercise, dietary supplementation) can mitigate the potential for endothelial dysfunction by inhibiting TNF α signalling or production (Zhang et al., 2009). TNF α appears to play a particularly significant role in the relationship between inflammation and lipid metabolism, and therefore intravascular lipid accumulation and vascular dysfunction. Specifically, a relationship between TNF α and hyperlipidaemia has been observed (Popa et al., 2007); TNF α serum concentrations have been seen to fluctuate in accordance with dietary cholesterol. Correlations have been shown to exist between TNFa and very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL), LDL cholesterol, and triglycerides, whilst a negative relationship is observed with HDL cholesterol levels (Popa et al., 2007). Likewise, the anti-inflammatory benefits of lipid-lowering statins have been demonstrated when targeting TNFa. TNFa induced activation of NF-KB, generation of ROS, and adhesion molecule upregulation was abated in human aortic endothelial cells following treatment with atorvastatin (Wu et al., 2013). Statins and fibrates have also been shown to ameliorate elevated TNF levels in patients with type IIa and IIb dyslipidaemia patients (Jovinge et al., 1998).

1.2.2.2 TNFa and Myocardial dysfunction

Under physiological conditions, cardiomyocytes do not express TNF α . However, these cells can elaborate TNF α in response to stress (Levine et al., 1990), and this cytokine has been implicated in cardiac remodelling on both a global and cellular level (Sun et al., 2007). As

mentioned in previous sections, pressure overload (occurring as a result of vascular stenosis and hypertension) for example can lead to concentric remodelling of the myocardium - in this situation, TNFα expression is upregulated (Sun et al., 2007). This could suggest a potentially significant role in the processes that characterise cardiac remodelling such as inflammation, fibrosis, hypertrophy, and apoptosis (Sun et al., 2007; Kassiri et al., 2005). Sun et al (2007) used aortic banding on C57/BL wild-type (WT) and TNF-knockout (TNF^{-/-}) mice to model pressure overload and subsequent remodelling. In WT mice, rates of apoptosis in cardiomyocytes were significantly increased, whilst this affect was attenuated in (TNF^{-/-}) mice. This coincided with elevated levels of caspase 8 levels in the WT group, suggesting caspase activation during TNF α signalling within the myocardium in response to pressure overload. Similar results were seen in these WT mice when examining fibrosis and hypertrophy: increased levels of focal fibrosis were seen, along with increased expression of transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) and connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) in comparison to (TNF^{-/-}) mice; pump function was further reduced in WT mice compared with (TNF^{-/-}) mice, indicating that TNF signalling is involved in LV hypertrophy and the resultant loss of contractile function. In addition, the upregulation of MMPs and corresponding matrix dysregulation/degradation could also be seen in the WT mice.

Similar findings have been shown in post-infarcted models. Infarcted (TNF^{-/-}) phenotype models also demonstrated less extensive infarct/peri-infarct zones, reduced expression of intracellular adhesion molecules, and decreased infiltration of inflammatory cells into the myocardium (Sato et al., 2006). Particular knockout of TNFR-1 (Tnfrsf1a ^{-/-}) reduced NF-KB activation, preserved LV function (Rolski & Blyszczuk, 2020; Hamid et al., 2009), and increased survival (Rolski & Blyszczuk, 2020; Monden et al., 2006). Thus, it is plausible that local production of TNF α might significantly modulate the processes leading to cardiac remodelling, and ultimately the functionality of the heart in CAD.

1.2.2.3 TNFα and Contractility

The impairment of cardiomyocyte contractility following ischemic injury can be attributed to the significant generation of oxygen radicals (oxidative stress) and increased cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ concentrations – both of which have been found to be mediated by TNF α (Tian et al., 2015).

Inotropic effects have been observed when investigating $\text{TNF}\alpha$ induced alterations in Ca^{2+} handling, and this has been demonstrated in multiple studies using animal models and human primary cardiomyocytes (Duncan et al., 2007; Yokoyama et al., 1993; Oral et al., 1997). In human iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes for example, TNFα treatment provoked an increase in cellular ROS and caspase dependent apoptosis. Alongside, incidence of abnormal calcium transients and calcium sparks were detected – the latter of which are Ca²⁺ release events from the SR, resulting in SR calcium leakage, reduced SR content, and increased baseline cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ (Saraf et al., 2020). Not only can this reduce contractility as discussed in section 1.1.3.4, but can propagate the activation of arrhythmogenic contraction (Saraf et al., 2020). In addition to this, TNFα treatment can also been shown to induce differential expression of multiple ion channels, such as downregulated SERCA-associated ATP2A2 and ATP2A3, NCX, and RYR2 (Saraf et al., 2021), further contributing to the potential for dysregulated Ca²⁺ cycling. Rabit models have demonstrated decreased contractility in response to prolonged TNF α exposure (Goldhaber et al., 1996). Here, TNF α induces production of myocardial NO, resulting in reduced Ca²⁺ influx through the inhibition of voltage gated Ca²⁺ channels and decreased myofilament sensitivity (Saini et al., 2005; Finkel et al., 1992; Goldhaber et al., 1996). In a similar way, TNFα treatment has been shown to depress cardiac contractile function in rat cardiomyocytes - again, where a reduction in SR Ca²+ content produced a reduction in intracellular calcium and therefore myocyte shortening (Greensmith & Nirmalan, 2023). Cailleret et al (2004) observed similar effects through a reduction in the rate of calcium induced calcium release - a process which appears to be mediated by the sphingosine phospholipid. These effects could be attenuated with Nacetylcysteine (NAC), which suggests that $TNF\alpha$'s effects on contractility can be exerted through its pro-oxidant activities (Cailleret at al., 2004).

1.3 ROS

The term reactive oxygen species is used to describe oxygen radicals containing one or more unpaired electrons (such as superoxide, Hydroperoxyl, pyroxyl, and hydroxyl radicals), along with other non-radical oxidising agents such as H₂O₂. Due to the highly reactive nature of ROS, they interact with most molecules; this can lead to dysfunction or damage to cellular

constituents such as DNA, proteins, and membrane lipids (Bayir, 2005). Under physiological conditions, cellular ROS are produced and involved in various cellular processes, including mitochondrial ATP production and electron transport, signal transduction, enzymatic reactions, gene expression, activation of transcription factors, and antimicrobial defence. ROS mediated damage is mitigated by a number of antioxidant proteins and their relative substrates (Hong et al., 2024). Maintaining this cellular redox state is crucial in avoiding ROS accumulation and the pathological state of oxidative stress (Bayir, 2005).

1.3.1 Cellular sources of Reactive Oxygen Species

There are three main sources of cellular ROS: NADPH oxidase; the mitochondria; and enzymatic reactions involving lipoxidases, xanthine oxidase, and cyclooxygenases, amongst others. NADPH oxidase is a membrane bound protein complex that uses NADPH to reduce molecular oxygen, thus generating superoxide radicals (Blaser et al., 2016). NADPH oxidase is typically expressed by leukocytes to aid in the defence against pathogenic agents by exerting oxidative damage (Frey et al., 2009). However, leukocyte activation can often occur in response to pro-inflammatory mediators such as TNF α , leading to the recruitment and activation of associated NADPH oxidases. These protein complexes are also expressed in vascular ECs, fibroblasts, and SMCs (Bayir, 2006; Frey et al., 2009).

The mitochondria are another prominent source of potential ROS production. This is where the vast majority of cellular oxygen is reduced via electron carriers during mitochondrial metabolism and ATP synthesis; the metabolic products of the Krebs cycle (NADH and FADH₂) transfer electrons through the electron transport chain (ETC) – this, along with the subsequent efflux of protons, drives the production of ATP Via ATP synthase activation (Chen & Butow, 2005). The ETC comprises four complexes located on the inner mitochondrial membrane. Complex I and III are the main sources of O_2^- production, particularly in the context of ischemia/reperfusion injury within the heart. Damage to either of these complexes have shown to result in enhanced production of O_2^- , leading to mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress, and cell death (Kang et al., 2018). However, mitochondrial inner membrane is altered (Bayir, 2006; Nohl et al., 2005). Under physiological circumstances, the action of superoxide dismutase and catalases can remove subsequently formed superoxide and H₂O₂ (Boveris et al., 1972).

Finally, certain enzymatic reactions might contribute towards the production of cellular ROS. One example is Xanthine oxidase (XO), which is an oxidised form of Xanthine oxidoreductase (XOR). XOR – in either of its forms, including XO – catalyses several steps of the purine degradation pathway (Seyshell et al., 2024), whereby H₂O₂ and superoxide is produced as a byproduct. Expression of XOR/XO is typically localised in endothelial and epithelial cells, however physiological expression levels are low but can be upregulated in response to certain pro-inflammatory mediators or hypoxia (Bayir, 2006; Berry & Hare, 2004).

The classical pathway for the removal of superoxide and H₂O₂ is outlined below (Fig 1-8).



Figure 1-8. Key enzymes involved in the production and removal of cellular ROS. NADPH Oxidase and Xanthine oxidase produce radicals such as superoxide, removal of which is facilitated by the activity of antioxidant proteins (Bayir, 2006).

Superoxide dismutase (SOD) initially facilitates this removal by converting superoxide into H_2O_2 and O_2 (Figure 1-9).

Figure 1-9. SOD-facilitated removal of superoxide. (Bayir, 2006).

 H_2O_2 is then removed by the action of either catalases or peroxidases to form O_2 and $2H_2O$, or $2H_2O$, respectively:

$$2H_2O_2 \xrightarrow{Catalase} 2H_2O+O_2$$
$$H_2O_2 \xrightarrow{Peroxidase} H_2O$$

Figure 1-10. catalase and peroxidase facilitated removal of H₂O₂. (Bayir, 2006).

The latter reaction depicted in Figure 1-10 also uses various reductants to reduce H_2O_2 to H_2O , such as glutathione, thioredoxin, and ascorbate (Halliwell & Gutteridge, 1985; Bayir, 2006).

1.3.2 Oxidative Stress

The accumulation of oxidants, or ROS, or a depletion of antioxidants can alter the cellular redox state and leave molecular targets susceptible to oxidative damage. Failure to remove O_2^- or H_2O_2 results in further the generation of highly reactive radicals, such as the particularly reactive hydroxyl radical (OH-). Reactions between superoxide (O_2^-) or H_2O_2 and transition metals such as Fe(II) and Cu(I) facilitate this ROS production which often leads to oxidative stress (Figure 1-11) (Bayir, 2006).

Resultant DNA damage can manifest as DNA single strand breaks, DNA base damage, cross link formation between DNA and proteins, and guanine hydroxylation (Bayir, 2006; Cadet et al., 1994). Lipid cell membranes are also a frequent target of oxidative attack. Peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acid chains ultimately leads to further formation of peroxyl radicals, which can then propagate these damaging effects to adjacent membrane lipids as well as target nearby membrane proteins. As a consequence, membrane fluidity and integrity may be compromised. Likewise, various types of oxidative protein modification may lead to loss of function and enzyme inhibition (Bayir, 2006).



Figure 1-11. Oxidative stress. When the cellular redox state is altered, ROS production may exceed antioxidant capacity. In this context, reactions between various transition metals and O_2^- or H_2O_2 facilitate the production of highly reactive species such as the hydroxyl radical. ROS accumulation will then exert oxidative damage on molecular targets (Bayir, 2006).

1.3.3 The role of ROS in CAD

It has been well established that ROS play a fundamental role in the progression of cardiovascular disease, and CAD in particular; ROS and their involvement in various intracellular signalling cascades can be implicated in multiple stages of CAD progression or complications associated with the disease, including endothelial dysfunction, atherosclerosis, and ischemic/reperfusion injury (Panth et al., 2016).

1.3.3.1 ROS and endothelial dysfunction

In terms of endothelial dysfunction, accumulation of ROS can directly lead to oxidative damage, or mediate signalling cascades that have deleterious effects on the functionality of the endothelium. An example of this is the activation of NF-KB to initiate a signalling cascade that upregulates the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines like TNF α , thus propagating further ROS production (Forrester et al., 2018). Here, inflammatory mediators can induce EC and leukocyte production of O₂⁻ via the activation of Xanthine oxidase, mitochondrial oxidase, NOS, and NADPH oxidase (Panth et al., 2016).

The latter appears to be the primary source in various models of vascular disease and are prevalent in human vessels and atherosclerotic coronary arteries. In the context of diabetes, elevated basal levels of O_2^- correspond with increased expression of NADPH oxidase subunits including the previously mentioned p47Phox, which suggests that higher levels of oxidative stress might be a fundamental factor responsible for heightened CAD severity in these

patients (Brown et al., 2021; Zhang, 2008). Furthermore, oxidative stress in the setting of hyperglycaemia can induce the production of advanced glycation end (AGE) products, which also serve as ligands to activate the receptor for AGEs (RAGE). By themselves, AGEs can directly alter the framework of the vessel wall; reduced elasticity can arise due to the formation of AGE-induced intermolecular crosslinks and subsequent capture of plasma components (Bachschmid et al., 2012). However, signalling events following RAGE binding exert pro-coagulant and pro-inflammatory effects. Such signalling events include NADPH oxidase activation; NF-KB and MAPK signalling; and increased expression of TNF α , adhesion molecules, and tissue factor (TF) (Zhang, 2008) – many of which exacerbate the production ROS and perpetuate the cycle between inflammation and oxidative stress in the dysfunctional endothelium. It has also been demonstrated that NADPH oxidase-dependant pathways/generation of ROS is required for the upregulation MCP-1 and VCAM-1 in ECs, particularly in relation to TNF α -induced upregulation of these proteins (Chen et al., 2004).

ROS can also facilitate the production of reactive nitrogen species (RNS), which have similar physiological and pathological roles as ROS. As previously discussed, NO generally has protective, vasodilatory effects. In the presence of O_2^- , however, reactions between the two can produce highly reactive intermediates such as peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻). In high concentrations, RNS such as ONOO- exert nitrosative damage on various biomolecules and proteins resulting in subsequent loss of function (Alhayaza et al., 2020; Drew & Leeuwenburgh, 2002). Even excessive NO production has been linked to further production of ROS/RNS, particularly through the suppression of cytochrome c oxidase (which function to reduce molecular oxygen to water) (Alhayaza et al., 2020; Bolisetty & Jaimes, 2013).

1.3.3.2 ROS and myocardial dysfunction

Many of the hypertrophy-inducing pathways that may be activated by genetic and extracellular stimuli – some of which have already been highlighted –are directly and indirectly mediated by ROS, via their action to activate signal transduction factors within these respective pathways. Examples include NF-KB, MAPKs, and tyrosine kinase pathways, which are stimulated by the likes of TNF α and angiotensin II (Ang II) (Moris et al., 2017). The latter, for instance, induces the production of ROS following G-coupled receptor binding. The resultant hypertrophic effects of angiotensin II are affected largely by ROS-mediated kinases;

Ang II-induced upregulation of β -MHC is contingent upon ROS-dependent activation of ERK (Moris et al., 2017; Shih et al., 2001).

Additionally, interstitial fibrosis that occurs following cardiac fibroblast activation has been found to be closely associated activation of NADPH oxidase - particularly NOX 2 (Moris et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2009). As well the pro-fibrotic effects NOX2, NADPH oxidase inhibition (and thus inhibition of associated production of ROS) has been shown to have positive inotropic effects to improve contractility, which was facilitated by enhanced phospholamban phosphorylation (Moris et al., 2017; Kubin et al., 2011). This demonstrates that ROS could potentially directly affect cardiac contractile function.

The pathogenic interplay between mitochondrial dysfunction and ROS production is particularly damaging within the ischemic or failing myocardium. Not only are mitochondria abundant in cardiomyocytes to meet the high demand for ATP production, but these organelles are also heavily involved in Ca²⁺ handling and cellular viability within the heart. Since mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) is in close proximity to the respiratory chain, it is especially susceptible to ROS-induced damage or mutation. Eventually, the accumulation of such mutations may result in decreased production of proteins encoded by mtDNA and insufficient production of ATP. This process, in turn, promotes further generation of ROS and perpetuates this destructive cycle (Bou-Teen et al., 2021; Tsutsui et al., 2006). In addition, mtDNA mutations present as damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and activate various pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) (including toll-like receptors [TLRs]). This triggers a state of chronic-sterile inflammation within the heart; production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and recruitment of immune cells contribute to myocardial damage in response to ischemic injury and is implicated in the development of heart failure (Nakayama & Otsu, 2018).

The relationship between acute I/R injury and the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) is well studied. During increased mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake/Ca²⁺ overload, oxidative stress signalling, and ATP depletion, the mPTP tends to open. In such conditions which often characterise myocardial cellular dysfunction, opening of the mTP allows the influx of water and various solutes to enter the mitochondrial matrix. Mitochondrial swelling, along with the release of cytochrome c and other mediators of apoptosis, then induce cell death following ischemic injury (Dridi et al., 2023; Li et al., 2010). mtDNA release that occurs in this way can

also sustain the state of sterile inflammation described above. Although mPTP opening is not dependent on the production of ROS, the adverse effects of both on mitochondrial dysfunction appear to be concurrent (Mendoza et al., 2024; Haworth & Hunter, 1979). It is not surprising, therefore, that the action of antioxidants and mPTP inhibitors are being explored as therapeutic targets against mitochondrial damage (Su et al., 2022). These, along with enhanced mitochondrial production of ROS, erroneous activation of MAPKs, and Ca²⁺ dysregulation are perhaps one of the most significant pathobiological factors affecting cardiomyocyte viability and myocardial function following ischemic injury (Sucher et al., 2009).

1.4 Aims and Objectives

The evidence for the involvement of TNF α in myocardial function is compelling. It is clear that the role of this pro-inflammatory cytokine is multifactorial, complex, and even sometimes paradoxical. However, oxidative stress appears to be an elemental consequence of TNF α signalling that leads to injury and dysfunction. This has been well established with suprapathological and -physiological treatments in various models, however more research is needed to investigate these potential effects on both cellular and global levels in a clinically relevant context.

This study aimed to quantify plasma TNF α levels in a CAD patient cohort whilst correlating to indices of cardiac function. With the main aim to determine the value of TNF α as a biomarker for CAD. Additionally, it aimed to investigate the role of clinically relevant TNF α levels in a CAD cohort on oxidative stress.

The main aims of this study were:

1. Quantify plasma levels of TNF α in a CAD patient cohort.

2. Correlate quantified TNF α levels to indices of cardiac function.

3. Determine whether clinically relevant TNF α concentrations can elevate intracellular oxidative stress.

2. Methods

2.1 Study Design

This project was carried out as part of the wider clinical study, CAVCAD, which aims to describe cardiac cellular function in a CAD patient cohort.

Specifically, this project quantified plasma levels of TNF α in a cohort of 66 patients and sought to identify potential correlates with indices of cardiac function obtained through echocardiographic assessment. Alongside this, the effects of TNF α on cellular oxidative stress within a H9C2 rat myoblast cell line model was also investigated.

2.1.1 Ethical considerations

CAVCAD is approved by IRAS (ID: 247341). Local ethical approval was also obtained from the University of Salford (review code 3392).

2.1.2 Patient recruitment

Patients that were scheduled for coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery were recruited to take part in the study during pre-operative evaluation at Blackpool Victoria Hospital (BVH). Inclusion criteria were as follows: patients previously diagnosed with CAD, scheduled for revascularisation (CABG) surgery, >18 years of age, and either gender was recruited. Consent was obtained from participants prior to surgery upon completion of the patient consent form (appendix A). Subsequent samples and data were completely anonymised. Pre-surgical samples were then collected; 10ml of blood was collected from each patient and stored in an EDTA tube at 4°C. Echo data was collected during the pre-operative assessment.

2.2 Sample preparation

Blood samples were then transferred from the EDTA coated tube into a 15 ml falcon tube. These were subsequently centrifuged at 2000xg for 5 minutes to isolate blood constituents; plasma was appropriately aliquoted into cryovials and stored at -80°C.

2.3 Quantification of TNF α levels using ELISA

High sensitivity sandwich ELISA kits (Thermofisher, USA; product code: BMS223HS) were used to quantify plasma TNF α levels, with a detectable range between 0.31 - 20 pg/ml. All reagents were allowed to come to room temperature prior to use and then diluted according to manufacturer instructions when required.

2.3.1 Standard curve generation

A standard curve was generated using the absorbance from a series of known, serially diluted concentrations. From this, the unknown TNF α levels of patients were extrapolated. Known standards were prepared by first reconstituting the lyophilised control with distilled water for 10-30 minutes, with continued agitation to ensure homogenous solubilisation. The solubilised control was pre-diluted 1:20 in sample diluent. Then, 225µl of the pre-diluted standard (40pg/ml) was added to the first tube and mixed to obtain the first standard at a concentration of 20pg/ml. The serial dilution was repeated a further 6 times in this way to create the points of the standard curve (Table 2-1). The final Eppendorf contained only sample diluent to serve as a blank negative control (0pg/ml). Absorbance levels were measured at 450 nm and background wavelength was measured at 620 nm using FLUOstar Omega plate reader (BMG LabTech Germany). Background absorbance levels were subtracted. Average absorbance values for each standard were calculated, and a standard curve (Figure 2-1) was plotted for TNF α .

Standard	Standard Dilution	Concentration (pg/ml)	
1	1:2	20	
2	1:4	10	
3	1:8	5	
4	1:16	2.5	
5	1:32	1.25	
6	1:64	0.63	
7	1:128	0.31	
8 (negative control)	No dilution	Blank	

Table 2-1: TNFα ELISA standard concentrations.

2.3.2 Experimental protocol

Patient plasma samples were removed from the freezer and allowed to thaw at room temperature. Microwell strip(s) were then washed twice with 400µl of prepared (1X) wash buffer per well. Samples were vortexed and then added to the microwell plate in duplicate (100µl per experimental well). Biotin conjugate was prepared before adding 50µl to each sample well. Microwell strips were covered with adhesive film and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature on a microplate shaker.

Following this initial incubation period, Streptavidin-HRP was prepared (Appendix B) immediately prior to use. Sample wells were aspirated and washed 6 times. 100µl of diluted streptavidin-HRP was added to all wells and covered with adhesive film to incubate for 1 hour on a microplate shaker at room temperature.

Amplification diluent (1X) and Amplification Solution 1 were prepared immediately prior to use. Adhesive film was removed, and wells were again aspirated before being washed 6 times. 100µl of amplification solution 1 was then added to sample wells, before being incubated in previously described conditions for 15 minutes. Amplification solution 2 was prepared immediately prior to use, and wells were aspirated and washed a further 6 times. 100μ I of amplification solution 2 was then added to sample wells and incubated for a further 30 minutes.

Following this, sample wells were again washed 6 times and 100µl of tetramethyl-benzidine (TMB) substrate solution was added to wells. These were incubated for 10-20 minutes without exposure to direct light, before addition of 100µl of Stop solution was added to each well to stop the enzymatic reaction (indicated by a colour change from blue to yellow). Wells were read immediately on the microplate reader.

2.3.3 Quantification of TNF α levels

Using the average absorbance values measured from each patient sample, plasma concentrations were then extrapolated from the standard curve (Appendix C). TNF α concentrations generated were subsequently compared to clinical parameters (Appendices D and E) on a patient-to-patient basis to determine whether measured TNF α levels correlated with cardiac function.



Figure 2-1: TNFα ELISA standard curve. Data are displayed as the mean with 95% Cl.

2.4 Cell culture (H9C2 rat cardiac myoblast cell line)

The H9C2 rat cardiac myoblast cell line was purchased from Public Health England (UK) (CRL-1446). Cell culturing protocols and experimentation were performed in a class II biological safety cabinet (NuAire, USA) under aseptic conditions, and the cell line was maintained in an incubator (NuAire, USA) at 37°C with 95% air/5 % CO₂.

Cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Gibco, UK), which was supplemented with 10 % foetal bovine serum (FBS) (Gibco, UK) and 1% penicillin-streptomycin (10,000 units/ml and 10,000 μ g/ml) (Gibco, UK). Cells were sub-cultured in T175 (175 cm3 surface area) cell culture flasks until confluency reached 70-80%. Cells were sub-cultured/passaged at a ratio of 1:3, typically every three days with the addition of fresh media. Cells were seeded at a density of 25,000 cells per well for experimentation during the subculturing procedure

2.4.1 Dissociation of H9C2 cell line

Cells were washed using 10ml of phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (Sigma, USA) once confluency was reached before treatment with 7 ml of Trypsin-EDTA solution (Gibco, UK) at 37°C. After approximately 5 minutes, cells were observed to confirm detachment of the monolayer. Once cells had sufficiently detached, completed media was added to neutralise the Trypsin. This suspension was then centrifuged at 125 xg for 5 minutes. The cell pellet was resuspended in 5ml of complete media for appropriate sub-culturing.

2.4.2 Cell counting

Cell counts were performed using a haemocytometer to determine the volume of suspension needed to seed plates at the desired density. 10 μ l of cell suspension was resuspended with 0.4% trypan blue solution (Gibco, UK) at a 1:1 ratio. 10 μ l of this mixture was added to a haemocytometer and the cell count was performed using a Leica DM500 microscope (Leica, Germany) (magnification X40). Non-viable cells (those which took up the blue dye) were excluded. Average cell count of the grid squares included were calculated and multiplied by the dilution factor of trypan blue (factor of 2), before then multiplying by x10⁴ to give the total

cell count per ml of suspension. The volume of suspension needed to seed wells at the required density could then be calculated.

2.5 Measurement of cellular ROS

Cells were seeded in a 96 well black clear bottom plate (Fisher Scientific, USA) at a density of 25,000 cells per well before a 24hr incubation period to allow cell attachment. Afterwards, media was removed, and experimental wells were pre-treated with a clinically relevant (2.6 pg/ml) or supraphysiological (50 ng/ml) concentration of rat TNF α (PeproTech). Media was replaced in cells not treated with the cytokine. Following an incubation period of 1 or 24 hours, relevant wells (Figure 2-2) were loaded with 100 µl of CM-H₂DCFDA (5 µM) for 30 minutes. Media was replaced accordingly in unstained wells. Supernatant was subsequently removed from each well following incubation, and treatment with hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) was applied to the wells treated in synergy before further incubation for 30 minutes. Media only was used throughout on stained and unstained controls. Fluorescence intensity was detected at an excitation wavelength of 485 nm and emission wavelength of 520 nm using FLUOstar Omega plate reader (BMG LabTech Germany).





2.6 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 9 (GraphPad Software, Inc, USA). Shapiro-Wilk normality testing was performed to assess data distribution. Normally distributed data was analysed using the parametric Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient (Pearsons) to measure the linear correlation between indices of cardiac function and plasma TNF α concentrations. EDV, E/A ratio, and E/e ratio were not normally distributed; instead, Spearman's Rank correlation coefficient was used to measure linear correlation with these parameters. Statistical significance was accepted when p < 0.05.

Intracellular levels of ROS were analysed using the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test with a Dunn's multiple comparison post hoc test to allow comparison of treatment (TNF α or H₂O₂) against control. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-tests were used to assess the effects of time and treatment on intracellular ROS.

3. Results

3.1 Quantification of plasma levels of $\mathsf{TNF}\alpha$

High sensitivity sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays were used to develop standard curves from which individual patient plasma TNF α levels could be extrapolated. These were later correlated against multiple indicators of cardiac function obtained from patient clinical records. Average concentration of TNF α within this cohort was 2.27 ± 0.35 pg/ml (n = 66).



Figure 3-1. Patient serum TNFα concentrations. Average displayed as mean ± SEM.

3.2 Patient clinical parameters

Various clinical and echo parameters were recorded during preoperative evaluations for each patient. Parameters associated with systolic and diastolic function were extracted; those prioritised are presented below. Table 3-1: ECHO parameters used to measure cardiac function within CAD patient cohort.displays each measurement with corresponding mean and standard error values along with thenumber of patients analysed.

Parameter	Mean	SEM	n
TAPSE (cm)	2.13	0.06	37
Stroke volume (ml/m²)	49.12	4.18	13
LVOT (m/s)	0.95	0.04	36
ESV (ml)	49.14	7.34	13
Ejection Fraction (EF)	49.72	1.56	51
LVIDs (cm)	3.30	0.10	36
LVIDd (cm)	4.69	0.11	38
E/A ratio	0.94	0.05	45
Peak E wave (m/s)	0.72	0.03	46
EDV (ml)	97.99	7.83	13
TR Velocity (m/s)	2.47	0.11	22
E/e ratio	9.41	0.47	30

3.3 Correlation of plasma TNF α levels with indicators of systolic function

The following indicators of systolic function were selected to correlate against levels of TNFα on a patient-to-patient basis: stroke volume, ejection fraction, TAPSE, LVOT, LVIDs, and ESV. These indices are measured during or at the end of systole/contraction. Stroke volume is an indicator of left ventricular function and measures the volume of blood leaving the left ventricle. Ejection fraction is the percentage of blood in the heart that is ejected during systole. TAPSE (tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion) is commonly used to assess right ventricular systolic function; this measures dislocation of the tricuspid ring towards the right ventricle. LVOT (left ventricular outflow tract) peak velocity shows the speed at which blood flows from the left ventricle into the aorta. LVIDs (left ventricular internal diameter end-systole) is the distance measured between the wall of the left ventricle and the interventricular septum at the end of contraction. ESV (end-systolic volume) refers to the volume of blood remaining in the ventricle following contraction and immediately prior to ventricular refilling.



Figure 3-2. Indices of systolic function correlated against serum TNFα levels.

(a) Correlation of stroke volume against TNF α concentration. (b) Correlation of ejection fraction against TNF α concentration. (c) Correlation of TAPSE against TNF α concentration. (d) Correlation of LVOT against TNF α concentration. (e) Correlation of LVIDs against TNF α concentration. (f) Correlation of ESV against TNF α concentration. Pearson test was used to measure linear correlation. The grey area on each scatter plot represents the 95% CI band.

Figure 3-2 shows that TNF α levels do not correlate with stroke volume (p = 0.5035; r² = 0.04168; n = 13), ejection fraction (p = 0.6993; r² = 0.0031; n = 51), TAPSE (p = 0.2251; r² = 0.0418; n = 37), LVOT (p = 0.1213; r² = 0.0691; n = 36), LVIDs (p = 0.5393; r² = 0.01228; n = 36), or ESV (p = 0.5256; r² = 0.0376; n = 13).

3.4 Correlation of plasma TNF α levels with indicators of diastolic function

Furthermore, indices of diastolic function were chosen to compare against patient TNF α levels and were as follows: LVIDd, E/A ratio, TR velocity, E/e ratio, peak E wave, and EDV. These are measured at during or at the end of diastole/relaxation. LVIDd (left ventricular internal diameter end-diastole) is the measurement of the internal diameter at the end of ventricular relaxation. E/A ratio analyses the biphasic filling of the left ventricle, examining blood flow during the first phase (E wave) of diastole in relation to the second phase (A wave) brought on by atrial contraction. Peak E wave velocity, as described above, refers to the velocity of passive flow into the left ventricle during early diastole. Lastly, EDV (end-diastolic volume) evaluates the volume of blood left within the ventricle at the end of diastole.





(a) Correlation of LVIDd against TNF α concentration. (b) Correlation of E/A ratio against TNF α concentration. (c) Correlation of TR velocity against TNF α concentration. (d) Correlation of E/e ratio against TNF α concentration. (e) Correlation of peak E wave velocity against TNF α concentration. (f) Correlation of EDV against TNF α concentration. Pearson test was used to determine linear correlation. Spearmans test was used to determine linear correlation with EDV, E/A ratio, and E/e ratio. . The grey area on each scatter plot represents the 95% CI band.

E/A ratio negatively correlated with TNF α concentration (p = 0.0489; n = 45). The data suggests that patient TNF α levels negatively correlate with LVIDd, however this did not reach significance (p = 0.0624; r² = 0.0932; n = 38). No significant correlations were observed with TNF α levels and TR velocity (p = 0.5767; r² = 0.01584; n = 22), E/e ratio (p = 0.3297; n = 30), peak E wave (p = 0.6279; r² = 0.0054; n = 46), or EDV (p = 0.7890; n = 13).

3.5 The effects of TNF α on cellular oxidative stress

Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) was primarily used as a positive control during introductory experiments; these sought to ascertain that levels of cellular oxidative stress would increase in a rat myoblast cell line (H9C2) in the presence of an oxidising agent. Cells were then treated with TNF α to determine whether inflammatory mechanisms produced a similar rise in oxidative stress after 1 hour and 24 hours. Cells were also treated in synergy with TNF α and H₂O₂ to establish whether TNF α induced further increase in oxidative stress in the presence of another oxidising agent. During which, cells were incubated with H₂O₂ for 30 minutes following treatment with the cytokine. Throughout these experiments, n refers to the number of wells for each experimental condition.

3.5.1 Validation of fluorometric oxidative stress experiment

To determine whether the sensitivity of the technique described in section 2.5 was sufficient to detect a rise in oxidative stress in our model (should one exist), hydrogen peroxide was applied at the following concentrations: 100µM and 200µM.



Figure 3-4. The effects of hydrogen peroxide on cellular oxidative stress in H9C2 rat myoblast cell line. Mean fluorescence of H9C2 in control (n = 102), 100μ M H₂O₂ (n = 51), and 200μ M H₂O₂ (n = 51). Error bars indicate ± SEM. Statistical significance was reached when p < 0.05. n relates to the number of experimental wells for each condition.

As demonstrated in Figure 3-4, H_2O_2 produced a concentration-dependant increase in oxidative stress. Treatment with 100µm H_2O_2 produced a moderate increase in fluorescence when compared to the untreated control, though this did not reach significance (p = >0.05, n = 51); treatment with 200µM induced a significant increase in fluorescence, and thus oxidative stress, when compared with the control (p = <0.01, n = 51).

3.5.2 The effects of TNF α on oxidative stress

A clinically relevant TNF α concentration of 2pg/ml was determined based upon on mean plasma levels obtained from our CAD patient cohort. The effect of TNF α at this concentration was examined after both 1 hour and 24-hour treatments.



Figure 3-5. The effects of 2pg/ml TNF α on cellular oxidative stress in H9C2 rat myoblast cell line. Mean fluorescence of H9C2 in untreated control (1 hour n = 54; 24 hours n = 48) and with TNF α at 2pg/ml (1 hour n = 27; 24 hours n = 24) after 1 hour and 24-hour treatments. Two-way AVOVA and Bonferroni post hoc statistical tests were used to determine significance.

Fluorescence was significantly increased in experiments with 24-hour treatment when compared with 1 hour treatment, including the untreated controls (p = <0.05). However, no significant increase in fluorescence was observed following treatment with TNF α at 2pg/ml after 1 hour (n = 27, p = >0.05) or 24 hours (n = 24, p = >0.05) when compared to corresponding controls. To determine whether TNF α fundamentally produced an increase in oxidative stress, these experiments were repeated with a supraphysiological concentration of 50ng/ml.



Figure 3-6. The effects of 50ng/ml TNF α on cellular oxidative stress in H9C2 rat myoblast cell line. Mean fluorescence of H9C2 in untreated control (1 hour n = 54; 24 hours n = 48) and with TNf α at 50ng/ml after 1-hour (n = 27) and 24-hour (n = 24) treatments. Two-way AVOVA and bonferroni post hoc statistical tests were used to determine significance.

Likewise, Fluorescence was significantly increased in experiments with 24-hour treatment when compared with 1 hour treatment, including the untreated controls (p = <0.05). No significant increase in fluorescence was observed following treatment with TNF α at 50ng/ml after 1 hour (n = 27, p = >0.05) or 24 hours (n = 24, p = >0.05) when compared with corresponding controls.

3.5.3 The effects of TNF α on oxidative stress in cells with elevated baseline levels of OS

H9C2 cells were also treated in synergy with TNF α and H₂O₂ to establish whether TNF α induced further increase in oxidative stress in the presence of another oxidising agent. During which, cells were incubated with H₂O₂ for 30 minutes following 1 hour or 24- hour treatment with the cytokine.



Figure 3-7. The effects of TNF α and hydrogen peroxide on cellular oxidative stress in H9C2 rat myoblast cell line. (a) 1 hour treatment with TNF α : mean fluorescence of H9C2 in control (n=54), 100 μ m H₂O₂ (n = 51), 100 μ m H₂O₂ + TNF α 50pg/ml (n = 27), and 100 μ m H₂O₂ + TNF α 2pg/ml (n = 27). (b) 1 hour treatment with TNF α : mean fluorescence of H9C2 in control (n = 54), 200 μ m H₂O₂ (n = 51), 200 μ m H₂O₂ + TNF α 50pg/ml (n = 27), and 200 μ m H₂O₂ + TNF α 2pg/ml (n = 27). (c) 24-hour treatment with TNF α : mean fluorescence of H9C2 in control (n = 48), 100 μ m H₂O₂ (n = 51), 100 μ m H₂O₂ + TNF α 50pg/ml (n = 24), and 100 μ m H₂O₂ + TNF α 2pg/ml (n = 24). (d) 24-hour treatment with TNF α : mean fluorescence of H9C2 in control (n = 48), 200 μ m H₂O₂ + TNF α 50pg/ml (n = 24), and 100 μ m H₂O₂ + TNF α 2pg/ml (n = 24). (d) 24-hour treatment with TNF α : mean fluorescence of H9C2 in control (n = 48), 200 μ m H₂O₂ + TNF α 50pg/ml (n = 24), and 100 μ m H₂O₂ + TNF α 2pg/ml (n = 24). (d) 24-hour treatment with TNF α : mean fluorescence of H9C2 in control (n = 48), 200 μ m H₂O₂ (n = 51), 200 μ m H₂O₂ + TNF α 50pg/ml (n = 24), and 200 μ m H₂O₂ + TNF α 2pg/ml (n = 24). One-way AVOVA and Tukey post hoc statistical tests were used to determine significance.
No further increase was seen in cells treated with $100\mu m H_2O_2$ in combination with either concentration of TNF α after 1 hour (each with n = 27, p = >0.05) (Figure 3-7 a). Cells treated with a combination of $200\mu m H_2O_2$ and TNF α at both 50ng/ml and 2pg/ml for 1 hour displayed a significant increase in fluorescence when compared to the control (each with n = 27, p = <0.05). However no further significant increase in fluorescence was observed when compared to treatment with $200\mu M H_2O_2$ alone (p = >0.05) (Figure 3-7 b). No further increase was seen in cells treated with $100\mu m H_2O_2$ in combination with either concentration of TNF α after 24 hours (each with n = 24, p = >0.05) (Figure 3-7 c). Interestingly, Cells treated with a combination of $200\mu m H_2O_2$ and TNF α at both 50ng/ml and 2pg/ml for 24 hours displayed no significant increase in fluorescence when compared to the control or when compared to treatment with $200\mu m H_2O_2$ and TNF α at both 50ng/ml and 2pg/ml for 24 hours displayed no significant increase in fluorescence when compared to the control or when compared to treatment with $200\mu m H_2O_2$ and TNF α at both 50ng/ml and 2pg/ml for 24 hours displayed no significant increase in fluorescence when compared to the control or when compared to treatment with $200\mu m H_2O_2$ alone (each with n = 24, p = >0.05) (Figure 3-7 d).

4. Discussion

4.1 What are the cytokine concentrations in CAD?

Atherosclerosis in CAD has been associated with inflammation on both a local and systemic level. This is not surprising considering the inflammatory nature of CAD, and the significant role that the inflammatory cascade plays in disease progression. Therefore, serum and plasma cytokine levels have been a key target in the development of a method for non-invasive disease stratification. With this being said, correlations between circulating cytokine levels and CAD severity have yet to be clearly defined; the same is true when assessing the predictive capacity of cytokines in patients suspected to have the disease (Iside et al., 2023).

Prospective studies have reported associations between proinflammatory cytokines (such as IL-6, IL-1 β , INF- Υ and TNF α , amongst others) and adverse cardiac events or cardiovascular diseases – including CAD (Amin et al., 2020). Particular emphasis has so far been placed on C-reactive protein (CRP) and IL-6 as strong predictors (Bucova er al., 2008). Given that TNF α is involved in the synthesis and regulation of both (Paffen & Demaat, 2006), and is independently involved in most aspects of CAD pathology, it could be expected that elevated TNF α levels could have similar power in this context.

Numerous studies have found that serum TNF α levels are, in fact, elevated in patients with confirmed CAD when compared to controls, and also correlate to disease severity. Fadhil Jarfaar et al (2023) quantified the serum levels of a varied cytokine panel in both CAD and non-CAD cohorts using ELISA kits. Here, a significant increase in TNF α levels was observed in the CAD cohort when compared to the control group, which were 26.92 ± 7.05 pg/ml and 22.94 ± 7.37 pg/ml, respectively (P = 0.001). Similarly, Almassabi et al (2023) reported a significant increase in TNF α serum concentrations within patients with confirmed CAD (38.25 ± 10.93pg/ml) when compared with healthy controls (20.60 ± 2.99 pg/ml) (P = 0.001). Moreover, Gotsman et al (2008) found increasing levels of serum TNF α were also associated with the severity of obstructive disease; the lowest TNF α concentration tertile was associated with the lowest extent of vessel involvement (number of vessels with >70% stenosis) within the cohort, and the highest tertile was accordingly associated with the higher numbers of severely obstructed vessels. The patients analysed in this study included those with stable CAD, unstable angina, and myocardial infarction. Angiographic assessment revealed varied

levels of coronary atherosclerosis, ranging from non-obstructive to triple vessel disease with >70% stenosis. Median serum TNF α concentration within this group was 6.7 pg/ml.

Conversely, the elevated TNF α concentrations observed in patient groups when compared to control groups is not a ubiquitous finding. There are also multiple studies that report no significant elevation in CAD subjects. Iside et al (2023) grouped subjects into three categories - controls, non-obstuctive CAD, obstructive CAD – and determined serum cytokine concentrations using flow cytometry, with a multiplex bead-based immunoassay panel. Whilst significantly increased levels of multiple cytokines (including IL-6) were determined in the two CAD groups when compared to healthy subjects, there was no statistical variation in TNF α concentrations between either of the three groups (control: 12.9 pg/ml; non-obCAD: 13.5 pg/ml; obCAD: 12.1 pg/ml). Other studies supported this data: using similar methods of cytokine quantification to assess similar groups, Liu et al (2022) found that no significant difference was observed between these cohorts (non-CAD: 1.83 pg/ml; mild CAD: 1.73 pg/ml; and severe CAD: 1.76 pg/ml) (P = 0.491); likewise, Mirhafez et al (2015) demonstrated no elevation in serum TNF α concentration when comparing controls to a number of CAD-confirmed groups (control: 1.80 pg/ml; non-obstructive CAD: 1.80 pg/ml; obstructive CAD: 1.83 pg/ml; CABG: 1.86 pg/ml).

The average TNF α levels reported in the CAD cohorts cited above demonstrate the highly variable nature of quantified cytokine profiles - even when comparing analogous groups from separate studies that have used similar methods of detection. For this reason, it is difficult to define a 'range' for TNF α concentration that may characterise the plasma of CAD patients, as well as the plasma of healthy controls.

This poses challenges when trying to ascertain whether average TNF α concentrations in our own study (2.27 ± 0.35 pg/ml) are elevated (or not) without a control group to directly compare. A meta-analysis revealed that serum TNF α concentrations in healthy controls have been reported to range from nondetectable (Li et al, 2018) to 232.33 pg/ml (Yamaguchi et al., 2019). Whilst it can be speculated that the average TNF α concentration for the CAD cohort recruited to this study is not elevated, it is important to emphasise that levels vary depending on the sample collective. Controls should also be appropriately matched/stratified for age, gender, and ideally excluded if present factors were likely to affect inflammatory profile (Kumari et al., 2018). Besides this, variability will likely exist when quantifying cytokine levels when using different methods of detection; lack of standardisation in this aspect can also be problematic when comparing TNF α levels determined in this study to CAD cohorts or control groups measured elsewhere.

4.2 Does plasma TNF α concentration correlate with cardiac function?

Given that TNF α has been shown to mediate fibrosis, hypertrophy, leukocyte infiltration, EMC alteration, and ROS generation in the myocardium in response to stressors such as overload or ischemic injury, then it is reasonable suspect that levels of circulating TNF α may correlate to indices of cardiac function. However, the myocardial response to inflammation or injury is complex and often variable. The initial depressive or stimulatory contractile response is largely dependent on the existing physiological (or pathological) milieu, which will influence the signalling pathways activated (outlined in sections 1.2.2) in such a response (Prabhu, 2004). This is usually followed by a 'late' (after 3 hours), typically cardio-depressive response that is more sustained. Again, this is also dependant on a multitude of secondary mediators and the effects of the initial response to injury. The interplay between these pathways and the timing of their activation plays an important role in apparent cytokine-induced cardiac dysfunction caused by both acute and chronic pathology (Prabhu, 2004).

4.2.1 Historical context

TNF α has received considerable attention whilst evaluating cytokine-induced cardiac dysfunction as it is often considered a prototypic proinflammatory cytokine. The apparent delayed, negative inotropic effects of which have been observed experimentally both in vivo and in vitro. Multiple studies have demonstrated profound systolic and diastolic dysfunction during the 'late' response following intravenous TNF α infusion in canine and rat models; these effects have been observed through parameters such as LVEF, end-systolic elastance (Ees), derivative of pressure over time (dP/dt) which represents the ratio of pressure change within the ventricle during isovolumetric contraction, and preload-recruitable stroke work (PRSW) (Prabhu, 2004; Herbertson et al., 1995; Eichenholz et al., 1992; Natanson et al., 1989; Pagani et al., 1992). Whilst the concentrations of TNF α used in these studies ranged from 30 – 120 µg/kg – which may be considered suprapathological -, similar observations were made in rats

treated with a pathophysiologically relevant concentration of 2.5 µg/kg via osmotic infusion over a period of 15 days. Here, Bozkurt et al (1998) reported a time-dependant reduction in myocyte shortening, LV function, and LV dilation at the end of the infusion period. These effects were fully or partially reversible when infusion ended or following administration of a soluble TNF α agonist. This also demonstrates that circulating pathological concentrations of TNF α have the potential to produce some of the clinical manifestations of cardiac dysfunction seen in CAD and related HF. Several studies have also demonstrated that TNF α can initially have a positive inotropic effect on cardiac contractility (0-3 hours) before the late, cardiodepressive response is initiated (Pagani et al., 1992; Walley et al., 1994; Murray & Freeman, 1996). This increase in contractility happened independently of changes to heart rate or cardiovascular reflex responses (Murray & Freeman, 1996). Thus, TNF α may have a direct intrinsic effect on myocardial contraction, which is then followed by the depressive response which is dependent on the activation of secondary mediators and altered gene expression (Prabhu, 2004).

The biphasic response often observed in vivo has been mirrored in vitro, albeit with less consistent findings. Although the latter phase of this cytokine-induced response was still found to be cardiodepressive, some studies reported immediate suppressive – rather than stimulatory – effects. For example, Hadgraft & Greensmith (2018) found that 50 ng/ml treatment with TNF α reduced contractility in isolated field stimulated sheep ventricular myocytes. The onset of this effect was almost immediate (<10s); a 17% reduction in systolic Ca²⁺ amplitude and 20% reduction in sarcomeric shortening could be accounted for by a 27% reduction in SR Ca²⁺ content. With this being said, a brief increase in systolic Ca was observed prior to the apparent suppression of contractility. Kumar et al (1996) presented similar findings using electrically paced rat cardiac myocytes. Here, TNF α induced depression in maximal extent and peak velocity of myocyte shortening in a dose-dependent manner. Despite the differences in the immediate response on contractility between in vitro and in vivo experiments which can be attributed to multiple factors, such studies indicate that TNF α can directly and indirectly alter cardiac function. It has also been shown that elevated levels of TNF α in some CAD patient groups can be sustained for up to 8 months post MI, rather than a transient increase in levels immediately following coronary occlusion (Ridker et al., 2000). These levels may be maintained as a result of increased infiltration of inflammatory cells into

the peri-infarct zone (Marx et al., 1997), or persistent myocardial expression of TNF α in areas outside of the infarct zone (Irwin et al., 1999). If this is the case, then TNF α could be consistently exerting pathological effects to induce maladaptive cardiac remodelling – offering predictive insight for patients at higher risk of recurrent events. Moreover, this gives reason to anticipate that TNF α levels in CAD might directly correlate to indicators of cardiac function. Correlations have already been observed between serum TNF α levels and diastolic dysfunction in HF. As well as elevated TNF α levels being associated with patient cohorts exhibiting more extensive LV dysfunction, levels have also been correlated with increased left atrial volume (LAVI), which was not seen in controls (El Missiri et al., 2020).

4.2.2 Does TNF α correlate with diastolic dysfunction?

In our CAD patient cohort, the inverse correlation between plasma TNF α levels and E/A ratio reached significance (p = 0.0489; n = 45). This suggests that higher circulating levels of TNF α could be associated with lower E/A ratio: a potential early indicator of diastolic dysfunction. This association has been demonstrated elsewhere in patients with HFpEF (Abernethy et al., 2018). In such cases, a proposed reduction in NO bioavailability and protein kinase G signalling results in a reduction in the phosphorylation of titin-associated protein kinase A sites, which is accompanied by increased phosphorylation of protein kinase C sites. These events increase the stiffness of titin, and thus impair passive diastolic filling (Abertheny et al., 2018). Given that CAD is one of the main etiological sources of HF, and that inflammation initiated within the vascular endothelium plays a key role in the pathogenesis of HFpEF, the pathological mechanisms that link TNF α to diastolic impairment could be analogous between the two diseases.

Prolonged or slowed relaxation is indicative of such diastolic impairment, and this can become apparent during the early stages. E/A ratio is one of the key parameters used in the evaluation of diastolic function. This parameter essentially evaluates the proportionality of diastolic filling during the early (E) and late (A) phase of diastole via measurement of transmitral flow. Ventricular filling during the E wave is significantly influenced by left atrial compliance and the rate at which the ventricle relaxes; these determine the pressure gradient between the left atrium and left ventricle through the LV inflow tract. Impaired relaxation reduces the transmitral pressure gradient, thus reducing E velocity and E/A ratio (<1 in younger patients; < 0.5 in elderly patients) (Mottram & Marwick, 2005; European Study Group on Diastolic Heart Failure, 1998). As the reduction in rate of relaxation is sustained into mid-diastole, this is reflected by prolongation of the E deceleration slope. At this early stage of dysfunction, these patients may only experience symptoms with exertion. However, even mild diastolic impairment is associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular events (Mottram & Marwick, 2005; Redfield et al., 2003).

In the specific context of CAD, delayed relaxation may be observed following myocardial ischemia, where resultant regional LV dysfunction may cause dyssynchronous relaxation; in this way, it has been suggested that ischemic areas of the myocardium that are supplied by stenotic vessels will lead to these regional abnormalities (Bonow et al., 1985). This type of pathology particularly affects the dynamics of early ventricular filling (Mottram & Marwick, 2005; Gibson, 2003). The etiological source of a lower E/A ratio for some of the patients within our study cohort might be attributable to chronic ischemia, myocardial infarction, or HF (Espersen et al., 2022). Nonetheless, it could be speculated that plasma TNF α levels could be predictive of wall motion abnormalities and therefore early diastolic dysfunction in patients with coronary heart disease.

It must be emphasised, however, that this assumption is highly speculative in the framework of this longitudinal study. Firstly, patients within our cohort were not stratified according to clinical or demographic risk factors that are known to be associated with regional wall motion score index (WMSI) or TNF α levels. These include age, diabetes, BMI, and systolic BP (hypertensive) among others (Espersen et al., 2022). Therefore, it is possible that TNF α levels within our cohort are reflective of the presence of certain cardiovascular risk factors as opposed to the diastolic dysfunction that is characterised by a decrease in E/A ratio. Furthermore, studies have demonstrated that diastolic dysfunction is associated with age, diabetes, and hypertension in the absence of ischemic heart disease; Sundqvist et al (2020) demonstrated that these factors were associated with reduced tissue doppler velocities, higher E/e ratio, lower E/A ratio, and higher LAVI in an outpatient population with either mild or no valvular disease. Whilst it is likely that increased levels of inflammation (and potentially TNF α) associated with these factors might play a role in diastolic dysfunction, this could lessen the predictive capacity of TNF α alone in the context of CAD. In the same way, it is important to consider that clinical groups are often highly heterogeneous; often, a lack of biological symmetry exists between individuals within such cohorts. This presents challenges with regards to precarious interpretation results or data, and a need to stratify patients in a meaningful way (Marquand et al., 2016). Such analyses in our own study can be appropriately rectified following further acquisition of patient clinical data and increased study power.

Another consideration is whether a correlation between plasma TNF α levels and E/A ratio alone is sufficient to suggest an association between TNF α concentrations and diastolic dysfunction; without associations between this cytokine and other indices of diastolic dysfunction alongside, it may be impertinent to suggest a definitive relationship between TNF α and diastolic impairment. Currently, diastolic dysfunction is difficult to define without invasive techniques. When using echocardiography, a diagnosis of diastolic impairment is often based on the exclusion of systolic dysfunction – or HFpEF. However, there have been reports that echocardiographic indices do not always accurately portray the true diastolic workings of the left ventricle, which casts doubt on the assumption that diastolic impairment is the cause of HFpEF (Bench et al., 2009). This is also relevant when considering the cause of apparent cardiac dysfunction that manifests in CAD.

This is particularly true for parameters such as E/A ratio, peak E and A wave velocities, and E deceleration time – all of which are based on the transmitral flow profile. Firstly, patient age should be adjusted for prior to classification (as normal, impaired, pseudonormal, or restrictive diastolic function) and results typically require careful interpretation. This is due to the fact that they are variable depending on loading conditions and can therefore offer conflicting information (Mottram & Marwick, 2005). The extent of diastolic dysfunction is usually synonymous with LV filling pressure, which ultimately impacts the transmitral flow pattern. For instance, slowed relaxation will cause a decrease in E velocity whilst the elevated atrial pressure acts to increase this parameter. These two factors also have opposing influence on E deceleration time. Thus, these effects that accompany diastolic dysfunction tend to become compensated and then over-compensated in terms of the E/A ratio and E deceleration time; the relationship between these indicators are non-linear as a result of these loading effects, and different filling patterns in individual patients may reflect worsening diastolic pathology or altered loading conditions (Mottram & Marwick, 2005; Garcia et al.,

1998). For this reason, parameters that are less dependent on loading should be incorporated into the interpretation of diastolic function (Mottram & Marwick, 2005).

Another parameter that also appeared to have a negative association with plasma TNF α levels in this study was the left ventricular internal diameter end diastole (LVIDd), although this did not reach significance (p = 0.0624). This indicator is used as part of the geometric assessment of the left ventricle. Although geometric indices like LVIDd are not ubiquitously used for clinical diagnosis of diastolic dysfunction, they may prove to useful when supplementing other parameters like E/A ratio (Hamza et al., 2020). Typically, this parameter is used in the context of systolic HF; here, internal ventricular diameters can be used to determine whether ventricular dilation is contributing to a patient's cardiac dysfunction (Matthew et al., 2017). But more often, is used alongside other geometric indices such as interventricular septum thickness in diastole (IVSTd) and posterior wall thickness in diastole (PWTd) - all of which should be indexed according to body surface area (Matthew et al., 2017). From these, key measurements that are perhaps more relevant for possible diagnoses can be calculated, such as left ventricular mass (LVM) and relative wall thickness (RWT) (Ojji et al., 2015). LVIDd has also been shown have conflicting association with diastolic dysfunction; both positive correlations (Germing et al., 2011; El Aouar et al., 2013) and negative correlations have been shown to exist (Hamza et al., 2020; ul Haq et al., 2017).

In the present study, it is important to stress that the suggestion of a definitive association between TNF α and LVIDd is an extrapolation; again, perhaps a more significant correlation would emerge where study power is increased, and complete clinical data is ascertained for all patients included. This would allow a more thorough geometric evaluation for each patient and appropriate indexing (ie for body surface area) of this parameter. Likewise, it would have been beneficial to carry out multivariate analysis to adjust for concomitant factors such as gender, age, hypertension, and diabetes (Gottdiener at al., 2003).

Finally, and fundamentally, it should also be emphasised that correlation does not necessarily indicate causation between one variable and another. Correlational analysis is a useful tool to assess the strength of association between two variables and is able to accommodate data that is not normally distributed (Hung et al., 2017). Furthermore, certain tests such as the Peason correlation coefficient have been found to reliably predict the relationship between variables in underpowered data sets (Hung et al., 2017; Havlicek & Peterson, 1976).

Nonetheless, these types of analyses can only provide a measure of association – not causation. One of the most important reasons has already been discussed: an apparent relationship between variables could be impacted by variables that have not been observed (Hung et al., 2017). In the present study, this could relate to confounding variables such as the presence of risk factors within the patient cohort. An additional reason that observed correlations should be interpreted with caution is the fact that significance testing can overused on the same data set – a phenomenon that occurs often in clinical studies (Hung et al., 2017). In this case, comparing quantified TNF α levels with twelve indicators of cardiac function would have more probability of producing a Type 1 error, where there is a 5% chance (if p < 0.05 determines significance) that significant results are in fact a random occurrence (Hung et al., 2017). In a similar way where the importance of a significant finding might be exaggerated, small sample sizes can also produce such results. However, these correlations are often unstable; for this reason, it has been recommended that sample sizes are ideally between 150 – 200 and that fundings should be carefully interpreted until verified by other similar studies (Hung et al., 2017; Guadagnoli & Velicer, 1988).

4.2.3 Does TNF α correlate with Systolic function?

In this study, no correlation was observed between plasma TNF α levels within our CAD patient cohort and any measure of systolic function; this is despite the fact that evidence supporting the role of inflammation in reduced systolic function is more robust than that presented for diastolic function (Gullestad et al., 2012). Historically, it has been well established that the cardiac inflammation that might occur as a result (or in the absence of) ischemic injury can induce pathogenic remodelling and systolic impairment (Rolski & Błyszczuk, 2020; Van Linthout & Tschöpe, 2017). Specific mechanisms by which TNF α might negatively affect systolic function have been previously described (section 1.2.2.2 and 1.2.2.3), and multiple studies using transgenic mouse and rat models have further demonstrated how cardiac-restricted overexpression of TNF α might adversely affect cardiac remodelling and tissue viability following MI (Sun et al., 2004; Berthonneche et al., 2004; Bryant et al., 1998). Furthermore, systemic administration of this cytokine at levels comparable to those observed in patients with HF has induced dilated cardiomyopathy consistent with the HFrEF phenotype in such models (Gullestad et al., 2012; Bozkurt et al., 1998).

Patients with HFrEF and atherosclerotic disease have previously been characterised by elevated circulating levels of TNF α and other pro-inflammatory cytokines (Xing et al., 2017; Li et al., 2020), and in some cases, subsequent improvement in systolic function were associated with a reduction in these inflammatory mediators (Shao et al., 2018).

However, the causative association between TNF α and reduced systolic function is not straightforward. This has been made apparent by several studies highlighting the dual action of TNF α on the myocardium. For example, transgenic deletion of TNFR-2 has been shown to lead to an exacerbated state of cardiomyopathy (Higuchi et al., 2004), and pharmaceutical inhibition of TNF α can worsen cardiac function by enhancing cardiomyocyte apoptosis, post infarction (Wang et al., 2018). Whilst anti-TNF α therapeutics might reduce the risk of developing cardiovascular disease, such therapies have yielded disappointing results with regards to improving systolic function in clinical studies and may even prove to be harmful (Rolski & Błyszczuk, 2020; Baniaamam et al., 2020; Mann et al., 2004; Chung et al., 2003; Padfield et al., 2013). Nonetheless, the literature suggests that TNF α levels do generally correlate with – or associate – to systolic function. Perhaps full multivariate analysis would have provided clearer insight with regards to assessing correlations between circulating TNF α levels and indicators of systolic function in our own study, or such associations will emerge upon continued patient recruitment and analysis.

4.3 Validation of methodology for the measurement of intracellular oxidative stress

In the present study, we used a well-established and reliable fluorescent probe, CM-H₂DCFDA ((5-(and-6)-chloromethyl-2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate) at a concentration of 5 μ m, to quantify levels of general cellular ROS in H9C2 rat myoblasts. This dye is applicable to most cell types, and although it is considered H₂O₂-specific, the range of detectable ROS include thiol, hydroxyl, and carbonate radicals (Oparka et al., 2016). CM-H₂DCFDA passively diffuses through the cell membrane; in the cytosol, it then hydrolysed via cellular esterases to form CM-H₂DCF. This is subsequently oxidised by molecular oxygen or other radical species thus producing the fluorescent product, CM-DCF (Oparka et al., 2016).

During the introductory experiments, cells were treated with sublethal concentrations of H_2O_2 (100 μ M and 200 μ M) that are known to increase cellular OS, as per previous studies (Suematsu et al., 2003; ref). A dose-dependent increase in fluorescence was observed, thus demonstrating the validity and sensitivity of the technique to detect a pathological increase in OS; a moderate increase was observed in cells treated with 100 μ M H₂O₂ (p = >0.05) and a significant increase was detected in those treated with 200 μ M H₂O₂ (p = <0.01).

4.4 Does TNF α induce oxidative stress?

Subsequent experiments challenged cells with TNF α at both our clinically relevant concentration (2 pg/ml) and at a supraphysiological concentration (50 pg/ml) (Das et al., 2010), treated for 1 hour and 24 hours. Surprisingly, no significant increase in ROS was observed at either concentration or timepoint when compared to corresponding controls.

Cells were then treated with both concentrations of TNF α for 1 hour and 24 hours, but in combination with 100 μ M or 200 μ M H₂O₂ to ascertain whether TNF α further increased levels of ROS in cells with elevated baseline levels. In this set of experiments, cells treated with TNF α for 1 hour in synergy with 200 μ M H₂O₂ produced a significant increase in ROS when compared to controls. However, no significant difference was observed between these and cells treated with TNF α alone for 1 hour. Instead, this increase corresponded to the significant increase observed in cells treated with 200 μ M H₂O₂ during the introductory experiment. Interestingly, when this was repeated with 24-hour treatments with TNF α , no increase was observed in cells treated in combination with 200 μ M H₂O₂. This could suggest that treatment with TNF α over a longer timeframe actually attenuated the effects of 200 μ M H₂O₂, to a degree. There is evidence to suggest that cells previously exposed to some level of oxidative stress can exhibit adaptive changes in their response upon repeated exposure to oxidative agents (Goffart et al., 2021). Perhaps 24-hour exposure to TNF α (despite no detectable increase in ROS) elicited a protective cellular outcome following subsequent exposure to H₂O₂ in a similar way.

Nonetheless, these results are surprising given the fact that pathological initiation and progression of CAD is facilitated by the chronic state of vascular inflammation, where oxidative stress has been found to be a key mediator in the regulation of vascular homeostasis (Kibel et al., 2020). Oxidative stress is a pathological commonality shared between the vascular and cardiac dysfunction seen in CAD, often occurring in the myocardium following chronic, transient, and acute myocardial ischemia. Furthermore, many of the risk factors associated with CAD play a considerable part to exacerbate this inflammatory and oxidative state (Kibel et al., 2020).

Mechanisms by which TNF α has previously been shown alter the vascular and myocardial redox state has been demonstrated in-vitro and in animal models. This is alongside clinical evidence that these effects are applicable to the pathology seen in CAD patient cohorts. Such examples of these mechanisms have been outlined in more detail in previous sections (1.2.2.1, 1.3.3.1, and 1.3.3.2). In brief, TNF α -induced OS in the vascular endothelium has been shown to occur as a result of its effects on the regulation of eNOS expression, eNOS uncoupling, increased extravasation of immune cells into the vascular wall, adverse NFKB activation/signalling, fibrogenic and osteogenic activation, and recruitment of NADPH oxidases (Senoner & Dichtl, 2019; Farrar et al., 2015). Similar pathways are concurrent in the myocardium. Enhanced NADPH, NF-KB, and mitochondrial enzyme signalling can increase myocardial ROS production, and in turn result in cardiac hypertrophy; increased expression of MMP's and TGF- β which reduces cardiac compliance; and ROS-mediated caspase activation which initiates cardiomyocyte apoptosis (Senoner & Dichtl, 2019; Kibel et al., 2020). Furthermore, the effects of $TNF\alpha$ on calcium induced calcium release and reduced contractility also appears to be somewhat mediated by its pro-oxidant activity (Cailleret et al., 2004).

In vitro experiments have demonstrated that TNF elicits the production of ROS in various cell types. Rahman et al (2002) treated a human alveolar epithelial cell line with TNF α (10 ng/ml), and 100mM H₂O₂ as a positive control. The subsequent rise in oxidative stress elicited by both treatments was established from a concurrent decrease and increase in the antioxidant reduced glutathione (GSH) and oxidised glutathione (GSSH), respectively. The pro-oxidant action of TNF α in this case was effected via histone acetylation, which was associated with activation of NF-KB and AP-1 transcription factor DNA binding. These mechanisms also led to a significant increase in IL-8 production in treated cells. In human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs), two-hour treatment with TNF α (5 ng/ml) produced a significant increase in cellular ROS as detected with CM-H₂DCFDA staining. TNFα-induced ROS production was then depreciated following pre-treatment with GLP-1 receptor agonist, Liraglutide. This reversal coincided with repressed induction of NADPH subunits (p22^{phox} and gp91^{phox}), inhibited protein kinase C alpha (PKCα) translocation, increased expression of catalayse and SOD, and a reduction in NF-BK activation and apoptosis (Shiraki et al., 2012). In primary cultured neonatal rat ventricular myocytes, Suematsu et al (2003) demonstrated that one-hour treatment with TNF α (10 ng/ml) produced a significant increase in cellular ROS; again, H₂DCFDA staining detected an initial increase in fluorescence in as early as 30 minutes. Southern blot analysis in this study also revealed a simultaneous dose-dependent decrease in mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) copy number. These effects were transposed with the antioxidant α -tocopherol, and separately, with sphingomyelinase inhibitor D609. Taken together, these suggest that TNFa induced OS in these cells - along with resultant damage to mtDNA - is mediated by the sphingomyelin-ceramide pathway. Such findings corroborate those of other studies and suggest that this pathway could be implicated as a mechanism by which $TNF\alpha$ contributes to myocardial remodelling and dysfunction.

One potential reason that TNF α did not have elicit an independent increase in cellular ROS during these experiments may have been due to the relatively short treatment timeframe of 1 hour or 24 hours. Whilst studies cited above have shown an acute increase in ROS in response to various concentrations of the cytokine, more prolonged exposure has been required elsewhere to evoke a significant response. Saraf et al (2021) used cardiomyocytes derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSC's) and treated with a range of concentrations of TNF α over a period of four days. Treatments ranged from 1 – 100 ng/ml.

Similar to our own study, DCFDA was used as a fluorescent probe to quantify cytoplasmic ROS. Here, TNF α -treated cells only elicited a significant increase after 2 days of treatment when compared to controls. At the end of this treatment period, however, cells treated with each concentration all demonstrated increased levels of ROS that was dose dependent. RNA-Seq analysis carried out on cells treated with 20 ng/ml for 4 days revealed the differential expression of 6565 genes; many of these were related to the upregulation of TNFR-1 and its associated signalling pathways, which is consistent with the cardiotoxic and inflammatory response induced by TNF α (Saraf et al., 2021; Al-Lamki et al., 2009; Defer et al., 2007). Perhaps a longer treatment – particularly with our clinically relevant concentration – would have better represented the chronic inflammatory environment present within the patient cohort in our own study.

Alternatively, another reason that TNF α -induced increase in ROS was not observed in our own study may be due to the multifaceted nature of TNF α signalling, thus producing paradoxical effects (Blaser et al., 2016). Even in clinical settings, high TNF α levels have characterised patients with well-compensated heart failure and increased protection against ischemic injury (Defer et al., 2007; Sack, 2000; Sack, 2002).

Studies conducted by Tada et al (2001) and Sakon et al (2003) demonstrated how the interplay between TNF α -induced activation of NFKB and MAPK pathways can modulate cellular outcome to mitigate oxidative stress and promote cellular survival. TNF α receptor associated factors (TRAFs) are signalling intermediates implicated in NFKB and JNK activation (Sakon et al., 2003; Mak & Yeh, 2002). Here, murine embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) were harvested from TRAF2 and TRAF5 double knockout (DKO) mice and wild type mice. TNF α -induced NFKB activation in the DKO MEFs was abated; these cells were highly susceptible to injury and cell death (Tada et al., 2001). Additionally, DKO MEFs exhibited prolonged JNK activation when exposed to TNF α , which was not observed in WT MEFs. The notion that this manner of prolonged or delayed activation) induces cellular damage/death has also been established elsewhere (Tang et al., 2002; Maeda et al., 2003). NFKB is thought to prevent cytotoxicity in such circumstances by facilitating the upregulation of antiapoptotic genes (such as XIAP, encoding X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis) (Tang et al., 2001), and proteins (such as GADD45 β) that directly target/inhibit JNK activators (Papa et al., 2004). More importantly, TNF α induced NFKB activation can positively regulate TNF α induced ROS production. Sakon et al (2003) demonstrated this in the aforementioned DKO MEF's; an increase in ROS was observed in these NFKB-defective cells when stimulated with TNF α , which was not observed in WT cells. The cytotoxic effects/ROS accumulation exhibited by the DKO cells was attenuated in the presence of an antioxidant, suggesting that the pro-survival mechanisms in WT cells function to mitigate the pro-oxidant effects of sustained TNF α -induced JNK/MAPK activation (Sakon et al., 2003).

As outlined in section 1.2, the contradictory effects of TNF α are often exerted through downstream signalling events associated with the two primary receptors for the cytokine – TNFR-1 and TNFR-2. Both receptors can each induce differential outcomes, depending on the context of the biological environment. ROS generation induced by TNF α plays an intimate role in mediating these signalling pathways downstream, which ultimately affect the outcome of these signalling events (Blaser et al., 2016). TNFR-1 is ubiquitously expressed by most cell types and can interact with both soluble and membrane-bound TNFa. TNFR-2 is expressed by endothelial cells, immune cells, and cardiomyocytes, and is only sensitive to membrane bound TNF α (Blaser et al., 2016; Grell et al., 1995; Torre-amione et al., 1995). Signalling pathways activated by the latter are more often implicated in immune modulation, cell survival, and tissue regeneration (Blaser et al., 2016; Faustman & Davies, 2010). This is largely due to the fact that TNFR-2 lacks the intracellular death domain (TRADD) that is associated with TNFR-1, which prevents the initiation of caspase-mediated apoptosis during downstream signalling events facilitated by TRADD activation (Rolski & Błyszczuk, 2020; Wajant & Siegmund, 2019).

Although the exact functional role of the TNFR's is not completely understood, there is evidence that TNFα can also exert these protective effects on the myocardium through TNFR-2 signalling (Defer et al., 2007). Inhibition of TNFR-1 in vivo have demonstrated that preferential activation of TNFR-2 has beneficial effects on post-ischemic remodelling, cardiac function, and cell survival (Ramani et al., 2004; Higuchi et al., 2004). Defer et al (2007) attempted to delineate the respective roles of TNFR-1 and TNFR-2 signalling in isolated rat cardiomyoctyes. This study found that the use of neutralising monoclonal antibodies (Mabs) for each receptor conferred opposing, dose dependant effects on cellular ROS production. AntiTNFR-1 Mabs inhibited ROS generation and decreased the inotropic effects (measured via Ca^{2+} transient amplitude and fractional shortening) of the early (positive) and late (negative) response to TNF α infusion (25 ng/ml). In addition, TNFR-1 inhibition had a suppressive effect on TNF α -induced cell death. Similar results relating to these parameters were seen in NAC-treated rats. Conversely, cardiomyocytes incubated with antiTNFR-2 Mabs prior to TNF α exposure exhibited increased ROS production, rapid loss of contractile function, and exacerbated TNF α induced cell death following TNF α treatment. These highlight the fact that pro-oxidant and damaging effects of TNF α are largely exerted through TNFR-1 signalling, whilst also drawing attention to the significant interplay between ROS and TNFR-1 signalling. Moreover, these results also demonstrate that TNF α can act in a cardioprotective matter to mitigate these harmful effects through TNFR-2 activation/signalling. Although it appears that TNFR-1 is the predominant effector on cellular outcome, TNFR-2 can act as a significant limiting factor to positively self-regulate the effects of this cytokine (Defer et al., 2007). Such mechanisms facilitating protection against ROS accumulation could have been at play in our rat myoblast cell line when exposed to TNF α .

4.5 Does time alone induce oxidative stress in vitro?

An observation that was made during our experiments, that should be noted, was that time alone appeared to induce the production of ROS in our cultured cells; control cells exhibited increased levels of cellular ROS during 24-hour post treatment experiments when compared to those conducted 1 hour post treatment. This could be attributable to multiple factors, some of which should be considered in future experiments to better replicate physiological or pathophysiological conditions.

Certain culturing procedures may have an impact on cellular redox status. Cell trypsinisation, for example, has been shown to decrease levels of reduced glutathione (GSH) (Halliwell, 2003; Reiners et al., 2000). Exposure to trypsin-containing solutions when detaching adherent cell lines in preparation for sub culturing procedures caused a 95% loss in cellular GSH in some cases without impacting cellular viability. This will likely predispose cultured cells to a state of oxidative stress, particularly those being used at a higher passage number. With this being said, loss of glutathione in this way is typically transient; GSH levels return normal levels after a period of 24 hours. Nonetheless, this draws attention to the fact that cytotoxic evaluation

may be influenced by the time elapsed between trypsinisation and exposure to a toxic agent (Reiners et al., 2000).

Conditions in which cells are cultured can often promote ROS accumulation in the absence of treatment with oxidising or cytotoxic agents. One way in which these conditions can impose a state of increased oxidative stress is due to the fact that cultured cells are often exposed to relatively hyperoxic conditions in comparison to analogous cell types in vivo (Halliwell, 2003; Alva et al., 2022). Whilst cell culture is often performed at 95% air/5% CO2, with approximately 150 mm/Hg oxygen tension, in vivo O2 concentrations typically range from 1 to 10 mm/Hg (with the exception of some cell types) (Halliwell, 2003). Therefore, under culturing conditions, ROS generation facilitated by electron leakage and cellular enzymes may be increased. Another potential factor that may influence the cellular redox state of cultured cells is the culturing media; media is often deficient in antioxidants, whilst providing a pro-oxidant environment at the same time. Poor solubility or stability of antioxidants like vitamin E and C may prevent ideal supplementation of culturing media (Halliwell, 2003; Leist et al., 1996). However, supplementation with inorganic metal salts to aid cell growth can simultaneously help to catalyse reactions involved in free radical production (Halliwell, 2003; Aruoma & Halliwell, 1987). These, along with increased cell density in experimental wells incurred over the additional 24-hour period, may explain the time dependant increase in ROS in control cells in our own experiments. Conditions such as these, as well as characteristics of cells that are maintained in culture, should be contemplated when interpreting data – particularly when investigating ROS-induced signalling pathways assumed to be taking place in vivo (Halliwell, 2003).

4.6 The effect of therapeutics on CAD pathophysiology

Effective management of CAD, associated risk factors, and symptoms of angina have been established through the use of various therapeutic agents (Malakar et al., 2019). Pharmacological management has assumed a significantly important role in recent times and is also used as a robust form of secondary prevention (Kovacic & Fuster, 2011). It should be acknowledged that these therapeutics may have impacted the patient variables within this study; medication prescribed to patients scheduled for routine revascularisation surgery

within this cohort were unknown and may have affected absolute cytokine measurements or echo parameters reflecting cardiac function. Below, commonly used drug therapeutics and their potential effects on these parameters are described.

β-Blockers are a mainstay for the treatment of hypertensive patients because of the negative inotropic and chronotropic action of these drugs. Cardioselective β-Blockers are most commonly used in these circumstances, but non-selective β-Blockers such as Propranolol are still prescribed for the treatment of angina. The subsequent reduction in heart rate and contractile force allows more time for diastolic filling, decreases myocardial oxygen demand, thereby improving coronary perfusion and reducing symptoms of angina (Rosendorff et al., 2007). Studies have reported conflicting results regarding the effects of β-blockade on echocardiographic assessment. Findings presented by Eichhorn et al (2003) suggested that βblocker treatment was associated with increased contractile reserve and improved LVEF in patients with CHF. Contrarily, Li et al (2014) found that this treatment had no significant modulatory effect of LVEF, nor any electrocardiographic parameters used during assessment, although a reduction in LVM was observed. Thus, treatment with β-blockers may also affect geometric dimensions used to characterise cardiac remodelling.

In cases where the administration of beta blockers does not sufficiently reduce blood pressure (or contraindications are present), then calcium channel blockers (CCB's) may be used in place of or in combination (BHF, 2023). CCB's encourage vasodilation and decrease vascular resistance, and nondihydropyridine agents (one of two major categories of CCB's) can also be used to slow sinus discharge rate and is faster acting. The anti-hypertensive effects of CCB's may also improve LV diastolic function. Takami & Shigematsu (2003) demonstrated a significant decrease in E deceleration time which occurred in conjunction with a significant increase in E/A ratio in patients treated with certain agonists (cilnidipine and amlodipine, sensitive to N-type Ca²⁺ channels) after a three-month period.

Angiotensin Converting Enzyme (ACE) inhibitors have similar antihypertensive effects as CCB's by decreasing sympathetic activity and inducing vasodilation. Inhibition of ACE reduces the bioavailability of angiotensin II, which is an important effector molecule in the Renin-Angiotensin System (RAS), and thus reduces the molecule's hypertensive effects (Cutrell et al., 2023; Atlas, 2007). These are particularly useful when hypertension persists in patients with

heart failure or left ventricular dysfunction (Rosendorff et al., 2007). These therapeutics have the capacity to increase stroke volume and thus improve cardiac output in patients with CHF and prevent disease development in patients with asymptomatic LV dysfunction (Khalil et al., 2001).

To bring levels of LDL cholesterol within recommended limits (<70 mg/dL) in patients with dyslipidaemia, statins remain the primary drug of choice (Koskinas et al., 2017). Statins are considered most efficient at reducing circulating plasma cholesterol; they work my inhibiting HMG-CoA, a key enzyme involved in endogenous cholesterol synthesis. Inhibition of this enzyme also has pleiotropic effects that enhance the drugs antiatherogenic mechanisms (Stancu & Sima, 2001); Statins have been shown to also exert anti-inflammatory effects, albeit with inconsistent results in various clinical trials (Abbasifard et al., 2022). Abbasifard et al (2022) conducted a meta-analysis to evaluate the effects of statins on plasma/serum levels of a number of inflammatory markers in patients with CVDs. Here, analyses revealed that TNFa was significantly reduced in response to statin administration. There are additional non-statin alternatives that may be used for patients with atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, such as proprotein convertase subtilisin-kexin type 9 (PCSK9) inhibitors and cholesterol absorption inhibitors. Intensive treatment with all of these drugs have demonstrated significant clinical benefits – each 1mmol/L reduction in LDL cholesterol has been associated with a 19% decrease in major vascular events (Koskinas et al., 2017). Additionally, this class of lipidlowering drugs have also been shown to affect plasma concentrations of TNF α in patients presenting with unstable plaques and dyslipidaemia; after a three-month treatment period, TNF α levels (along with IL-18 and IL-6) were found to be significantly reduced (Basiak et al., 2022).

A number of other key drug therapies are available to aid the management of CAD. Aspirin is often administered to patients with occlusive vascular disease to reduce the risk of thrombus formation and is usually prescribed indefinitely for patients following revascularisation procedures. These drugs have anti-inflammatory and cardioprotective properties. The former effects are exerted through the inhibition of pro-inflammatory signalling pathways facilitated by NFKB, and cyclooxygenase (COX-1 and COX-2) (Morris et al., 2009). In a similar way to statins, Gao et al (2009) demonstrated that treatment with an intermediate dose (300mg) over a three-week period significantly decreased serum levels of inflammatory markers in

patients with metabolic syndrome, including TNF α . Similar suppressive effects exerted by aspirin on these inflammatory markers have been observed elsewhere, whilst levels of immunoregulatory markers such as IL-10 remained unaffected (Goldstein et al., 2006). Thus, such studies provide evidence that aspirin administration might preferentially supress or attenuate elevated levels of proinflammatory cytokines, like TNF α , in patients with chronic inflammatory conditions (Berk et al., 2013) such as CAD.

4.7 Clinical Implications

Biomarkers that are developed for CAD should ideally be accurate, reproducible when using standardised techniques, minimally invasive, highly specific or sensitive for the intended identified outcome, and independently explain a certain portion of the outcome irrespective of established predictors for it to have potential clinical use (Vasan, 2006). For screening potential, it is beneficial that proposed biomarkers have known reference limits. For diagnostic use – particularly when identifying ischemic injury – biomarkers with myocardial specificity is favourable, and release should correspond with the degree of ischemic burden. Finally, prognostic/treatment capacity is based on the biomarker's ability to provide additional information alongside a known alternative prognostic index, be useful when determining management strategy or appropriate drug treatment, and managing the progression of disease (Vasan, 2006).

It is well established that TNF α - along with other inflammatory, oxidative, and metabolic mediators – is intimately associated with the signalling cascades involved with immune cell recruitment, atherogenesis, plaque progression, rupture, and myocardial dysfunction in CAD (Libby, 2002). However, the predictive capacity of potential circulating biomarkers such as this has still not been fully elucidated. Nonetheless, there is compelling evidence of strong individual and mutually adjusted associations between these and CAD development (Kaptoge et al., 2013). In a clinical context, these could potentially aid disease stratification and offer predictive insight (Subirana et al., 2018). This evidence is also relevant with specific regards to TNF α ; as previously highlighted here, the literature supports that serum TNF α levels are often elevated in CAD patient cohorts when compared to controls, and that this cytokine has the power to independently predict CAD severity or the extent of vessel involvement (Subirana et al., 2018).

al., 2018). TNF α levels have also been linked with recurrent coronary events following MI when comparing these individuals with controls (Ridker et al., 2000). Given the fact that TNF α is suspected to play a role in cardiac dysfunction and remodelling (Nian et al., 2004), further investigation of the correlates in our own study could suggest that TNF α has both diagnostic and predictive capabilities in CAD patient cohorts at risk of cardiac dysfunction or ACS.

In spite of this, these findings are not consistent according to numerous studies. For example, Inoue et al (2008) demonstrated that – following multivariate analysis - plasma levels of several inflammatory mediators (including TNF α) did not have any independent predictive capacity for cardiovascular events in a stable CAD patient group over a 7-year period. Liu et al (2022) likewise demonstrated that TNFa serum levels did not predict severity of disease in patients suspected to have CAD. Studies such as these highlight the reason why the potential use for cytokine biomarkers in CAD is still heavily contested (Zakynthinos & Pappa, 2009). One of the main challenges that limit the use of cytokines as biomarkers for CAD is this apparent lack of definable parameters and the need for highly sensitive tools. Moreover, such tools – such as ELISA kits – will inevitably capture significant fluctuations in levels which reflect other biological factors (Kim et al., 2023; Ueland et al., 2015).

4.8 Limitations

The work carried out here was completed over a period of 12 months, but was part of a wider, ongoing longitudinal study. This can present challenges with regards to consistent data collection and acquisition over a prolonged period of time (Caruana et al., 2015). This is applicable to areas of this study conducted at both of the contributing institutions. With regards to the collection of echo data, consistent and standardised measurement of parameters can be difficult to enforce. Measurement of these parameters may differ depending on the clinical personnel carrying out the examinations, and also depending on the anatomy of the patient. Examination of echocardiographs will also rely on subjective interpretation (Bella et al., 2002). Consideration should also be given to the fact that the quantification of cytokine levels from patient samples recruited earlier on in the study may not be representative of plasma levels at the time the samples were collected (Leng et al., 2008). Despite appropriate storage of clinical samples, it is possible that some degree of

protein degradation during prolonged storage could influence individual and absolute cytokine levels within the cohort.

Although ELISAs are still used conventionally and regarded as the gold standard technique for the quantification of proteins or cytokines in biological samples, there are limitations associated with this assay (Leng et al., 2008). Perhaps the most significant is the fact that ELISAs provide a cross-sectional analysis of the inflammatory profile, which is in itself a highly variable and dynamic phenomenon, particularly when considering chronic inflammatory diseases like CAD (Leng et al., 2008; Nathan, 2002). Thus, the cellular and molecular events associated with the inflammatory cascade in vivo are not discernible in this context – a reality that is exacerbated by the fact that this technique only has the capacity to evaluate levels of a single cytokine at a time. Furthermore, the quality of the antibody used, skill of the individual performing the assay, experimental conditions, and kit manufacture will likely impact performance (Leng et al., 2008; Aziz et al., 1999).

Whilst DCFDA is a widely used and relatively uncomplicated by means of measuring cellular ROS levels, there may be certain limitations of the technique to consider. One of these is the fact that cellular peroxides are only detectable by the probe when they are decomposed to form radicals, which depends on the presence of certain catalysts like transition metals within the culture medium (Eruslanov & Kusmartsev, 2009; Tampo et al., 2003). Considering that H₂O₂ induced a detectable increase in fluorescence during our initial experiments, it was unlikely that a lack of such catalysts within our culture medium affected the validity of the technique. However, it should be considered that this might have been a limiting factor. Cellular esterase activity should also be considered when using this probe; the activity of which can differ between cell types/cell lines. Cells with lower levels of activity will not hydrolyse the probe as efficiently, thus reducing the potential for ROS detection (Eruslanov & Kusmartsev, 2009).

4.9 Future work

Potential future work within this study could first seek to ascertain whether correlations between plasma $TNF\alpha$ levels and indicators of diastolic function are robust. Focus on continued patient recruitment and acquisition of complete clinical data would serve to

validate existing findings, and potentially identify other associations. This increased study power would also allow for effective stratification of patients according to concomitant risk factors and diseases severity/complexity. Conducting these analyses within a control data set, if possible, would also help to validate findings and increase the power of this study.

Given extensive evidence linking TNF α to the development of CAD, its complex role in vascular and myocardial pathophysiology, and oxidative stress signalling, it could be beneficial to characterise the cellular mechanisms in action based on our clinically relevant concentration – with particular attention to those influencing cellular redox state at this concentration.

Nonetheless, the findings of this and other studies provide conflicting results with regards to the biomarker potential of TNF α in CAD. Therefore, future focus could be shifted to alternative inflammatory markers in this respect in order to further develop our cytokine profile and investigate the effects of inflammatory signalling and oxidative stress in CAD.

4.10 Summary

To summarise, this preliminary study quantified levels of plasma TNF α within a CAD patient cohort to determine potential correlations with indices of systolic and diastolic function. Whilst no correlations were evident between TNF α levels and indicators of systolic function, significant and moderate correlations were observed with E/A ratio and LVIDd, respectively. These might suggest the potential value of TNF α as a biomarker for diastolic dysfunction in CAD, although further analysis is needed to further validate and strengthen these associations.

Studies assessing the cellular effects of clinically relevant cytokine levels in CAD on oxidative stress are thus far limited; in this study, data obtained using the fluorescent probe CM-H2DCFDA showed that TNFα did not independently increase cellular ROS levels at a clinically relevant or supraphysiological concentration in H9C2 cells. furthermore, neither concentration of TNFα provoked further increase in cellular ROS in cells with elevated baseline levels of ROS. This might suggest that TNFα plays a less significant role in ROS-mediated cardiac dysfunction in CAD than was initially expected.

In conclusion, $TNF\alpha$ may be of limited use as a biomarker for whole heart dysfunction and oxidative stress in CAD, but may help to gain further understanding of the inflammatory profile that characterise CAD patients.

Appendix

Appendix A. Patient information and consent form

Blackpool Teaching Hospitals

NHS Foundation Trust

Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Clinical Research Centre 2nd floor, Area 5 Blackpool Victoria Hospital Whinney Heys Road Blackpool FY3 8NR FY3 8NRTel: 01253 (9)53559 Email: helen.spickett@nhs.net

PATIENT INFORMATION SHEET

Study Title: Characterisation of cardiac cellular and vascular function in coronary artery disease (CAVCAD)

An Invitation to participate

We would like to invite you to participate in the CAVCAD study.

You are being invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide whether or not to take part it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what is involved. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with others if you wish. Please ask if there is anything that you are unclear about or if you would like more information.

What is the purpose of the study?

The study is looking at how coronary artery disease (CAD), also known as ischemic heart disease (IHD) can affect your heart tissue and blood vessels so that we can work to develop better treatments and improve the surgical outcome for all patients in the future. There are two questions we want to ask: 1. Do changes in how heart cells work contribute to the progression of your disease? 2. Do the blood vessels which are used for your bypass work better if they have their normal fat tissue around them?

We know that for the heart to beat properly, there is a cyclical rise and fall of calcium in the cells. This needs a coordination of channels and pumps for it to happen properly. We think that when these processes go wrong, this can affect how well the heart pumps, we would like to try and understand the mechanisms involved so that we can consider new therapeutic strategies in the future.

When you have your surgery, a small section of blood vessel will be used to help bypass the ischemic (without oxygen supply) part of your heart; this vessel is known as the internal mammary artery. Most of your blood vessels in your body have a layer of fat cells around them, these cells release signals which help the blood vessels to work properly. Normally, your surgeon will take these cells off when using it in the bypass operation. We want to know if leaving these fat cells around the blood vessel will improve surgical outcome.

Both of these questions can be asked without any change to your surgery, as we will look at the cells and blood vessels back in our laboratory at the University of Salford. No tissue will be taken that would not be taken anyway as a routine part of your surgery.

Why have I been asked to take part in the study?

You have been invited to take part in this study because you have ischemic heart disease and are about to undergo coronary revascularisation to help improve how your heart works.

Do I have to take part in the study?

It is up to you to decide whether to take part or not. If you decide to take part you will be given this information sheet to keep and be asked to sign a consent form. If you decide to take part you are still free to withdraw at any time and without giving a reason. A decision to withdraw at any time or a decision not to take part will not affect the standard of care you receive or the treatment that you are receiving.

What do I have to do as part of this study?

If you decide to participate in this study you will be asked to sign a consent form then, before you are put to sleep for your surgery a 5mL blood sample will be taken from you so that we can look at circulating markers in your blood. When you are undergoing your surgery, some of the heart tissue (approx. 0.5-1cm) and some of the leftover mammary artery which is used as for the bypass, both of which are normally removed and discarded during the operation, will be kept in an experimental solution to be transported to the University of Salford so we can look at how the cells in these tissues work. We will use scientific equipment to keep the tissue alive so we can explore how they work and the signals from them, small pieces of tissue will be preserved so we can look at the structure of the tissue and the levels of specific proteins within it. A computer program will be used to find out whether any changes we see are linked to your recovery.

Your personnel data such as name address and telephone number will not be stored, this information will be kept by your doctor at the treating hospital.

By signing the consent form you are also agreeing that the clinical team can access some information from your patient records, including age, how well you recover and medication.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

It is unlikely that you will experience any direct benefit from taking part in this study. However, the information gained from the study will help to develop further research which may help improve the treatment of future people who suffer from similar types of ischemic heart disease.

Indemnity and Compensation?

The Sponsor has an additional insurance policy in place for the completion of this study. This insurance will cover any additional unforeseen problems that may occur as a result of carrying out the study.

You will not be paid for your participation in the study.

Will my taking part in the study be kept confidential?

Yes, any information about you that is shared with the Sponsor as part of this study will be anonymous. Your name and address will be removed from all information so that you cannot be recognized from the information. All information about you will be handled in confidence. The study will also be carried out in accordance to Ethical and Research Governance Guidelines that are followed when completing any type of research within the NHS. If you decide to take part in the study your medical records and the data collected for the study will be looked at by authorised persons from within the research team. In addition your records may also be viewed by employees of the regulatory authorities to ensure that the study is being carried out correctly.

What will happen if I want to withdraw from the study?

If you decide to withdraw from the study at any point, we will continue to use any data collected up to your withdrawal. We will not contact you about the study from this point forward. A decision to withdraw at any time or a decision not to take part will not affect the standard of care you receive or the treatment that you are receiving.

What if there is a problem?

If you are concerned at any point about any aspect of this study, you should ask to speak to the researchers who will do their best to answer your questions. You can contact the **Research Team using the details in the letter head**.

If you remain unhappy and wish to complain formally through the NHS complaints procedure, you can contact the **Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) at the hospital on (01253) 955588/89**

What will happen to the results of the study?

The results of the research will be the property of the Sponsor. They may choose to present the results at a medical conference or publish the research results in a medical journal. We will be happy to send you an end of study report if you are interested in what we find.

Who can I contact for further information?

For further information regarding the study you can contact the **Research Team using the details in the letter head**.

Thank you for taking the time to read this information.

Blackpool Teaching Hospitals

INFORMED CONSENT FORM

Patient Research Identification Number:

Name of Researcher: David Greensmith and Sarah Withers

Title of Research: Characterisation of cardiac cellular and vascular function in coronary artery disease

Please Initial bo

I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet dated the 6th December (version 1.1) for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, a questions and have had these answered satisfactorily.

I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time withdress giving any reason, without my medical care or legal rights being affected.

I understand that relevant sections of my medical notes and data collected during the sturtmay be looked at by individuals from the Sponsor, from regulatory authorities or from the NH Trust, where it is relevant to my taking part in this research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to my records.

I give permission for my cardiac tissue and internal mammary artery which would be normad discarded and blood samples to be supplied to The University of Salford, and for T University of Salford to store and distribute them to any researchers whose work has appropriate ethical approval and who are conducting high quality medical research on the prevention, diagnosis and / or the treatment of ischemic heart disease or other associated diseases.

I agree to take part in the above study

Name of Patient

Date

Signature

Name of Person taking consent

Date

Signature

When completed: 1 for participant; 1 for researcher site file; 1 (original) to be kept in medical notes.

Appendix B. TNFα ELISA reagent preparation

Wash Buffer (1x)

- Mix gently to avoid foaming. Store at 2° to 25°C. Remains stable for 30 days.

Number of strips	Wash Buffer Concentrate (20x) (mL)	Distilled water (mL)
1-6 25		475
1 - 12	50	950

Assay Buffer (1x)

- Mix gently to avoid foaming. Store at 2° to 8°C. Remains stable for 30 days.

Number of strips	Assay Buffer Concentrate (20x) (mL)	Distilled water (mL)
1-6 2.5		47.5
1 - 12 5.0		95.0

Biotin-Conjugate

- Make a 1:100 dilution of concentrated Biotin-Conjugate solution with Assay Buffer (1x). Use within 30 minutes of dilution.

Number of strips	Biotin-Conjugate (mL)	Assay Buffer (1x) (mL)		
1-6	0.03	2.97		
1 - 12	0.06	5.94		

Streptavidin-HRP

- Make a 1:400 dilution of the concentrated Streptavidin-HRP solution with Assay Buffer (1x). Use within 30 minutes of dilution.

Number of strips	Streptavidin-HRP (mL)	Assay Buffer (1x) (mL)		
1-6	0.015	5.985		
1 - 12	0.030	11.970		

Amplification diluent (1x)

- Make a 1:2 dilution immediately prior to use

Number of strips	Amplification diluent (2x) (mL)	Distilled water (mL)
1-6	3	3
1 - 12	6	6

Amplification Solution I

- Make a 1:300 dilution of Amplification Reagent I with Amplification diluent (1x) immediately prior to use

Number of strips	Amplification Reagent I (mL)	Amplification Diluent (1x) (mL)
1-6	0.018	5.382
1 - 12	0.036	10.764

Amplification Solution II

- Make a 1:250 dilution of Amplification reagent II with Amplification diluent (1x) immediately prior to use

Number of strips	Amplification Reagent II (mL)	Amplification Diluent (1x) (mL)	
1-6	0.022	5.378	
1 - 12	0.044	10.456	

Patient ID (BVH)	TNFα Concentration (pg/ml)	SEM
1	3.2403	0.0015
2	6.0428	0.1465
3	3.2403	0.0020
4	1.3157	0.1515
5	2.1258	0.0028
6	0.0559	0.0006
7	0.3828	0.0045
8	1.0855	0.0176
9	3.0135	0.0216
10	1.1985	0.0036
11	0.1663	0.0017
13	0.6096	0.0198
14	2.2213	0.0133
15	1.4921	0.0062
16	0.8667	0.0201
17	0.1007	0.0030
18	0.9500	0.0110
19	1.6003	0.0125
20	3.1243	0.0196
21	3.2778	0.0025
22	0.6693	0.0163
23	2.6933	0.0366
24	0.1318	0.0083
26	0.2078	0.0082
29	0.8670	0.0061
30	0.8017	0.0165
31	1.3692	0.0023
32	0.9914	0.0043
33	1.3367	0.0032
34	14.8470	0.0169
35	2.2435	0.0103
36	1.4795	0.0033
37	1.1054	0.0116
39	2.3813	0.0252
40	4.8832	0.0085
43	7.5618	0.0134
46	3.3491	0.0182
47	0.2597	0.0009
48	8.6888	0.0118
49	16.7740	0.0994
50	0.7762	0.0046
51	1.3841	0.0062
52	1.5200	0.0044

Appendix C. Mean TNFα plasma concentrations (pg/ml)

Patient ID (BVH)	TNFα Concentration (pg/ml)	SEM
53	1.8967	0.0188
54	0.9871	0.0040
55	1.5065	0.0079
57	2.4938	0.0106
58	1.6806	0.0009
59	1.6334	0.0067
60	2.0733	0.0057
61	1.7311	0.0059
62	0.8855	0.0022
64	1.1664	0.0083
65	1.4990	0.0057
66	2.2419	0.0017
67	0.9255	0.0036
68	1.7480	0.0060
69	1.0130	0.0091
70	2.1676	0.0112
71	1.5879	0.0025
72	1.8237	0.0210
73	2.0462	0.0197
74	0.8841	0.0046
75	0.8699	0.0036
76	3.0298	0.0166
77	1.2542	0.0030

Patient ID	SV	EF	TAPSE	LVOT	LVIDs	ESV
1		40	1.9	0.9		
2	42.22	61.5	1.49			26.16
3		55	2.2	1.1		
4		55				
5	50.6	77.73	2.7	1.01	2.11	14.5
6	60.15	58.3	2.4			43.02
7	74	69.81	2.2			32
8						
9		50	2.77	1.15		
10		50	2.5	0.7	3.49	
11	47.8	70.29	1.9	0.958		20.2
12	44.05	22.3		1.13	4.89	153.79
13						
14		50	1.61	0.98		
15		55	2.2	1.3		
16	58.695	61	2.2	1.04	3.26	33.44
17	18.2	26.7		0.55		49.9
18	38.91	39.14	1.8			60.5
19						
20		30				
21		55			3.07	
22		35	2.09	1.03		
23		35	1.69	0.75		
24		55				
25		50				
26	73.5	53.7	1.4		3.85	63.5
27						
28	30.71	38.7	1.8	0.78	2.83	48.74
29						
30		55	2.05	0.92	3.74	
31		55	1.78	1.17	3.97	
32		55	1.76	0.69		
33	48.5	30.5	2.58	0.81	4.44	113.5
34						
35		70			1.5	
36		50				
37						
38						
39		35				
40						
41						
42		40				
43		45	2.48	1.1	3.3	

Appendix D. Patient Echocardiogram data (Systolic)

Patient ID	SV	EF	TAPSE	LVOT	LVIDs	ESV
44		55	2.14	0.69	3.04	
45				1.01	2.72	
46		35				
47						
48		50	2.88	1.21	2.52	
49						
50		55		0.98	2.56	
51		40	2	1.09		
52		45	2.57			
53		50	2.3	0.97		
54		55	2.09	0.83		
55		45		0.62	4.05	
56	40.39	30.2	2.27	1.12		87.5
57		55	1.82	0.77		
58		60	2.04	1.23		
59						
60		45		0.91	3.58	
61						
62		45	1.7	0.89	3.31	
63	58.2	56	2.24	0.91	4.1	45.8
64		45		0.81	3.5	
65						
66	43.695	45.8	2.05	0.68	3.27	45.9
67	37.425	32.6	1.78	0.92		73.56
68	44.85	40.6			4.17	62.6
69			2.52	1.02		
70				1.34		
71		62.5			2.78	
72		47.5	1.79	0.69	2.65	
73		53	2.05	0.85	4.02	
74		55	2.57	1.49		
75		37.5	2.33	0.68		
76						
77		57.5	2.56		2.8	
Patient ID	LVIDd	E/A ratio	TR velocity	E/e ratio	Peak E wave	EDV
------------	-------	-----------	-------------	-----------	-------------	--------
1		1.6	1.3		0.85	
2		0.63	2.08	6	0.45	68.38
3		0.7	2.3	10	0.5	
4				8		
5	3.88	0.62			0.44	65.1
6		0.85	2.16	7.5	0.75	103.17
7		1.21	1.91		0.91	106
8						
9		0.78			0.82	
10	4.6	0.98			0.54	
11						68
12	6.12	0.89	2.61		0.9	197.84
13				8.51		
14	4.12	1.34		9.46	1.06	
15			2.7			
16	5.05	1.5		11.3	0.96	92.135
17	4.7	1.86	3.27		0.86	68.1
18		1.29	3.58	11.3	1.13	99.41
19				5.55		
20						
21	4.79		2.45		0.76	
22	6.33		3.31			
23		0.83			0.7	
24	4.15	0.99			0.55	
25						
26	4.97	1.04	2.59	8.55	0.47	133.5
27						
28	4.52	1.13	2.58	22.54	1.01	79.45
29						
30	4.03	1.05	2.16	9.69	0.92	
31	4.97	1.06	2.16	9.8	0.93	
32	3.68	0.92			0.8	
33	4.97	0.72		12.36	0.86	162
34						
35	3.4	0.91			0.67	
36		0.77			0.72	
37				8.59		
38						
39						
40						
41						
42						
43	5	0.76		8.55	0.51	

Appendix E. Patient Echocardiogram data (Diastolic)

Patient ID	LVIDd	E/A ratio	TR velocity	E/e ratio	Peak E wave	EDV
44	4.13	0.84	2.09	7.06	0.63	
45	3.79	0.59	2.43	8.56	0.47	
46	5.29		2.82			
47				8.45		
48	4.77	0.88	2.74	10.32	0.94	
49						
50	4.38	1.03			0.78	
51	4.19	0.56		6.69	0.57	
52	4.64	0.63		6.79	0.62	
53	5.71	1.18		11.18	1.06	
54	4.32	1.31		9.05	0.75	
55	5.25	0.55	2.63		0.53	
56	5.72	0.74		7.47	0.48	127.89
57		0.78		10.33	0.57	
58	4.26	0.47		5.69	0.43	
59				15.13		
60	4.72	1.38		14.07	0.95	
61						
62	4.96	0.77	2.18	6.55	0.35	
63	5.7	1.05		7.85	0.61	104
64	4.56	0.75	2.48		0.64	
65						
66	5.13	0.57		9.8	0.48	89.595
67		0.56	2.39	10.61	0.59	110.985
68	5.07	0.71			0.67	107.45
69	4.37	1.05			0.77	
70	4.62	1.03			0.82	
71	4.64	1.43	2.7		1.09	
72	4.03	0.86	1.83	15.47	0.86	
73	5.13	0.68			0.56	
74	4.1	1.02	2.58	7.07	0.94	
75	5.15	0.79			0.42	
76						
77	4.8	0.88			0.79	

Echocardiogram Parameter	"Normal" range		
SV (ml/m3)	60 - 120		
EF (%)	55 - 70		
TAPSE (cm)	1.5 - 2.5		
LVOT (m/s)	0.8 - 1.0		
LVIDs (cm)	2.0 - 4.0		
ESV (ml)	19 - 50		
LVIDd (cm)	3.5 - 5.6		
E/A ratio	1.0 - 2.0		
TR Velocity (m/s)	< 2.55		
E/e Ratio	< 8		
Peak E Wave (m/s)	0.6 - 0.8		
EDV (ml)	56 - 104		

Appendix F. Normal reference values for ECHO parameters

Bibliography

Abbasifard, M., Kandelouei, T., Aslani, S., Razi, B., Imani, D., Fasihi, M., Cicero, F. G., & Sahebkar, A. (2022). Effect of statins on the plasma/serum levels of inflammatory markers in patients with cardiovascular disease; a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Inflammopharmacology*, *30*(2), 369–383. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10787-022-00926-y

Abd alamir, M., Goyfman, M., Chaus, A., Dabbous, F., Tamura, L., Sandfort, V., Brown, A., & Budoff, M. (2018). The correlation of dyslipidemia with the extent of coronary artery disease in the multiethnic study of Atherosclerosis. *Journal of Lipids*, *2018*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/5607349

Abernethy, A., Raza, S., Sun, J., Anstrom, K. J., Tracy, R., Steiner, J., VanBuren, P., & LeWinter, M. M. (2018). Pro-Inflammatory biomarkers in stable versus acutely decompensated heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 7(8). https://doi.org/10.1161/jaha.117.007385

Alhayaza, R., Haque, E., Karbasiafshar, C., Sellke, F. W., & Abid, M. R. (2020). The relationship between reactive oxygen species and endothelial cell metabolism. *Frontiers in Chemistry*, *8*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2020.592688

Al-Lamki, R. S., Brookes, A. P., Wang, J., Reid, M. J., Parameshwar, J., Goddard, M. J., Tellides, G., Wan, T., Min, W., Pober, J. S., & Bradley, J. R. (2009). TNF receptors differentially signal and are differentially expressed and regulated in the human heart. *American Journal of Transplantation*, *9*(12), 2679–2696. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2009.02831.x

Almassabi, R. F., Mir, R., Javid, J., AbuDuhier, F. M., Almotairi, R., Alhelali, M. H., Algehainy, N., Alsaedi, B. S. O., Albalawi, S. O., & Elfaki, I. (2023). Differential expression of serum proinflammatory cytokine TNF- α and genetic determinants of TNF- α , CYP2C19*17, miR-423 genes and their effect on Coronary Artery Disease predisposition and progression. *Life*, *13*(11), 2142. https://doi.org/10.3390/life13112142

Alva, R., Gardner, G. L., Liang, P., & Stuart, J. A. (2022). Supraphysiological oxygen levels in mammalian cell culture: Current state and future perspectives. *Cells*, *11*(19), 3123. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11193123

Amin, M. N., Siddiqui, S. A., Ibrahim, M., Hakim, M. L., Ahammed, M. S., Kabir, A., & Sultana, F. (2020). Inflammatory cytokines in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease and cancer. *SAGE Open Medicine*, *8*, 205031212096575. https://doi.org/10.1177/2050312120965752

Anavekar, N. S., & Oh, J. K. (2009). Doppler echocardiography: A contemporary review. *Journal of Cardiology*, *54*(3), 347–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jjcc.2009.10.001

Aronson, D., & Edelman, E. R. (2014). Coronary artery disease and diabetes mellitus. *Cardiology Clinics*, *32*(3), 439–455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccl.2014.04.001

Aruoma, O. I., & Halliwell, B. (1987). Superoxide-dependent and ascorbate-dependent formation of hydroxyl radicals from hydrogen peroxide in the presence of iron. are lactoferrin and transferrin promoters of hydroxyl-radical generation? *Biochemical Journal, 241*(1), 273–278. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj2410273

Aziz, N., Nishanian, P., Mitsuyasu, R., Detels, R., & Fahey, J. L. (1999). Variables that affect assays for plasma cytokines and soluble activation markers. *Clinical Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology*, *6*(1), 89–95. https://doi.org/10.1128/cdli.6.1.89-95.1999

Baaten, C. C., Nagy, M., Bergmeier, W., Spronk, H. M., & van der Meijden, P. E. (2023). Platelet biology and function: Plaque erosion vs. rupture. *European Heart Journal*, 45(1), 18–31. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehad720

Bachschmid, M. M., Schildknecht, S., Matsui, R., Zee, R., Haeussler, D., A. Cohen, R., Pimental, D., & Loo, B. van. (2012). Vascular aging: Chronic oxidative stress and impairment of redox signaling—consequences for vascular homeostasis and disease. *Annals of Medicine*, 45(1), 17–36. https://doi.org/10.3109/07853890.2011.645498

Baniaamam, M., Handoko, M. L., Agca, R., Heslinga, S. C., Konings, T. C., van Halm, V. P., & Nurmohamed, M. T. (2020). The effect of anti-TNF therapy on cardiac function in rheumatoid arthritis: An observational study. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, *9*(10), 3145. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9103145

Basiak, M., Kosowski, M., Hachula, M., & Okopien, B. (2022). Impact of PCSK9 inhibition on proinflammatory cytokines and matrix metalloproteinases release in patients with mixed hyperlipidemia and vulnerable atherosclerotic plaque. *Pharmaceuticals*, *15*(7), 802. https://doi.org/10.3390/ph15070802

Bayir, H. (2005). Reactive oxygen species. *Critical Care Medicine*, *33*(Suppl). https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ccm.0000186787.64500.12

Beckman, J. A., Creager, M. A., & Libby, P. (2002). Diabetes and atherosclerosis. *JAMA*, *287*(19), 2570. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.287.19.2570

Bench, T., Burkhoff, D., O'Connell, J. B., Costanzo, M. R., Abraham, W. T., St. John Sutton, M., & Maurer, M. S. (2009). Heart failure with normal ejection fraction: Consideration of mechanisms other than diastolic dysfunction. *Current Heart Failure Reports*, *6*(1), 57–64. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11897-009-0010-z

Berg, A. H., & Scherer, P. E. (2005). Adipose tissue, inflammation, and cardiovascular disease. *Circulation Research*, *96*(9), 939–949. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.res.0000163635.62927.34

Berk, M., Dean, O., Drexhage, H., McNeil, J. J., Moylan, S., O'Neil, A., Davey, C. G., Sanna, L., & Maes, M. (2013). Aspirin: A review of its neurobiological properties and therapeutic potential for mental illness. *BMC Medicine*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-11-74

Berry, C. E., & Hare, J. M. (2004). Xanthine oxidoreductase and cardiovascular disease: Molecular mechanisms and pathophysiological implications. *The Journal of Physiology*, *555*(3), 589–606. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2003.055913

Bers, D. M. (2001). Excitation-contraction coupling and cardiac contractile force. *Developments in Cardiovascular Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-010-0658-3

Bers, D. M. (2002). Cardiac excitation–contraction coupling. *Nature*, *415*(6868), 198–205. https://doi.org/10.1038/415198a

Berthonneche, C., Sulpice, T., Boucher, F., Gouraud, L., de Leiris, J., O'Connor, S. E., Herbert, J.-M., & Janiak, P. (2004). New insights into the pathological role of TNF- α in early cardiac dysfunction and subsequent heart failure after infarction in rats. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 287(1). https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.01210.2003

BHF. (2023). *Heart & circulatory disease statistics 2023*. British Heart Foundation. https://www.bhf.org.uk/what-we-do/our-research/heart-statistics/heart-statistics-publications/cardiovascular-disease-statistics-2023

BHF. (2024). *Global Heart & Circulatory Diseases Factsheet*. British Heart Foundation. https://www.bhf.org.uk/-/media/files/research/heart-statistics/bhf-cvd-statistics---uk-factsheet.pdf

Blaser, H., Dostert, C., Mak, T. W., & Brenner, D. (2016). TNF and Ros crosstalk in inflammation. *Trends in Cell Biology*, *26*(4), 249–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2015.12.002

Bolisetty, S., & Jaimes, E. (2013). Mitochondria and reactive oxygen species: Physiology and pathophysiology. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *14*(3), 6306–6344. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms14036306

Bonow, R. O., Vitale, D. F., Bacharach, S. L., Frederick, T. M., Kent, K. M., & Green, M. V. (1985). Asynchronous left ventricular regional function and impaired global diastolic filling in patients with coronary artery disease: reversal after coronary angioplasty. *Circulation*, *71*(2), 297–307. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.71.2.297

Bou-Teen, D., Kaludercic, N., Weissman, D., Turan, B., Maack, C., Di Lisa, F., & Ruiz-Meana, M. (2021). Mitochondrial Ros and mitochondria-targeted antioxidants in the aged heart. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, *167*, 109–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2021.02.043

Boveris, A., Oshino, N., & Chance, B. (1972). The cellular production of hydrogen peroxide. *Biochemical Journal*, *128*(3), 617–630. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj1280617

Bozkurt, B., Kribbs, S. B., Clubb, F. J., Michael, L. H., Didenko, V. V., Hornsby, P. J., Seta, Y., Oral, H., Spinale, F. G., & Mann, D. L. (1998). Pathophysiologically relevant concentrations of tumor necrosis factor- α promote progressive left ventricular dysfunction and remodeling in rats. *Circulation*, *97*(14), 1382–1391. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.97.14.1382

Bozkurt, B., Kribbs, S. B., Clubb, F. J., Michael, L. H., Didenko, V. V., Hornsby, P. J., Seta, Y., Oral, H., Spinale, F. G., & Mann, D. L. (1998). Pathophysiologically relevant concentrations of Tumor Necrosis Factor- α promote progressive left ventricular dysfunction and remodeling in rats. *Circulation*, *97*(14), 1382–1391. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.97.14.1382

Brown, O. I., Bridge, K. I., & Kearney, M. T. (2021). Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidases in glucose homeostasis and diabetes-related endothelial cell dysfunction. *Cells*, *10*(9), 2315. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10092315

Bryant, D., Becker, L., Richardson, J., Shelton, J., Franco, F., Peshock, R., Thompson, M., & Giroir, B. (1998). Cardiac failure in transgenic mice with myocardial expression of tumor necrosis factor- α . *Circulation*, *97*(14), 1375–1381. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.97.14.1375

Bucova, M., Bernadic, M., & Buckingham, T. (2008). C-reactive protein, cytokines, and inflammation in cardiovascular diseases. *Bratislavske lekarske listy*, *109*(8), 333–340.

Bulotta, S., Barsacchi, R., Rotiroti, D., Borgese, N., & Clementi, E. (2001). Activation of the endothelial nitric-oxide synthase by tumor necrosis factor- α . *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(9), 6529–6536. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m006535200

Burke, A. P., & Virmani, R. (2007). Pathophysiology of acute myocardial infarction. *Medical Clinics of North America*, *91*(4), 553–572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcna.2007.03.005

Cadet, J., Ravanat, J.-L., Helen, G. W., Yeo, H. C., & Ames, B. N. (1994). Singlet oxygen DNA damage: Chromatographic and Mass Spectrometric Analysis of Damage Products. *Methods in Enzymology*, 79– 88. https://doi.org/10.1016/0076-6879(94)34079-x

Cailleret, M., Amadou, A., Andrieu-Abadie, N., Nawrocki, A., Adamy, C., Ait-Mamar, B., Rocaries, F., Best-Belpomme, M., Levade, T., Pavoine, C., & Pecker, F. (2004). *n* -acetylcysteine prevents the deleterious effect of tumor necrosis factor- α on calcium transients and contraction in adult rat cardiomyocytes. *Circulation*, 109(3), 406–411. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.0000109499.00587.ff

Cameli, M., Mondillo, S., Solari, M., Righini, F. M., Andrei, V., Contaldi, C., De Marco, E., Di Mauro, M., Esposito, R., Gallina, S., Montisci, R., Rossi, A., Galderisi, M., Nistri, S., Agricola, E., & Mele, D. (2015). Echocardiographic assessment of left ventricular systolic function: From ejection fraction to torsion. *Heart Failure Reviews*, *21*(1), 77–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10741-015-9521-8

Carnethon, M. R., Pu, J., Howard, G., Albert, M. A., Anderson, C. A. M., Bertoni, A. G., Mujahid, M. S., Palaniappan, L., Taylor, H. A., Willis, M., & Yancy, C. W. (2017). Cardiovascular health in African Americans: A scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, *136*(21). https://doi.org/10.1161/cir.00000000000534

Cassar, A., Holmes, D. R., Rihal, C. S., & Gersh, B. J. (2009). Chronic coronary artery disease: Diagnosis and management. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, *84*(12), 1130–1146. https://doi.org/10.4065/mcp.2009.0391

Charles Seychell, B., Vella, M., James Hunter, G., & Hunter, T. (2024). The good and the bad: The bifunctional enzyme xanthine oxidoreductase in the production of reactive oxygen species. *Reactive Oxygen Species - Advances and Developments*. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.112498

Chen, X. J., & Butow, R. A. (2005). The organization and inheritance of the mitochondrial genome. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, *6*(11), 815–825. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1708

Chen, X.-L., Zhang, Q., Zhao, R., & Medford, R. M. (2004). Superoxide, H_2O_2 , and iron are required for TNF- α -induced MCP-1 gene expression in endothelial cells: Role of RAC1 and NADPH oxidase. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 286(3). https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00716.2003

Chung, E. S., Packer, M., Lo, K. H., Fasanmade, A. A., & Willerson, J. T. (2003). Randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled, pilot trial of infliximab, a chimeric monoclonal antibody to tumor necrosis factor- α , in patients with moderate-to-severe heart failure. *Circulation*, *107*(25), 3133–3140. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.0000077913.60364.d2

Crossman, D. C. (2004). The pathophysiology of myocardial ischaemia. *Heart, 90*(5), 576–580. https://doi.org/10.1136/hrt.2003.029017

D'Souza, A., Hussain, M., Howarth, F. C., Woods, N. M., Bidasee, K., & Singh, J. (2009). Pathogenesis and pathophysiology of accelerated atherosclerosis in the diabetic heart. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, *331*(1–2), 89–116. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-009-0148-8

Das, A., Smith, J. A., Gibson, C., Varma, A. K., Ray, S. K., & Banik, N. L. (2010). Estrogen receptor agonists and estrogen attenuate TNF- -induced apoptosis in VSC4.1 motoneurons. *Journal of Endocrinology*, *208*(2), 171–182. https://doi.org/10.1677/joe-10-0338

Davies, M. J. (2000). Coronary disease: The pathophysiology of acute coronary syndromes. *Heart*, *83*(3), 361–366. https://doi.org/10.1136/heart.83.3.361

De Palma, C., Meacci, E., Perrotta, C., Bruni, P., & Clementi, E. (2006). Endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation by tumor necrosis factor α through neutral sphingomyelinase 2, sphingosine kinase 1, and sphingosine 1 phosphate receptors. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *26*(1), 99–105. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.atv.0000194074.59584.42

Defer, N., Azroyan, A., Pecker, F., & Pavoine, C. (2007). TNFR1 and TNFR2 signalling interplay in cardiacmyocytes.JournalofBiologicalChemistry,282(49),35564–35573.https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m704003200

Devin, A., Cook, A., Lin, Y., Rodriguez, Y., Kelliher, M., & Liu, Z. (2000). The distinct roles of TRAF2 and rip in IKK activation by TNF-R1. *Immunity*, *12*(4), 419–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1074-7613(00)80194-6

Devin, A., Lin, Y., & Liu, Z. (2003). The role of the death-domain kinase rip in tumour-necrosis-factorinduced activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases. *EMBO Reports*, *4*(6), 623–627. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor.embor854

Di Cesare, M., Sorić, M., Bovet, P., Miranda, J. J., Bhutta, Z., Stevens, G. A., Laxmaiah, A., Kengne, A.-P., & Bentham, J. (2019). The epidemiological burden of obesity in childhood: A worldwide epidemic requiring urgent action. *BMC Medicine*, *17*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-019-1449-8

Diamantis, E., Kyriakos, G., Quiles-Sanchez, L. V., Farmaki, P., & Troupis, T. (2017). The antiinflammatory effects of statins on coronary artery disease: An updated review of the literature. *Current Cardiology Reviews*, *13*(3). https://doi.org/10.2174/1573403x13666170426104611

Dollery, C. M., Owen, C. A., Sukhova, G. K., Krettek, A., Shapiro, S. D., & Libby, P. (2003). Neutrophil elastase in human atherosclerotic plaques. *Circulation*, *107*(22), 2829–2836. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.0000072792.65250.4a

Dondelinger, Y., Jouan-Lanhouet, S., Divert, T., Theatre, E., Bertin, J., Gough, P. J., Giansanti, P., Heck, A. J. R., Dejardin, E., Vandenabeele, P., & Bertrand, M. J. M. (2015). NF-KB-independent role of IKKA/ikkβ in preventing Ripk1 kinase-dependent apoptotic and necroptotic cell death during TNF signaling. *Molecular Cell*, *60*(1), 63–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.07.032

Drew, B., & Leeuwenburgh, C. (2002). Aging and the role of reactive nitrogen species. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *959*(1), 66–81. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2002.tb02084.x

Dridi, H., Santulli, G., Bahlouli, L., Miotto, M. C., Weninger, G., & Marks, A. R. (2023). Mitochondrial calcium overload plays a causal role in oxidative stress in the failing heart. *Biomolecules*, *13*(9), 1409. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom13091409

Du, X. L., Edelstein, D., Dimmeler, S., Ju, Q., Sui, C., & Brownlee, M. (2001). Hyperglycemia inhibits endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity by posttranslational modification at the Akt Site. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *108*(9), 1341–1348. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci200111235

Du, X.-L., Edelstein, D., Rossetti, L., Fantus, I. G., Goldberg, H., Ziyadeh, F., Wu, J., & Brownlee, M. (2000). Hyperglycemia-induced mitochondrial superoxide overproduction activates the hexosamine pathway and induces plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 expression by increasing SP1 glycosylation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *97*(22), 12222–12226. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.22.12222 Duncan, D. J., Hopkins, P. M., & Harrison, S. M. (2007). Negative inotropic effects of tumour necrosis factor- α and interleukin-1 θ are ameliorated by Alfentanil in rat ventricular myocytes. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 150(6), 720–726. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0707147

Eapen, D., Kalra, G. L., Merchant, N., Arora, A., & Khan, B. V. (2009). Metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease in South Asians. *Vascular Health and Risk Management*, *5*(default), 731–743. https://doi.org/10.2147/VHRM.S5172

Eichenholz, P. W., Eichacker, P. Q., Hoffman, W. D., Banks, S. M., Parrillo, J. E., Danner, R. L., & Natanson, C. (1992). Tumor necrosis factor challenges in canines: patterns of cardiovascular dysfunction. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, *263*(3), H668–H675. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.1992.263.3.h668

El Aouar, L. M. M., Meyerfreud, D., Magalhães, P., Rodrigues, S. L., Baldo, M. P., El Aouar, S. M., El Aouar, N. A., Mill, J. G., & Campos Filho, O. (2013). Relationship between left atrial volume and diastolic dysfunction in 500 Brazilian patients. *Arquivos Brasileiros de Cardiologia*. https://doi.org/10.5935/abc.20130109

El Missiri, A., Alzurfi, A., & Keddeas, V. (2020). The relationship between Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha and left ventricular diastolic function. *Journal of Cardiovascular Echography*, *30*(2), 62. https://doi.org/10.4103/jcecho.jcecho_1_20

Elahi, M. M., Kong, Y. X., & Matata, B. M. (2000). Oxidative stress as a mediator of cardiovascular disease. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, *2*(5), 259–269. https://doi.org/10.4161/oxim.2.5.9441

Eruslanov, Evgeniy, & Kusmartsev, S. (2009). Identification of ROS using oxidized DCFDA and flowcytometry. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 57–72. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60761-411-1_4

Espersen, C., Modin, D., Platz, E., Jensen, G. B., Schnohr, P., Prescott, E., Gislason, G., Møgelvang, R., & Biering-Sørensen, T. (2022). Global and regional wall motion abnormalities and incident heart failure in the general population. *International Journal of Cardiology*, *357*, 146–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2022.03.027

European Study Group on Diastolic Heart Failure. (1998). How to diagnose diastolic heart failure. *European Heart Journal*, *19*(7), 990–1003. https://doi.org/10.1053/euhj.1998.1057

Fadah, K., Hechanova, A., & Mukherjee, D. (2022). Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, and management of coronary artery disease in the elderly. *International Journal of Angiology*, *31*(04), 244–250. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0042-1751234

Fadhil Jaafar, A., Afrisham, R., Fadaei, R., Farrokhi, V., Moradi, N., Abbasi, A., & Einollahi, N. (2023). CCN3/NOV serum levels in coronary artery disease (CAD) patients and its correlation with TNF- α and IL-6. *BMC Research Notes*, *16*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-023-06590-x

Fahed, A. C., & Jang, I.-K. (2021). Plaque erosion and acute coronary syndromes: Phenotype, molecular characteristics and Future Directions. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, *18*(10), 724–734. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41569-021-00542-3

Faletra, F. F., Ho, S. Y., Leo, L. A., Paiocchi, V. L., Mankad, S., Vannan, M., & Moccetti, T. (2018). Which cardiac structure lies nearby? revisiting two-dimensional cross-sectional anatomy. *Journal of the American Society of Echocardiography*, *31*(9), 967–975. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.echo.2018.04.014

Farrar, E. J., Huntley, G. D., & Butcher, J. (2015). Correction: Endothelial-derived oxidative stress drives myofibroblastic activation and calcification of the aortic valve. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0128850

Faustman, D., & Davis, M. (2010). TNF receptor 2 pathway: Drug target for autoimmune diseases. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, *9*(6), 482–493. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3030

Felker, G. M., Shaw, L. K., & O'Connor, C. M. (2002). A standardized definition of ischemic cardiomyopathy for use in clinical research. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *39*(2), 210–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0735-1097(01)01738-7

Fiers, W. (1991). Tumor necrosis factor characterization at the molecular, Cellular and in vivo level. *FEBS Letters*, *285*(2), 199–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(91)80803-b

Finck, B. N., & Kelly, D. P. (2007). Peroxisome proliferator–activated receptor γ coactivator-1 (PGC-1) regulatory cascade in cardiac physiology and disease. *Circulation*, *115*(19), 2540–2548. https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.107.670588

Finkel, M. S., Oddis, C. V., Jacob, T. D., Watkins, S. C., Hattler, B. G., & Simmons, R. L. (1992). Negative inotropic effects of cytokines on the heart mediated by nitric oxide. *Science*, *257*(5068), 387–389. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1631560

Flaherty, J. D., Bax, J. J., De Luca, L., Rossi, J. S., Davidson, C. J., Filippatos, G., Liu, P. P., Konstam, M. A., Greenberg, B., Mehra, M. R., Breithardt, G., Pang, P. S., Young, J. B., Fonarow, G. C., Bonow, R. O., & Gheorghiade, M. (2009). Acute heart failure syndromes in patients with coronary artery disease. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *53*(3), 254–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2008.08.072

Flint, A. J., Rexrode, K. M., Hu, F. B., Glynn, R. J., Caspard, H., Manson, J. E., Willett, W. C., & Rimm, E. B. (2010). Body mass index, waist circumference, and risk of coronary heart disease: A prospective study among men and women. *Obesity Research & amp; Clinical Practice*, 4(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orcp.2010.01.001

Fonarow, G. C., Stough, W. G., Abraham, W. T., Albert, N. M., Gheorghiade, M., Greenberg, B. H., O'Connor, C. M., Sun, J. L., Yancy, C. W., & Young, J. B. (2007). Characteristics, treatments, and outcomes of patients with preserved systolic function hospitalized for heart failure. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *50*(8), 768–777. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2007.04.064

Ford, E. S., & Capewell, S. (2011). Proportion of the decline in cardiovascular mortality disease due to prevention versus treatment: Public health versus clinical care. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *32*(1), 5–22. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031210-101211

Forouhi, N. G., & Sattar, N. (2006). CVD risk factors and ethnicity—a homogeneous relationship? *Atherosclerosis Supplements*, 7(1), 11–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosissup.2006.01.003

Forrester, S. J., Kikuchi, D. S., Hernandes, M. S., Xu, Q., & Griendling, K. K. (2018). Reactive oxygen species in metabolic and inflammatory signaling. *Circulation Research*, *122*(6), 877–902. https://doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.117.311401

Frey, R. S., Ushio–Fukai, M., & Malik, A. B. (2009). NADPH oxidase-dependent signaling in endothelial cells: Role in physiology and pathophysiology. *Antioxidants & amp; Redox Signaling*, *11*(4), 791–810. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2008.2220

Gao, Xiu-ren, Adhikari, C. M., Peng, L., Guo, X., Zhai, Y., He, X., Zhang, L.-Y., Lin, J., & Zuo, Z. (2009). Efficacy of different doses of aspirin in decreasing blood levels of inflammatory markers in patients with cardiovascular metabolic syndrome. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, *61*(11), 1505–1510. https://doi.org/10.1211/jpp.61.11.0010

Gao, Xue, Belmadani, S., Picchi, A., Xu, X., Potter, B. J., Tewari-Singh, N., Capobianco, S., Chilian, W. M., & Zhang, C. (2007). Tumor necrosis factor- α induces endothelial dysfunction in LEPRdb mice. *Circulation*, 115(2), 245–254. https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.106.650671

Garcia, M. J., Thomas, J. D., & Klein, A. L. (1998). New Doppler echocardiographic applications for the study of diastolic function. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *32*(4), 865–875. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0735-1097(98)00345-3

Gaziano, J. M. (2010). Fifth phase of the epidemiologic transition. *JAMA*, *303*(3), 275. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2009.2025

Gaziano, T. A., Bitton, A., Anand, S., Abrahams-Gessel, S., & Murphy, A. (2010). Growing epidemic of coronary heart disease in low- and middle-income countries. *Current Problems in Cardiology*, *35*(2), 72–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpcardiol.2009.10.002

Germing, A., Gotzmann, M., Schikowski, T., Vierkötter, A., Ranft, U., & Mügge, A. (2011). Diastolic dysfunction without abnormalities in left atrial and left ventricular geometry does not affect quality of life in elderly women. *Experimental and clinical cardiology*, *16*(2), 37–39.

Gheorghiade, M., Sopko, G., De Luca, L., Velazquez, E. J., Parker, J. D., Binkley, P. F., Sadowski, Z., Golba, K. S., Prior, D. L., Rouleau, J. L., & Bonow, R. O. (2006). Navigating the crossroads of coronary artery disease and heart failure. *Circulation*, *114*(11), 1202–1213. https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.106.623199

Gibson, D. G. (2003). Clinical assessment of left ventricular diastolic function. *Heart*, *89*(2), 231–238. https://doi.org/10.1136/heart.89.2.231

Goffart, S., Tikkanen, P., Michell, C., Wilson, T., & Pohjoismäki, J. L. (2021). The type and source of reactive oxygen species influences the outcome of oxidative stress in cultured cells. *Cells*, *10*(5), 1075. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10051075

Goldhaber, J. I., Kim, K. H., Natterson, P. D., Lawrence, T., Yang, P., & Weiss, J. N. (1996). Effects of TNF-
alpha on [ca2+]i and contractility in isolated adult rabbit ventricular myocytes. American Journal of
Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 271(4).
https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.1996.271.4.h1449

Goldstein, S. L., Leung, J. C., & Silverstein, D. M. (2006). Pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in chronic pediatric dialysis patients. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 1(5), 979–986. https://doi.org/10.2215/cjn.02291205

González-Clemente, J.M. *et al.* (2021) 'Arterial stiffness in type 1 diabetes: The case for the arterial wall itself as a target organ', *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 10(16), p. 3616. doi:10.3390/jcm10163616.

Gotsman, I., Stabholz, A., Planer, D., Pugatsch, T., Lapidus, L., Novikov, Y., Masrawa, S., Soskolne, A., & Lotan, C. (2008). Serum cytokine tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-6 associated with the severity of coronary artery disease: indicators of an active inflammatory burden? *The Israel Medical Association journal : IMAJ*, *10*(7), 494–498.

Gottdiener, J. S., Aurigemma, G. P., Kitzman, D. W., Arnold, A. M., Egher, C. S., Fowle, K. M., & Hill, J. C. (2003). Diastolic left ventricular filling patterns in diastolic versus systolic congestive heart failure of the elderly: The cardiovascular heart study. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *41*(6), 200. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0735-1097(03)81958-7

Grell, M. (1999). Induction of cell death by tumour necrosis factor (TNF) receptor 2,CD40 and CD30: A role for TNF-R1 activation by endogenous membrane-anchored TNF. *The EMBO Journal*, *18*(11), 3034–3043. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/18.11.3034

Grell, M., Douni, E., Wajant, H., Löhden, M., Clauss, M., Maxeiner, B., Georgopoulos, S., Lesslauer, W., Kollias, G., Pfizenmaier, K., & Scheurich, P. (1995). The transmembrane form of tumor necrosis factor is the prime activating ligand of the 80 KDA tumor necrosis factor receptor. *Cell*, *83*(5), 793–802. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(95)90192-2

Greensmith, D. J., & Nirmalan, M. (2013). The effects of tumor necrosis factor-alpha on systolic and diastolic function in rat ventricular myocytes. *Physiological Reports*, 1(4). https://doi.org/10.1002/phy2.93

Grover-Páez, F., & Zavalza-Gómez, A. B. (2009). Endothelial dysfunction and cardiovascular risk factors. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, *84*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2008.12.013

Guadagnoli, E., & Velicer, W. F. (1988). Relation to sample size to the stability of component patterns. *Psychological Bulletin*, *103*(2), 265–275. https://doi.org/10.1037//0033-2909.103.2.265

Gullestad, L., Ueland, T., Vinge, L. E., Finsen, A., Yndestad, A., & Aukrust, P. (2012). Inflammatory cytokines in heart failure: Mediators and markers. *Cardiology*, *122*(1), 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1159/000338166

Gupta, R., & Wood, D. A. (2019). Primary prevention of ischaemic heart disease: Populations, individuals, and health professionals. *The Lancet, 394*(10199), 685–696. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(19)31893-8

Hadgraft, N., & Greensmith, D. (2018). 138 The effects of tumour necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-1 beta on cardiac intracellular calcium handling. *Heart*, 104(6), 100– 102. https://doi.org/10.1136/heartjnl-2018-BCS.135

Hajar, R. (2017). Risk factors for coronary artery disease: Historical perspectives. *Heart Views*, *18*(3), 109. https://doi.org/10.4103/heartviews.heartviews_106_17

Halliwell, B. (2003). Oxidative stress in cell culture: An under-appreciated problem? *FEBS Letters*, *540*(1–3), 3–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0014-5793(03)00235-7

Halliwell, B., & Gutteridge, J. M. C. (1985). Free radicals in biology and medicine. *Journal of Free Radicals in Biology & Compression Provided Provided Complete Co*

Hamid, T., Gu, Y., Ortines, R. V., Bhattacharya, C., Wang, G., Xuan, Y.-T., & Prabhu, S. D. (2009). Divergent tumor necrosis factor receptor–related remodeling responses in heart failure. *Circulation*, *119*(10), 1386–1397. https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.108.802918

Hamza, M., Fatima, M., Masood, M., Umar Masood, H., Tasleem, G., Ahmed, H., Nadir, M., & Satti, Z. (2020). Relationship of left ventricular and atrial dimensions with moderate to severe left ventricular diastolic dysfunction (grade II and above). *African Health Sciences*, *20*(4), 1749–53. https://doi.org/10.4314/ahs.v20i4.27

Harismendy, O., Notani, D., Song, X., Rahim, N. G., Tanasa, B., Heintzman, N., Ren, B., Fu, X.-D., Topol, E. J., Rosenfeld, M. G., & Frazer, K. A. (2011). 9p21 DNA variants associated with coronary artery disease impair interferon-γ signalling response. *Nature*, *470*(7333), 264–268. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09753

Hartupee, J., & Mann, D. L. (2016). Neurohormonal activation in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, *14*(1), 30–38. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2016.163

Hatle, L., Brubakk, A., Tromsdal, A., & Angelsen, B. (1978). Noninvasive assessment of pressure drop in mitral stenosis by Doppler ultrasound. *Heart*, *40*(2), 131–140. https://doi.org/10.1136/hrt.40.2.131

Havlicek, L. L., & Peterson, N. L. (1976). Robustness of the Pearson correlation against violations of assumptions. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 43(3_suppl), 1319–1334. https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.1976.43.3f.1319

Havranek, E. P., Mujahid, M. S., Barr, D. A., Blair, I. V., Cohen, M. S., Cruz-Flores, S., Davey-Smith, G., Dennison-Himmelfarb, C. R., Lauer, M. S., Lockwood, D. W., Rosal, M., & Yancy, C. W. (2015). Social determinants of risk and outcomes for cardiovascular disease. *Circulation*, *132*(9), 873–898. https://doi.org/10.1161/cir.0000000000228

Haworth, R. A., & Hunter, D. R. (1979). The ca2+-induced membrane transition in mitochondria. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, *195*(2), 460–467. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-9861(79)90372-2

Hedayatnia, M., Asadi, Z., Zare-Feyzabadi, R., Yaghooti-Khorasani, M., Ghazizadeh, H., Ghaffarian-Zirak, R., Nosrati-Tirkani, A., Mohammadi-Bajgiran, M., Rohban, M., Sadabadi, F., Rahimi, H.-R., Ghalandari, M., Ghaffari, M.-S., Yousefi, A., Pouresmaeili, E., Besharatlou, M.-R., Moohebati, M., Ferns, G. A., Esmaily, H., & Ghayour-Mobarhan, M. (2020). Dyslipidemia and cardiovascular disease risk among the Mashad study population. *Lipids in Health and Disease*, *19*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12944-020-01204-y

Henein, M. Y., Vancheri, S., Longo, G., & Vancheri, F. (2022). The role of inflammation in cardiovascular disease. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(21), 12906. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms232112906

Herbertson, M. J., Werner, H. A., Goddard, C. M., Russell, J. A., Wheeler, A., Coxon, R., & Walley, K. R. (1995). Anti-tumor necrosis factor-alpha prevents decreased ventricular contractility in endotoxemic pigs. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *152*(2), 480–488. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.152.2.7633696

Heusch, G., Libby, P., Gersh, B., Yellon, D., Böhm, M., Lopaschuk, G., & Opie, L. (2014). Cardiovascular remodelling in coronary artery disease and heart failure. *The Lancet*, *383*(9932), 1933–1943. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(14)60107-0

Higuchi, Y., McTiernan, C. F., Frye, C. B., McGowan, B. S., Chan, T. O., & Feldman, A. M. (2004a). Tumor necrosis factor receptors 1 and 2 differentially regulate survival, cardiac dysfunction, and remodeling in transgenic mice with tumor necrosis factor- α -induced cardiomyopathy. *Circulation*, 109(15), 1892–1897. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.0000124227.00670.ab

Holen, J., & Simonsen, S. (1979). Determination of pressure gradient in mitral stenosis with Doppler echocardiography. *Heart*, *41*(5), 529–535. https://doi.org/10.1136/hrt.41.5.529

Holtzman, J. N., Kaur, G., Hansen, B., Bushana, N., & Gulati, M. (2023). Sex differences in the management of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. *Atherosclerosis*, *384*, 117268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2023.117268

Hong, Y., Boiti, A., Vallone, D., & Foulkes, N. S. (2024). Reactive oxygen species signaling and oxidative stress: Transcriptional regulation and evolution. *Antioxidants*, *13*(3), 312. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox13030312

Hsueh, W. A., & Law, R. E. (1999). Insulin signaling in the arterial wall. *The American Journal of Cardiology*, *84*(1), 21–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0002-9149(99)00353-7

Hung, M., Bounsanga, J., & Voss, M. W. (2017). Interpretation of correlations in clinical research. *Postgraduate Medicine*, *129*(8), 902–906. https://doi.org/10.1080/00325481.2017.1383820

Idriss, H. T., & Naismith, J. H. (2000). TNF? and the TNF receptor superfamily: Structure-function relationship(s). *Microscopy Research and Technique*, *50*(3), 184–195. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0029(20000801)50:3<184::aid-jemt2>3.0.co;2-h

Inoue, T., Komoda, H., Nonaka, M., Kameda, M., Uchida, T., & Node, K. (2008). Interleukin-8 as an independent predictor of long-term clinical outcome in patients with coronary artery disease. *International Journal of Cardiology*, *124*(3), 319–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2007.02.012

Irwin, M. W., Mak, S., Mann, D. L., Qu, R., Penninger, J. M., Yan, A., Dawood, F., Wen, W.-H., Shou, Z., & Liu, P. (1999). Tissue expression and immunolocalization of Tumor Necrosis Factor-α in postinfarction dysfunctional myocardium. *Circulation*, *99*(11), 1492– 1498. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.99.11.1492

Iside, C., Affinito, O., Punzo, B., Salvatore, M., Mirabelli, P., Cavaliere, C., & Franzese, M. (2023). Stratification of Patients with Coronary Artery Disease by Circulating Cytokines Profile: A Pilot Study. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, *12*(20), 6649. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm12206649

Jebari-Benslaiman, S., Galicia-García, U., Larrea-Sebal, A., Olaetxea, J. R., Alloza, I., Vandenbroeck, K., Benito-Vicente, A., & Martín, C. (2022). Pathophysiology of atherosclerosis. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *23*(6), 3346. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23063346

Jinnouchi, H., Kolodgie, F. D., Romero, M., Virmani, R., & Finn, A. V. (2019). Pathophysiology of coronary artery disease. *Vessel Based Imaging Techniques*, 211–227. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-25249-6_11

Joseph, P., Leong, D., McKee, M., Anand, S. S., Schwalm, J.-D., Teo, K., Mente, A., & Yusuf, S. (2017). Reducing the global burden of cardiovascular disease, part 1. *Circulation Research*, *121*(6), 677–694. https://doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.117.308903

Joshi, S. R., Anjana, R. M., Deepa, M., Pradeepa, R., Bhansali, A., Dhandania, V. K., Joshi, P. P., Unnikrishnan, R., Nirmal, E., Subashini, R., Madhu, S. V., Rao, P. V., Das, A. K., Kaur, T., Shukla, D. K., & Mohan, V. (2014). Prevalence of dyslipidemia in urban and Rural India: The ICMR–INDIAB study. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0096808

Jovinge, S., Hamsten, A., Tornvall, P., Proudler, A., Båvenholm, P., Ericsson, C.-G., Godsland, I., de Faire, U., & Nilsson, J. (1998). Evidence for a role of tumor necrosis factor α in disturbances of triglyceride and glucose metabolism predisposing to coronary heart disease. *Metabolism*, 47(1), 113–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0026-0495(98)90203-7

Kang, P. T., Chen, C.-L., Lin, P., Zhang, L., Zweier, J. L., & Chen, Y.-R. (2018). Mitochondrial complex I in the post-ischemic heart: Reperfusion-mediated oxidative injury and protein cysteine sulfonation. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, *121*, 190–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2018.07.244

Kannel, W. B., & Feinleib, M. (1972). Natural history of angina pectoris in the framingham study. *The American Journal of Cardiology*, *29*(2), 154–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9149(72)90624-8

Kannel, W. B., Adrienne Cupples, L., Ramaswami, R., Stokes, J., Kreger, B. E., & Higgins, M. (1991). Regional obesity and risk of cardiovascular disease; the Framingham Study. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *44*(2), 183–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/0895-4356(91)90265-b

Kaptoge, S., Seshasai, S. R. K., Gao, P., Freitag, D. F., Butterworth, A. S., Borglykke, A., Di Angelantonio, E., Gudnason, V., Rumley, A., Lowe, G. D. O., Jorgensen, T., & Danesh, J. (2013). Inflammatory cytokines and risk of coronary heart disease: new prospective study and updated metaanalysis. *European Heart Journal*, *35*(9), 578–589. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/eht367

Karthikeyan, G., Xavier, D., Prabhakaran, D., & Pais, P. (2007). Perspectives on the management of coronary artery disease in India. *Heart*, *93*(11), 1334–1338. https://doi.org/10.1136/hrt.2007.131193

Kassiri, Z., Oudit, G. Y., Sanchez, O., Dawood, F., Mohammed, F. F., Nuttall, R. K., Edwards, D. R., Liu, P. P., Backx, P. H., & Khokha, R. (2005). Combination of tumor necrosis factor-α ablation and matrix metalloproteinase inhibition prevents heart failure after pressure overload in tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3 knock-out mice. *Circulation Research*, *97*(4), 380–390. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.res.0000178789.16929.cf

Khan, M. A., Hashim, M. J., Mustafa, H., Baniyas, M. Y., Al Suwaidi, S. K., AlKatheeri, R., Alblooshi, F. M., Almatrooshi, M. E., Alzaabi, M. E., Al Darmaki, R. S., & Lootah, S. N. (2020). Global epidemiology of ischemic heart disease: Results from the global burden of disease study. *Cureus*. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.9349

Khera, A. V., & Kathiresan, S. (2017). Genetics of coronary artery disease: Discovery, Biology and clinical translation. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, *18*(6), 331–344. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg.2016.160

Khera, R., Valero-Elizondo, J., & Nasir, K. (2020). Financial toxicity in atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease in the United States: Current State and future directions. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, *9*(19). https://doi.org/10.1161/jaha.120.017793

Kibel, A., Lukinac, A. M., Dambic, V., Juric, I., & Relatic, K. S. (2020). Oxidative Stress in Ischemic HeartDisease. OxidativeMedicineandCellularLongevity, 2020,1–30. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/6627144

Kim, J. J., Lee, S. B., Park, J. K., & Yoo, Y. D. (2010). TNF-α-induced ROS production triggering apoptosis is directly linked to Romo1 and Bcl-XL. *Cell Death & amp; Differentiation*, *17*(9), 1420–1434. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2010.19

Kim, S. J., Mesquita, F. C. P., & Hochman-Mendez, C. (2023). New biomarkers for Cardiovascular Disease. *Texas Heart Institute Journal*, *50*(5). https://doi.org/10.14503/thij-23-8178

Klaeboe, L. G., & Edvardsen, T. (2018). Echocardiographic assessment of left ventricular systolic function. *Journal of Echocardiography*, *17*(1), 10–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12574-018-0405-5

Kofler, S., Nickel, T., & Weis, M. (2005). Role of cytokines in cardiovascular diseases: A focus on endothelial responses to inflammation. *Clinical Science*, *108*(3), 205–213. https://doi.org/10.1042/cs20040174

Kossaify, A., & Nasr, M. (2019). Diastolic dysfunction and the new recommendations for echocardiographic assessment of left ventricular diastolic function: Summary of guidelines and novelties in diagnosis and grading. *Journal of Diagnostic Medical Sonography*, *35*(4), 317–325. https://doi.org/10.1177/8756479319836781

Kovacic, J. C., & Fuster, V. (2011). From treating complex coronary artery disease to promoting Cardiovascular Health: Therapeutic Transitions and Challenges, 2010–2020. *Clinical Pharmacology & Charge Therapeutics*, 90(4), 509–518. https://doi.org/10.1038/clpt.2011.173

Kowara, M., Cudnoch-Jedrzejewska, A., Opolski, G., & Wlodarski, P. (2017). Microrna regulation of extracellular matrix components in the process of atherosclerotic plaque destabilization. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology*, *44*(7), 711–718. https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1681.12772

Kubin, A.-M., Skoumal, R., Tavi, P., Kónyi, A., Perjés, Á., Leskinen, H., Ruskoaho, H., & Szokodi, I. (2011). Role of reactive oxygen species in the regulation of cardiac contractility. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, *50*(5), 884–893. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2011.02.005

Kumar, A., Thota, V., Dee, L., Olson, J., Uretz, E., & Parrillo, J. E. (1996). Tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin 1beta are responsible for in vitro myocardial cell depression induced by human septic shock serum. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *183*(3), 949–958. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.183.3.949

Kumari, R., Kumar, S., Ahmad, M. K., Singh, R., Pradhan, A., Chandra, S., & Kumar, S. (2018). TNF-α/IL-10 ratio: An independent predictor for coronary artery disease in North Indian population. *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews*, *12*(3), 221– 225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2017.09.006

Lakatta, E. G., & Levy, D. (2003). Arterial and cardiac aging: Major shareholders in CardiovascularDiseaseEnterprises.Circulation,107(2),346–354.https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.0000048893.62841.f7

Lang, R., Bierig, M., Devereux, R., Flachscampf, F., Foster, E., Pellikka, P., Picard, M., Roman, M., Seward, J., & Shanewise, J. (2006). Recommendations for chamber quantification☆. *European Journal of Echocardiography*, *7*(2), 79–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euje.2005.12.014

Leist, M., Raab, B., Maurer, S., Rösick, U., & Brigelius-Flohé, R. (1996). Conventional cell culture media do not adequately supply cells with antioxidants and thus facilitate peroxide-induced genotoxicity. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, *21*(3), 297–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/0891-5849(96)00045-7

Leng, S. X., McElhaney, J. E., Walston, J. D., Xie, D., Fedarko, N. S., & Kuchel, G. A. (2008). ELISA and multiplex technologies for cytokine measurement in inflammation and aging research. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, *63*(8), 879–884. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/63.8.879

Levine, B., Kalman, J., Mayer, L., Fillit, H. M., & Packer, M. (1990). Elevated circulating levels of tumor necrosis factor in severe chronic heart failure. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *323*(4), 236–241. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm199007263230405 Li, J., Franke, J., Pribe-Wolferts, R., Meder, B., Ehlermann, P., Mereles, D., Andre, F., Abdelrazek, M. A., Merten, C., Schweizer, P. A., Becker, R., Katus, H. A., & Thomas, D. (2014). Effects of β -blocker therapy on electrocardiographic and echocardiographic characteristics of left ventricular noncompaction. *Clinical Research in Cardiology*, 104(3), 241–249. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00392-014-0778-z

Li, Jincheng, Li, Y., Qin, D., von Harsdorf, R., & Li, P. (2010). Mitochondrial fission leads to SMAC/Diablo release quenched by Arc. *Apoptosis*, *15*(10), 1187–1196. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-010-0514-8

Li, X., Zhang, F., Zhou, H., Hu, Y., Guo, D., Fang, X., & Chen, Y. (2020). Interplay of TNF- α , soluble TNF receptors and oxidative stress in coronary chronic total occlusion of the oldest patients with coronary heart disease. *Cytokine*, *125*, 154836. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2019.154836

Li, G., Wu, W., Zhang, X., Huang, Y., Wen, Y., Li, X., & Gao, R. (2018). Serum levels of tumor necrosis factor alpha in patients with IgA nephropathy are closely associated with disease severity. *BMC Nephrology*, *19*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12882-018-1069-0

Libby, P. (2002). Inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Nature*, *420*(6917), 868–874. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01323

Liu, Q., Sargent, M. A., York, A. J., & Molkentin, J. D. (2009). ASK1 regulates cardiomyocyte death but not hypertrophy in transgenic mice. *Circulation Research*, *105*(11), 1110–1117. https://doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.109.200741

Liu, S., Wang, C., Guo, J., Yang, Y., Huang, M., Li, L., Wang, Y., Qin, Y., & Zhang, M. (2022). Serum cytokines predict the severity of Coronary Artery Disease without acute myocardial infarction. *Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine*, *9*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcvm.2022.896810

Llabre, M. M., Arguelles, W., Schneiderman, N., Gallo, L. C., Daviglus, M. L., Chambers, E. C., Sotres-Alvarez, D., Chirinos, D. A., Talavera, G. A., Castaneda, S. F., Roesch, S. C., & Heiss, G. (2015). Do all components of the metabolic syndrome cluster together in U.S. hispanics/latinos? results from the Hispanic Community Health Study/Study of Latinos. *Annals of Epidemiology*, *25*(7), 480–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2015.02.010

Lloyd-Jones, D. M., Nam, B.-H., D'Agostino, Sr, R. B., Levy, D., Murabito, J. M., Wang, T. J., Wilson, P. W., & O'Donnell, C. J. (2004). Parental cardiovascular disease as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease in middle-aged adults. *JAMA*, *291*(18), 2204. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.291.18.2204

Lompré, A.-M., Hajjar, R. J., Harding, S. E., Kranias, E. G., Lohse, M. J., & Marks, A. R. (2010). Ca 2+ cycling and new therapeutic approaches for heart failure. *Circulation*, *121*(6), 822–830. https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.109.890954

Lopaschuk, G. D., Ussher, J. R., Folmes, C. D., Jaswal, J. S., & Stanley, W. C. (2010). Myocardial fatty acid metabolism in health and disease. *Physiological Reviews*, *90*(1), 207–258. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00015.2009

Luengo-Fernandez, R., Walli-Attaei, M., Gray, A., Torbica, A., Maggioni, A. P., Huculeci, R., Bairami, F., Aboyans, V., Timmis, A. D., Vardas, P., & Leal, J. (2023). Economic burden of cardiovascular diseases in the European Union: A population-based cost study. *European Heart Journal*, *44*(45), 4752–4767. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehad583

Machii, R., & Saika, K. (2012). Mortality attributable to tobacco by region based on the WHO global report. *Japanese Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *42*(5), 464–465. https://doi.org/10.1093/jjco/hys063

Maeda, S., Chang, L., Li, Z.-W., Luo, J.-L., Leffert, H., & Karin, M. (2003). IKKβ is required for prevention of apoptosis mediated by cell-bound but not by circulating TNFA. *Immunity*, *19*(5), 725–737. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1074-7613(03)00301-7

Mak, T. W., & Yeh, W. C. (2002). Signaling for survival and apoptosis in the immune system. *Arthritis research*, *4 Suppl 3*(Suppl 3), S243–S252. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar569

Malach, M., & Imperato, P. J. (2006). Acute myocardial infarction and acute coronary syndrome: Then and now (1950–2005). *Preventive Cardiology*, *9*(4), 228–234. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1520-037x.2006.05230.x

Malakar, A. Kr., Choudhury, D., Halder, B., Paul, P., Uddin, A., & Chakraborty, S. (2019). A review on coronary artery disease, its risk factors, and therapeutics. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, *234*(10), 16812–16823. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.28350

Mann, D. L., McMurray, J. J. V., Packer, M., Swedberg, K., Borer, J. S., Colucci, W. S., Djian, J., Drexler, H., Feldman, A., Kober, L., Krum, H., Liu, P., Nieminen, M., Tavazzi, L., van Veldhuisen, D. J., Waldenstrom, A., Warren, M., Westheim, A., Zannad, F., & Fleming, T. (2004). Targeted anticytokine therapy in patients with chronic heart failure. *Circulation*, *109*(13), 1594–1602. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.0000124490.27666.b2

Marks, A. R. (2013). Calcium cycling proteins and heart failure: Mechanisms and therapeutics. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *123*(1), 46–52. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci62834

Marquand, A. F., Rezek, I., Buitelaar, J., & Beckmann, C. F. (2016). Understanding heterogeneity in clinical cohorts using normative models: beyond case-control studies. *Biological Psychiatry*, *80*(7), 552–561. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.12.023

Marx, N., Neumann, F.-J., Ott, I., Gawaz, M., Koch, W., Pinkau, T., & Schömig, A. (1997). Induction of cytokine expression in leukocytes in acute myocardial infarction. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *30*(1), 165–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0735-1097(97)00116-2

Mathew, T., Williams, L., Navaratnam, G., Rana, B., Wheeler, R., Collins, K., Harkness, A., Jones, R., Knight, D., O'Gallagher, K., Oxborough, D., Ring, L., Sandoval, J., Stout, M., Sharma, V., Steeds, R. P., & _, _. (2017). Diagnosis and assessment of dilated cardiomyopathy: a guideline protocol from the British Society of Echocardiography. *Echo Research and Practice*, *4*(2), G1—G13. https://doi.org/10.1530/erp-16-0037

McKeigue, P. M., Shah, B., & Marmot, M. G. (1991). Relation of central obesity and insulin resistance with high diabetes prevalence and cardiovascular risk in South Asians. *The Lancet*, *337*(8738), 382–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/0140-6736(91)91164-p

McMurray, J. J., Adamopoulos, S., Anker, S. D., Auricchio, A., Bohm, M., Dickstein, K., Falk, V., Filippatos, G., Fonseca, C., Gomez-Sanchez, M. A., Jaarsma, T., Kober, L., Lip, G. Y., Maggioni, A. P., Parkhomenko, A., Pieske, B. M., Popescu, B. A., Ronnevik, P. K., Rutten, F. H., ... Ponikowski, P. (2012). ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2012: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2012 of the European Society of Cardiology. developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. *European Heart Journal*, *33*(14), 1787–1847. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehs104

Medina-Leyte, D. J., Zepeda-García, O., Domínguez-Pérez, M., González-Garrido, A., Villarreal-Molina, T., & Jacobo-Albavera, L. (2021). Endothelial dysfunction, inflammation and coronary artery disease:

Potential biomarkers and promising therapeutical approaches. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(8), 3850. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22083850

Moulin, P., Wickham, L., Bruckert, E., Lecerf, J.-M., Krempf, M., Varret, M., Chambaz, J., Allard, D., Derré, A., Rabès, J.-P., Villéger, L., Junien, C., Erlich, D., Beucler, I., Cruaud, C., Benjannet, S., Farnier, M., Ouguerram, K., Devillers, M., ... Seidah, N. G. (2003). Mutations in PCSK9 cause autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. *Nature Genetics*, *34*(2), 154–156. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1161

Mendoza, A., Patel, P., Robichaux, D., Ramirez, D., & Karch, J. (2024). Inhibition of the MPTP and lipid peroxidation is additively protective against I/R Injury. *Circulation Research*, *134*(10), 1292–1305. https://doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.123.323882

Mills, K. T., Bundy, J. D., Kelly, T. N., Reed, J. E., Kearney, P. M., Reynolds, K., Chen, J., & He, J. (2016). Global disparities of hypertension prevalence and control. *Circulation*, *134*(6), 441–450. https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.115.018912

Monden, Y., Kubota, T., Ide, T., & Sunagawa, K. (2006). Tumor necrosis factor-α is toxic via receptor 1 and protective via receptor 2 in a murine model of myocardial infarction. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, *41*(6), 1056–1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2006.08.065

Morgan, M. J., & Liu, Z. (2010). Crosstalk of reactive oxygen species and NF-KB signaling. *Cell Research*, 21(1), 103–115. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2010.178

Moris, D., Spartalis, M., Spartalis, E., Karachaliou, G.-S., Karaolanis, G. I., Tsourouflis, G., Tsilimigras, D. I., Tzatzaki, E., & Theocharis, S. (2017). The role of reactive oxygen species in the pathophysiology of cardiovascular diseases and the clinical significance of myocardial redox. *Annals of Translational Medicine*, *5*(16), 326–326. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2017.06.27

Morris, T., Stables, M., Hobbs, A., de Souza, P., Colville-Nash, P., Warner, T., Newson, J., Bellingan, G., & Gilroy, D. W. (2009). Effects of low-dose aspirin on acute inflammatory responses in humans. *The Journal of Immunology*, *183*(3), 2089–2096. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0900477

Morrissey, C. (2016). Echo for diastology. *Annals of Cardiac Anaesthesia*, 19(5), 12. https://doi.org/10.4103/0971-9784.192585

Mottram, P. M., & Marwick, T. H.(2005). Assessment of diastolic function: what the general cardiologist needs to know. *Heart*, *91*(5), 681–695. https://doi.org/10.1136/hrt.2003.029413

Münzel, T., Camici, G. G., Maack, C., Bonetti, N. R., Fuster, V., & Kovacic, J. C. (2017). Impact of oxidative stress on the heart and Vasculature. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *70*(2), 212–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.05.035

Murabito, J. M. (2005). Sibling cardiovascular disease as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease in middle-aged adults. *JAMA*, 294(24), 3117. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.294.24.3117

Murray, D. R., & Freeman, G. L. (1996). Tumor Necrosis Factor- α induces a biphasic effect on myocardial contractility in conscious dogs. *Circulation Research*, 78(1), 154–160. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.res.78.1.154

Nagueh, S. F., Smiseth, O. A., Appleton, C. P., Byrd, B. F., Dokainish, H., Edvardsen, T., Flachskampf, F. A., Gillebert, T. C., Klein, A. L., Lancellotti, P., Marino, P., Oh, J. K., Popescu, B. A., & Waggoner, A. D. (2016). Recommendations for the evaluation of left ventricular diastolic function by echocardiography: An update from the American Society of Echocardiography and the European Association

of cardiovascular imaging. *Journal of the American Society of Echocardiography*, 29(4), 277–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.echo.2016.01.011

Nakayama, H., & Otsu, K. (2018). Mitochondrial DNA as an inflammatory mediator in cardiovascular diseases. *Biochemical Journal*, *475*(5), 839–852. https://doi.org/10.1042/bcj20170714

Natanson, C., Eichenholz, P. W., Danner, R. L., Eichacker, P. Q., Hoffman, W. D., Kuo, G. C., Banks, S. M., MacVittie, T. J., & Parrillo, J. E. (1989). Endotoxin and tumor necrosis factor challenges in dogs simulate the cardiovascular profile of human septic shock. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *169*(3), 823–832. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.169.3.823

Nathan, C. (2002). Points of control in inflammation. *Nature*, *420*(6917), 846–852. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01320

Nguyen, T. K., Paone, S., Chan, E., Poon, I. K., Baxter, A. A., Thomas, S. R., & Hulett, M. D. (2022). Heparanase: A novel therapeutic target for the treatment of Atherosclerosis. *Cells*, *11*(20), 3198. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11203198

NHS. (2022, January). *Life after a heart attack*. NHS choices. https://www.therotherhamft.nhs.uk/patients-and-visitors/patient-information/life-after-a-heart-attack#:~:text=There%20are%20many%20things%20you,attack%20than%20they%20did%20before.

NHS. (2022, November). *Echocardiogram - tests and treatments*. NHS inform. https://www.nhsinform.scot/tests-and-treatments/scans-and-x-rays/echocardiogram/#:~:text=It's a type of ultrasound, the scan is carried out.

Nian, M., Lee, P., Khaper, N., & Liu, P. (2004). Inflammatory cytokines and postmyocardial infarctionremodeling. *CirculationResearch*, 94(12),1553. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.res.0000130526.20854.fa

Nichols, M., Townsend, N., Scarborough, P., & Rayner, M. (2014). Cardiovascular disease in Europe 2014: Epidemiological update. *European Heart Journal*, *35*(42), 2950–2959. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehu299

Nohl, H., Gille, L., & Staniek, K. (2005). Intracellular generation of reactive oxygen species by mitochondria. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *69*(5), 719–723. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2004.12.002

Ohtani, T., Mohammed, S. F., Yamamoto, K., Dunlay, S. M., Weston, S. A., Sakata, Y., Rodeheffer, R. J., Roger, V. L., & Redfield, M. M. (2012). Diastolic stiffness as assessed by diastolic wall strain is associated with adverse remodelling and poor outcomes in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *European Heart Journal*, *33*(14), 1742–1749. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehs135

Ojji, D., Atherton, J., Sliwa, K., Alfa, J., Ngabea, M., & Opie, L. (2015). Left ventricular systolic dysfunction in asymptomatic black hypertensive subjects. *American Journal of Hypertension*, *28*(7), 924–929. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajh/hpu247

Oparka, M., Walczak, J., Malinska, D., van Oppen, L. M. P. E., Szczepanowska, J., Koopman, W. J. H., & Wieckowski, M. R. (2016). Quantifying ROS levels using Cm-H 2 DCFDA and hyper. *Methods*, *109*, 3–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2016.06.008

Oral, H., Dorn, G. W., & Mann, D. L. (1997). Sphingosine mediates the immediate negative inotropic effects of tumor necrosis factor- α in the adult mammalian cardiac myocyte. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(8), 4836–4842. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.8.4836

Otto, C. M. (2024). Textbook of clinical echocardiography. Elsevier.

Padfield, G. J., Din, J. N., Koushiappi, E., Mills, N. L., Robinson, S. D., Cruden, N. L., Lucking, A. J., Chia, S., Harding, S. A., & Newby, D. E. (2013). Cardiovascular effects of tumour necrosis factor α antagonism in patients with acute myocardial infarction: A first in human study. *Heart*, *99*(18), 1330–1335. https://doi.org/10.1136/heartjnl-2013-303648

Paffen, E., & Demaat, M. (2006). C-reactive protein in atherosclerosis: A causal factor? *Cardiovascular Research*, *71*(1), 30–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cardiores.2006.03.004

Pagani, F. D., Baker, L. S., Hsi, C., Knox, M., Fink, M. P., & Visner, M. S. (1992). Left ventricular systolic and diastolic dysfunction after infusion of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in conscious dogs. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *90*(2), 389–398. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci115873

Pfeffer, M. A., Vipler, B., Magee, C., Douglas, K., Muskiet, M. H. A., Tonneijck, L., Smits, M. M., McCormick, B. B., Hiremath, S., Ruzicka, M., Dai, H., Guang, X., Todd, O., Clegg, A., Pierard, L. A., Bangalore, S., Rimoldi, S. F., Messerli, F. H., Wright, J. T., ... Perkovic, V. (2016). A Randomized Trial of Intensive versus Standard Blood-Pressure Control. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *374*(23), 2290–2295. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc1602668

Soler, P. E., & Ruiz, C. V. (2010). Epidemiology and risk factors of cerebral ischemia and ischemic heart diseases: Similarities and differences. *Current Cardiology Reviews*, *6*(3), 138–149. https://doi.org/10.2174/157340310791658785

Panth, N., Paudel, K. R., & Parajuli, K. (2016). Reactive oxygen species: A key hallmark of cardiovascular disease. *Advances in Medicine*, *2016*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/9152732

Papa, S., Zazzeroni, F., Bubici, C., Jayawardena, S., Alvarez, K., Matsuda, S., Nguyen, D. U., Pham, C. G., Nelsbach, A. H., Melis, T., Smaele, E. D., Tang, W.-J., D'Adamio, L., & Franzoso, G. (2004). Gadd45β mediates the NF-KB suppression of JNK signalling by targeting MKK7/JNKK2. *Nature Cell Biology*, *6*(2), 146–153. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1093

Papageorgiou, N. (2016). Atherosclerosis and coronary artery disease: from basics to genetics. In *Cardiovascular Diseases*. Elsevier Science & Technology. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803312-8.00002-1

Pizzino, G., Irrera, N., Cucinotta, M., Pallio, G., Mannino, F., Arcoraci, V., Squadrito, F., Altavilla, D., & Bitto, A. (2017). Oxidative stress: Harms and benefits for human health. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, *2017*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/8416763

Popa, C., Netea, M. G., van Riel, P. L. C. M., van der Meer, J. W. M., & Stalenhoef, A. F. H. (2007). The role of TNF- α in chronic inflammatory conditions, intermediary metabolism, and cardiovascular risk. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 48(4), 751–762. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.r600021-jlr200

Prabhu, S. D. (2004). Cytokine-Induced Modulation of Cardiac Function. *Circulation Research*, 95(12), 1140–1153. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.res.0000150734.79804.92

Raggi, P., Genest, J., Giles, J. T., Rayner, K. J., Dwivedi, G., Beanlands, R. S., & Gupta, M. (2018). Role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and therapeutic interventions. *Atherosclerosis*, *276*, 98–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2018.07.014

Rahman, I., Gilmour, P. S., Jimenez, L. A., & MacNee, W. (2002). Oxidative stress and TNF-a induce histone acetylation and NF-κb/AP-1 activation in alveolar epithelial cells: Potential mechanism in gene

transcription in lung inflammation. *Oxygen/Nitrogen Radicals: Cell Injury and Disease*, 239–248. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-1087-1_28

Rahmati-Ahmadabad, S., Broom, D. R., Ghanbari-Niaki, A., & Shirvani, H. (2019). Effects of exercise on reverse cholesterol transport: A systemized narrative review of Animal Studies. *Life Sciences*, *224*, 139–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2019.03.058

Ralapanawa, U., & Sivakanesan, R. (2021). Epidemiology and the magnitude of coronary artery disease and acute coronary syndrome: A narrative review. *Journal of Epidemiology and Global Health*, *11*(2), 169. https://doi.org/10.2991/jegh.k.201217.001

Ramani, R., Mathier, M., Wang, P., Gibson, G., Tögel, S., Dawson, J., Bauer, A., Alber, S., Watkins, S. C., McTiernan, C. F., & Feldman, A. M. (2004). Inhibition of tumor necrosis factor receptor-1-mediated pathways has beneficial effects in a murine model of postischemic remodeling. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, *287*(3). https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00641.2003

Redfield, M. M., Jacobsen, S. J., Burnett, J. C., Mahoney, D. W., Bailey, K. R., & Rodeheffer, R. J. (2003). Burden of systolic and diastolic ventricular dysfunction in the community appreciating the scope of the heart failure epidemic. *ACC Current Journal Review*, *12*(3), 50–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1062-1458(03)00178-8

Reiners, J. J., Mathieu, P., Okafor, C., Putt, D. A., & Lash, L. H. (2000). Depletion of cellular glutathione by conditions used for the passaging of adherent cultured cells. *Toxicology Letters*, *115*(2), 153–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-4274(00)00189-2

Ridker, P. M., Rifai, N., Pfeffer, M., Sacks, F., Lepage, S., & Braunwald, E. (2000). Elevation of Tumor Necrosis Factor-α and increased risk of recurrent coronary events after myocardial infarction. *Circulation*, *101*(18), 2149–2153. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.101.18.2149

Rolski, F., & Błyszczuk, P. (2020). Complexity of TNF-α signaling in heart disease. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, *9*(10), 3267. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9103267

Rosenson, R. S., Brewer, H. B., Ansell, B. J., Barter, P., Chapman, M. J., Heinecke, J. W., Kontush, A., Tall, A. R., & Webb, N. R. (2015). Dysfunctional HDL and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, *13*(1), 48–60. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2015.124

Roth, G. A., Mensah, G. A., Johnson, C. O., Addolorato, G., Ammirati, E., Baddour, L. M., Barengo, N. C., Beaton, A. Z., Benjamin, E. J., Benziger, C. P., Bonny, A., Brauer, M., Brodmann, M., Cahill, T. J., Carapetis, J., Catapano, A. L., Chugh, S. S., Cooper, L. T., Coresh, J., ... Fuster, V. (2020). Global burden of cardiovascular diseases and risk factors, 1990-2019: Update from the GBD 2019 study. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *76*(25), 2982–3021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2020.11.010

Sack, M. (2000). Tumor necrosis factor in myocardial hypertrophy and ischaemia — an anti-apoptotic perspective. *Cardiovascular Research*, *45*(3), 688–695. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0008-6363(99)00228-x

Sack, M. (2002). Tumor necrosis factor- α in cardiovascular biology and the potential role for anti-tumor necrosis factor- α therapy in heart disease. *Pharmacology & amp; Therapeutics, 94*(1–2), 123–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0163-7258(02)00176-6

Saini, H. K., Xu, Y.-J., Zhang, M., Liu, P. P., Kirshenbaum, L. A., & Dhalla, N. S. (2005). Role of tumour necrosis factor-alpha and other cytokines in ischemia-reperfusion-induced injury in the heart. *Experimental and Clinical Cardiology*, *10*(4), 213–222.

Sakon, S. (2003). NF- B inhibits TNF-induced accumulation of ROS that mediate prolonged MAPK activation and necrotic cell death. *The EMBO Journal, 22*(15), 3898–3909. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/cdg379

Saraf, A., Rampoldi, A., Chao, M., Li, D., Armand, L., Hwang, H., Liu, R., Jha, R., Fu, H., Maxwell, J. T., & Xu, C. (2020). Functional and molecular effects of TNF-α on human ipsc-derived cardiomyocytes. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3707810

Sato, T., Suzuki, H., Shibata, M., Kusuyama, T., Omori, Y., Soda, T., Shoji, M., Iso, Y., Koba, S., Geshi, E., Katagiri, T., Shioda, S., & Sekikawa, K. (2006). Tumor-necrosis-factor-.alpha.-gene-deficient mice have improved cardiac function through reduction of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in myocardial infarction. *Circulation Journal*, *70*(12), 1635–1642. https://doi.org/10.1253/circj.70.1635

Senoner, T., & Dichtl, W. (2019). Oxidative stress in cardiovascular diseases: Still a therapeutic target? *Nutrients*, *11*(9), 2090. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11092090

Shao, T., Zhang, Y., Tang, R., Zhang, H., Wang, Q., Yang, Y., & Liu, T. (2018). Effects of milrinone on serum IL-6, tnf- α , CYS-C and cardiac functions of patients with chronic heart failure. *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2018.6672

Shih, N.-L., Cheng, T.-H., Loh, S.-H., Cheng, P.-Y., Wang, D. L., Chen, Y.-S., Liu, S.-H., Liew, C.-C., & Chen, J.-J. (2001). Reactive oxygen species modulate angiotensin II-induced β-myosin heavy chain gene expression via RAS/RAF/extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway in neonatal rat cardiomyocytes. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 283*(1), 143–148. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.2001.4744

Shiraki, A., Oyama, J., Komoda, H., Asaka, M., Komatsu, A., Sakuma, M., Kodama, K., Sakamoto, Y., Kotooka, N., Hirase, T., & Node, K. (2012). The glucagon-like peptide 1 analog liraglutide reduces TNF- α -induced oxidative stress and inflammation in endothelial cells. *Atherosclerosis*, 221(2), 375–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2011.12.039

Smit, M., Coetzee, A. R., & Lochner, A. (2020). The pathophysiology of myocardial ischemia and perioperative myocardial infarction. *Journal of Cardiothoracic and Vascular Anesthesia*, *34*(9), 2501–2512. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.jvca.2019.10.005

Soria, L. F., Ludwig, E. H., Clarke, H. R., Vega, G. L., Grundy, S. M., & McCarthy, B. J. (1989). Association between a specific apolipoprotein B mutation and familial defective apolipoprotein B-100. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *86*(2), 587–591. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.86.2.587

Stefanadis, C., Antoniou, C., Tsiachris, D., & Pietri, P. (2017). Coronary atherosclerotic vulnerable plaque: Current perspectives. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, *6*(3). https://doi.org/10.1161/jaha.117.005543

Su, X., Zhou, M., Li, Y., An, N., Yang, F., Zhang, G., Xu, L., Chen, H., Wu, H., & Xing, Y. (2022). Mitochondrial damage in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury and application of Natural Plant Products. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, 2022, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/8726564

Sucher, R., Gehwolf, P., Kaier, T., Hermann, M., Maglione, M., Oberhuber, R., Ratschiller, T., Kuznetsov, A. V., Bösch, F., Kozlov, A. V., Ashraf, M. I., Schneeberger, S., Brandacher, G., Öllinger, R., Margreiter, R., & Troppmair, J. (2009). Intracellular signaling pathways control mitochondrial events associated with the development of ischemia/ reperfusion-associated damage. *Transplant International*, *22*(9), 922–930. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-2277.2009.00883.x

Suematsu, N., Tsutsui, H., Wen, J., Kang, D., Ikeuchi, M., Ide, T., Hayashidani, S., Shiomi, T., Kubota, T., Hamasaki, N., & Takeshita, A. (2003). Oxidative stress mediates tumor necrosis factor- α -induced mitochondrial DNA damage and dysfunction in cardiac myocytes. *Circulation*, *107*(10), 1418–1423. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.0000055318.09997.1f

Sun, M., Chen, M., Dawood, F., Zurawska, U., Li, J. Y., Parker, T., Kassiri, Z., Kirshenbaum, L. A., Arnold, M., Khokha, R., & Liu, P. P. (2007). Tumor necrosis factor-α mediates cardiac remodeling and ventricular dysfunction after pressure overload state. *Circulation*, *115*(11), 1398–1407. https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.106.643585

Sun, M., Dawood, F., Wen, W.-H., Chen, M., Dixon, I., Kirshenbaum, L. A., & Liu, P. P. (2004). Excessive tumor necrosis factor activation after infarction contributes to susceptibility of myocardial rupture and left ventricular dysfunction. *Circulation*, *110*(20), 3221–3228. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.0000147233.10318.23

Sundqvist, M. G., Sahlén, A., Ding, Z. P., & Ugander, M. (2020). Diastolic function and its association with diabetes, hypertension and age in an outpatient population with normal stress echocardiography findings. *Cardiovascular Ultrasound*, *18*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12947-020-00228-9

Tabas, I., & Lichtman, A. H. (2017). Monocyte-macrophages and T cells in atherosclerosis. *Immunity*, 47(4), 621–634. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2017.09.008

Takami, T., & Shigematsu, M. (2003). Effects of calcium channel antagonists on left ventricular hypertrophy and diastolic function in patients with essential hypertension. *Clinical and Experimental Hypertension*, *25*(8), 525–535. https://doi.org/10.1081/ceh-120025336

Tampo, Y., Kotamraju, S., Chitambar, C. R., Kalivendi, S. V., Keszler, A., Joseph, J., & Kalyanaraman, B. (2003). Oxidative stress–induced iron signaling is responsible for peroxide-dependent oxidation of Dichlorodihydrofluorescein in endothelial cells. *Circulation Research*, *92*(1), 56–63. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.res.0000048195.15637.ac

Tang, F., Tang, G., Xiang, J., Dai, Q., Rosner, M. R., & Lin, A. (2002). The absence of NF-KB-mediated inhibition of c-jun N-terminal kinase activation contributes to tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 22(24), 8571–8579. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.22.24.8571-8579.2002

Tang, G., Minemoto, Y., Dibling, B., Purcell, N. H., Li, Z., Karin, M., & Lin, A. (2001). Inhibition of JNK activation through NF-KB target genes. *Nature*, *414*(6861), 313–317. https://doi.org/10.1038/35104568

Tian, M., Yuan, Y., Li, J., Gionfriddo, M. R., & Huang, R. (2015). Tumor necrosis factor-α and its role as a mediator in myocardial infarction: A brief review. *Chronic Diseases and Translational Medicine*, 1(1), 18–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cdtm.2015.02.002

Tobiume, K., Matsuzawa, A., Takahashi, T., Nishitoh, H., Morita, K., Takeda, K., Minowa, O., Miyazono, K., Noda, T., & Ichijo, H. (2001). ASK1 is required for sustained activations of JNK/p38 MAP kinases and apoptosis. *EMBO Reports*, *2*(3), 222–228. https://doi.org/10.1093/embo-reports/kve046

Torii, S., Jinnouchi, H., Sakamoto, A., Mori, H., Park, J., Amoa, F. C., Sawan, M., Sato, Y., Cornelissen, A., Kuntz, S. H., Kutyna, M., Paek, K. H., Fernandez, R., Braumann, R., Mont, E. K., Surve, D., Romero, M. E., Kolodgie, F. D., Virmani, R., & Finn, A. V. (2019). Vascular responses to coronary calcification following implantation of newer-generation drug-eluting stents in humans: Impact on healing. *European Heart Journal*, *41*(6), 786–796. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehz850

Torre-Amione, G., Kapadia, S., Lee, J., Bies, R. D., Lebovitz, R., & Mann, D. L. (1995). Expression and functional significance of tumor necrosis factor receptors in human myocardium. *Circulation*, *92*(6), 1487–1493. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.92.6.1487

Tschöpe, C., & Lam, C. S. P. (2012). Diastolic heart failure: What we still don't know. *Herz*, *37*(8), 875–879. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00059-012-3719-5

Tsutsui, H., Ide, T., & Kinugawa, S. (2006). Mitochondrial oxidative stress, DNA damage, and heart failure. *Antioxidants & amp; Redox Signaling, 8*(9–10), 1737–1744. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2006.8.1737

Ueland, T., Gullestad, L., Nymo, S. H., Yndestad, A., Aukrust, P., & Askevold, E. T. (2015). Inflammatory cytokines as biomarkers in heart failure. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, *443*, 71–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2014.09.001

ul Haq, I., Saeed, M., Hamza, M., Ali, A. S., & Nadir, M. (2017). Left atrial to left ventricular end diastolic diameter ratio in left ventricular diastolic dysfunction. *Pakistan Journal of Physiology*, *13*(1), 15-18.

Vallabhapurapu, S., & Karin, M. (2009). Regulation and function of NF-KB transcription factors in the immune system. *Annual Review of Immunology, 27*(1), 693–733. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132641

van Berlo, J. H., Maillet, M., & Molkentin, J. D. (2013). Signaling effectors underlying pathologic growth and remodeling of the heart. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *123*(1), 37–45. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci62839

Van Linthout, S., & Tschöpe, C. (2017). Inflammation – cause or consequence of heart failure or both? *Current Heart Failure Reports*, 14(4), 251–265. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11897-017-0337-9

Vedanthan, R., Seligman, B., & Fuster, V. (2014). Global perspective on acute coronary syndrome. *Circulation Research*, *114*(12), 1959–1975. https://doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.114.302782

Wajant, H., & Siegmund, D. (2019). TNFR1 and TNFR2 in the control of the life and death balance of
macrophages.Frontiers inCellandDevelopmentalBiology,7.https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2019.00091

Walley, K. R., Hebert, P. C., Wakai, Y., Wilcox, P. G., Road, J. D., & Cooper, D. J. (1994). Decrease in left ventricular contractility after tumor necrosis factor-alpha infusion in dogs. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *76*(3), 1060–1067. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1994.76.3.1060

Wang, R., Wang, M., He, S., Sun, G., & Sun, X. (2020). Targeting calcium homeostasis in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury: An overview of regulatory mechanisms and therapeutic reagents. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *11*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2020.00872

Wang, X., Guo, Z., Ding, Z., & Mehta, J. L. (2018). Inflammation, autophagy, and apoptosis after myocardial infarction. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 7(9). https://doi.org/10.1161/jaha.117.008024

Wesseling, M., Sakkers, T. R., de Jager, S. C. A., Pasterkamp, G., & Goumans, M. J. (2018). The morphological and molecular mechanisms of epithelial/endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition and its involvement in atherosclerosis. *Vascular Pharmacology*, *106*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vph.2018.02.006

WHO. (2021). *Cardiovascular diseases (cvds)*. World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds)

Wilson, P. W., D'Agostino, R. B., Sullivan, L., Parise, H., & Kannel, W. B. (2002). Overweight and obesity as determinants of cardiovascular risk. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *162*(16), 1867. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.162.16.1867

Xing, J., Liu, Y., & Chen, T. (2017). Correlations of chemokine CXCL16 and TNF-α with coronary atherosclerotic heart disease. *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2017.5450

Yajnik, C. S. (2009). The insulin resistance epidemic in India: Fetal origins, later lifestyle, or both? *Nutrition Reviews*, *59*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.2001.tb01898.x

Yamaguchi, M., Okamura, S., Yamaji, T., Iwasaki, M., Tsugane, S., Shetty, V., & Koizumi, T. (2019). Plasma cytokine levels and the presence of colorectal cancer. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(3), Article e0213602. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0213602

Yokota, T., Nomura, K., Nagashima, M., & Kamimura, N. (2016). Fucoidan alleviates high-fat dietinduced dyslipidemia and atherosclerosis in APOESHL mice deficient in apolipoprotein E expression. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, *32*, 46–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2016.01.011

Yokoyama, T., Vaca, L., Rossen, R. D., Durante, W., Hazarika, P., & Mann, D. L. (1993). Cellular basis for the negative inotropic effects of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in the adult mammalian heart. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *92*(5), 2303–2312. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci116834

Yoshizumi, M., Perrella, M. A., Burnett, J. C., & Lee, M. E. (1993). Tumor necrosis factor downregulates an endothelial nitric oxide synthase mrna by shortening its half-life. *Circulation Research*, *73*(1), 205–209. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.res.73.1.205

Yusuf, S., Hawken, S., & Ounpuu, S. (2004). Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the Interheart Study): Case-control study. *ACC Current Journal Review*, *13*(12), 15–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.accreview.2004.11.072

Zakynthinos, E., & Pappa, N. (2009). Inflammatory biomarkers in coronary artery disease. *Journal of Cardiology*, *53*(3), 317–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jjcc.2008.12.007

Zhang, C. (2008). The role of inflammatory cytokines in endothelial dysfunction. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, *103*(5), 398–406. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00395-008-0733-0

Zhang, H., Park, Y., Wu, J., Chen, X. ping, Lee, S., Yang, J., Dellsperger, K. C., & Zhang, C. (2009). Role of TNF-α in vascular dysfunction. *Clinical Science*, *116*(3), 219–230. https://doi.org/10.1042/cs20080196